
NOTICE OF THE DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

BOARD MEETING  

PURSUANT TO MINN. STAT. § 13D.02 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN Duluth Airport Authority will hold its regular meeting on 

Tuesday June 20th, 2023 at 8:00 a.m. in Hangar 1 at the Sky Harbor Airport, 5000 

Minnesota Avenue, Duluth, MN 55802. 

Members of the public may monitor the meeting by clicking below to access the meeting by 
Microsoft Teams: “Microsoft Teams Meeting” (information below). 

Join on your computer, mobile app or room device 

Click here to join the meeting 

Meeting ID: 269 793 742 915  

Passcode: sMJXJa 

Download Teams | Join on the web 

The public may express their comments for consideration by the Duluth Airport Authority prior 
to the meeting by email or in writing to daa@duluthairport.com or to Duluth Airport Authority, 
4701 Grinden Drive, Duluth, MN 55811. 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTQyOWE1YzMtZjE2Mi00OWQxLTljNDctYWI3Njk1NGNjNWNl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%222dad78c2-f188-421c-8e58-3d1c8a779eb1%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22f14d7c68-fc94-44dc-ac1e-e9a6a1bbbd14%22%7d
https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/microsoft-teams/download-app
https://www.microsoft.com/microsoft-teams/join-a-meeting
mailto:daa@duluthairport.com


 

 
 

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
MEETING AGENDA 

JUNE 20, 2023 
 

HANGAR 1 
SKY HARBOR AIRPORT 

 
I. *EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REVIEW 

Information Letter to DAA Directors.  

II. *APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MEETING MINUTES & OTHER CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 

A. Approval of May 16, 2023, Meeting Minutes. 

III. *DAA CASH DISBURSEMENTS 

A. Operating Check Register Sheets #11 - #15 of 2023; Operating ACH Payment Registers 
#12 - #14 of 2023; Construction ACH Register #3 of 2023. 

IV. *CORRESPONDENCE 

A. E-Mail from Monaco Air Foundation with Summary of May 2023 Activities; June 1, 2023. 

B. Link for Metropolitan Airports Commission (MAC) Minutes -- 
https://metroairports.org/archived-commission-meetings  

C. Duluth News Tribune Article Dated May 16, 2023: FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport 
tower. 

D. Duluthian Article Published May/June 2023: High-Flying Thrills 

E. DLH Construction Newsletter:  
a. Dated May 19, 2023 
b. Dated: May 26, 2023 
c. Dated: June 2, 2023 
d. Dated June 9, 2023 

F. Tenant and Airfield User Notice of Ranch Hangar Project, Dated June 12, 2023 

G. ATCT Funding Update to Area Legislators From Tom Werner 
a. Email Dated June 1, 2023 to Representative Alicia Koslowski 
b. Email Dated June 1, 2023 to Senator Jennifer McEwen 
c. Email Dated June 1, 2023 to Representative Liz Olson 
d. Email Dated June 1, 2023 to Senator Grant Hauschild 
e. Email Dated June 1, 2023 to Representative Natalie Zeleznikar 

H. DLH Notification of Aviation Related Impacts to the Construction of the Proposed New Air 
Traffic Control Tower at Site 6, Dated June 1, 2023 

I. FAA Airport Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) Site 6 Concurrence Letter Signed June 2, 2023 

J. Email from Steve Bulwicz RE: Sky Harbor New Terminal, Dated June 10, 2023 

K. Letter to Chairman Sam Graves and Ranking Member Rick Larsen Re: Support Raise 
the Pilot Age, Dated June 12, 2023 

a. RAA Myths & Facts 
b. RAA Pilot Supply and air Service Loss 

https://metroairports.org/archived-commission-meetings


 

 
 

V. OPPORTUNITY FOR PERSONS TO BE HEARD 

VI. OLD BUSINESS 
 

None 

VII. NEW BUSINESS   

A. Resolution of Support of the Air Traffic Control Tower Replacement Project. 

B. Resolution to Accept and Approve Duluth International Airport MnDOT Maintenance and 
Operations Grant Contract 1053348 and to Authorize the Duluth Airport Authority’s 
President and Secretary to Execute the Contract and Any Amendments. 

C. Resolution to Accept and Approve Sky Harbor Airport MnDOT Maintenance and 
Operations Grant Contract 1053349 and to Authorize the Duluth Airport Authority’s 
President and Secretary to Execute the Contract and Any Amendments. 

D. Resolution to Approve Incentive Award Payments of $1000 Each, for Outstanding 
Performance Per DAA Operating Policy #5 to the Following Employees: Mr. Ryan Welch, 
Mr. John Graves, Mr. Paul Sinnott, Mr. Dan Taylor, Mr. Wade Cossalter, Mr. Matt 
Johnson, Mr. Roger Engelmeier, Mr. Derek Anderson, Mr. Tristan Durfee, Mr. Justin 
Tibodeau, Mr. John Orrey, and Mr. Mike Fellerson.  

E. Resolution to approve Master Service Agreement between EXP and the Duluth Airport 
Authority. 

F. Resolution to Approve Sponsorship Agreement Between the Duluth Airport Authority and 
AMSOIL INC. 

G. Resolution to Approve Sponsorship Agreement Between the Duluth Airport Authority and 
Duluth Pack. 

H. Resolution to Approve an Estoppel Agreement Between the Duluth Airport Authority and 
Cirrus Aircraft. 

I. Resolution to Approve Non-Disturbance, Recognition and Attornment Agreement 
Between the Duluth Airport Authority and Cirrus Aircraft.  

J. Resolution to Approve the Professional Services Master Services Agreement and Task 
Order 1 Between the Duluth Airport Authority and Decomm Aviation Consulting.  

K. Resolution to Approve the Selection of Duluth Airport Authority Officers. 

L. *April 2023 Financial Reports 

M. *June 2023 Accounts Receivable 

N. *May 2023 Airline Statistics, Landline Statistics 

VIII. DIRECTOR’S REPORTS  
 
Items annotated by an (*) are approved by consent and require no discussion or action 
unless questioned by a Director (In accordance with resolution passed by Directors on 
March 19, 2002). 



DATE: June 20, 2023 
TO: Duluth Airport Authority Board of Directors 
FROM: Executive Director 
SUBJECT: Executive Director’s Review 

The following items will be discussed during the Executive Director’s Review. If action is 
required of the DAA on any of these items, they will also appear on the agenda. If you have 
questions or desire additional information, please contact me and I will provide it at the DAA 
meeting. 

AIR SERVICE 

• Passenger statistics will be presented at the meeting.

• JumpStart Airline Meetings Recep

OPERATIONS/CONSTRUCTION/PLANNING 

• Planning:

o ATCT Architecture and Engineering RFQ Update

o AFTIL Site #6 Impacts to Approaches to Runway 3

• Construction:

o Taxiway A Phase 2 + 4 Update

• Operations and Maintenance:

• Sky Harbor:

o Airport Terminal Program – Sky Harbor Airport Terminal Update

o Airport Snow Removal Equipment (SRE) Building Update

BUSINESS/PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 

• FAA Funding Eligibility

• MN Power Project Progress Update

• City of Duluth Zoning Update

• New Car Rental Agreement Update

FINANCIAL UPDATE 

• DAA FY 2022 Audit Update

• Vacant Position Update

• MMB Bonding Request

• Operating Policy Update

MARKETING/COMMUNICATIONS 

• Sky Harbor Naming Proposal

• UMD Contract Update

• RFQ Timing Update

I.



 

 
 

 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 
 

• Air Traffic Control Tower Legislative Funding Request 

• Duluth Area Chamber of Commerce Joins Rally for Air Service 

 
 
PRESENTATIONS/TOURS/TRAVEL RECAP 
 

• Metropolitan Interstate Commission (MIC) Airport Update 

• MIC Technical Advisory Committee Airport Update 

• MIC Harbor Technical Advisory Committee Sky Harbor Update 

 
OTHER 
 

• NSR 

 
Submitted by, 
 
Tom Werner, C.M. 
Executive Director 

 
 



DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
MEETING MINUTES 

MAY 16, 2023 

MEETING LOCATION:      AMATUZIO CONFERENCE ROOM 
DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

DIRECTORS PRESENT: Kim Maki  

Jeff Anderson – Participating via Electronic Means 

Kevin O’Brien 

Jason Crawford 

Michael Henderson 

Dan Markham 

Elissa Hansen 

OTHERS PRESENT: Tom Werner, DAA Executive Director 
Mark Papko, DAA Dir. of Operations 
Jana Kayser, DAA Dir. of Business Development 
Joelle Bodin, DAA Dir. of Finance and Admin 
Shawn McMahon, SEH 
Mike Magni, Monaco Air Duluth 
Eric Monson, LSH 

OTHERS PARTICIPATING VIA ELECTRONIC MEANS:  

Don Monaco, Monaco Air Duluth 
Scott Sannes, SEH 
Ryan Falch, SEH 
Allison Andrashko, SEH 
Kathy Leon, DAA 
Heather Fisher, Cirrus 
Matthew Stewart, SEH 
Paul Huston, HNTB 

CALL TO ORDER: Dir. Maki called the DAA board meeting to order at 8:00 a.m. Roll call was performed: 

• Present: Dir. Crawford, Dir. O’Brien, Dir. Henderson, Dir. Hansen, Dir. Anderson, Dir. Markham – via
electronic means

• Absent: None

Dir. Maki invited Mr. Tom Werner to provide the Executive Director’s Review: 

I. *EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REVIEW

• Air Service: Mr. Werner provided an update on current air service. Notice from Sun Country came last week

stating that the Phoenix route will not continue next year, but the Fort Myers route is planned to continue as

direct-nonstop.

• Operations/Construction/Planning: Mr. Papko provided the following updates:

o ATCT Architecture and Engineering RFQ Update: Interviews were completed for three firms. The

top scoring firm was selected to begin contract negotiations. Each of the three firms were qualified.

The contract for this project will come to the board in June.

o Taxiway A Phase 2 + 4 Update: Phase 4 is concentrated on currently. Snow needed to be removed

to complete this construction. Construction started on May 15th.

II - A.



  

 
 

o CBP FIS Construction Update: Three costs to be updated with the board. This was approved with 

the planning in 2022. CBP One-time Equipment of $90,381.97, CBP Annual Reoccurring Costs - 

$14,830.22, 30% Construction Upgrade Costs - $558,000.00. 

o Sky Harbor Airport Terminal Design: The final rendering was shared with the floor plan and eligibility 

of space within the terminal. Stakeholder outreach was shared as well. Construction is planned for 

August 15th with construction completed by July of 2024. 

• Business/Property Development: Ms. Kayser provided an update on the following: 

o Airline Consultant RFQ: One proposal was received, and a contract will be prepared for approval in 

June. 

o Letter of Intent Updates: A redline version of the LOI was sent to Lifelink for review. This is the same 

document that will be used for the Cirrus project.  

• Financial Update: Ms. Bodin provided an update on the following topics: 

o 2022 Financial Audit: The final GASB 87 work will be completed this week so the audit can be 

completed by the end of the month.  

o Vacant Positions: There are currently four open positions with the DAA. Each of these positions 

have been posted on Indeed, North Force and on the DAA website.  

o Operating Policies: One provision of the legacy purchase policy allowed the Executive Director to 

enter in to license and lease agreements of three months or less. There are three other policies 

addressing agreement or contract items. DAA staff will work to incorporate all of the contract and 

lease items into one operating policy for board approval in June. 

o The first quarter financial presentation was shared along with a slide showing the current 

outstanding grant receivable balance. 

• Marketing/Communications: Mr. Werner provided an update on the following topics: 

o Duluth Pack will continue to advertise in the baggage claim. 

o Twin Ports Dermatology will issue a one-year extension to their contract. 

o The Marketing RFQ Deadline is May 25, 2023. Natalie will be working through the evaluation 

process and the summer season campaign. 

• Legislative: Mr. Werner provided an update on the following topics: 

o Air Traffic Control Tower Legislative Funding Request: It appears as though the $14 million bonding 

request will not be a part of the smaller all-cash bill this session. Staff are preparing to submit a 

bonding request for 2024. Mr. Werner met with the legislative team to work through the strategy to 

secure funding. Staff are working to submit the federal grant application for this project in early fall. 

o State Bill Banning PFAS in Class B Firefighting Foam: At a point of steady state waiting for the 

environmental omnibus bill to reach passage. 

• Presentations/Tours/Travel Recap: Mr. Werner Provided an update on the following topics: 

o MCOA Conference: Staff attended and accepted the 2022 Outstanding Leadership in Airport 

Planning, Environment and Strategic Initiative Award. Mr. Werner thanked SEH and L&B for their 

foundational work on the master planning project. Story boards were shared in the back of the room 

for this project. 

o Mr. Werner presented to Leadership Duluth and will be presenting to MIC/TAC and MIC. 

o Mr. Werner provided a reminder that the June Board Meeting will be down at Sky Harbor and the 

Operational Department Audit will be begin after a contract is signed with a consultant later this 

week.  

 

II. *APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MEETING MINUTES & OTHER CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS AS INDICATED BY *. 

A. Approval of April 21, 2023, Meeting Minutes. 



  

 
 

• Dir. Maki thanked everyone for their reviews moved to item II of the agenda.  
o Motion: Dir. O‘Brien 
o Second: Dir. Henderson 
o Abstain: None 
o Result: Votes were taken by roll call. This resolution was adopted unanimously. 

III. *DAA CASH DISBURSEMENTS 
A. Operating Check Register Sheets #9 and #10 of 2023; Operating ACH Payment Registers #9, #10 

and #11 of 2023; Construction ACH Register #2 of 2023. 

IV. *CORRESPONDENCE 
A. E-Mail from Monaco Air Foundation with Summary of April 2023 Activities; May 1, 2023. 

B. Link for Metropolitan Airports Commission (MAC) Minutes -- https://metroairports.org/archived-

commission-meetings  

C. MnDOT Letter from Robert Golish Dated 1/9/23 Announcing a Merit Award for Taxiway Alpha Project. 

D. AAAE Article Dated April 19, 2023: Lawmakers Examine Workforce Challenges 

E. PoliticoPro Article Dated April 25, 2023: Mayday in rural America: What happens when airlines leave a 

city. 

F. DLH Construction Newsletter: Dated May 5, 2023 

G. APEX Letter to Governor Walz Dated May 5, 2023 

a. Environmental Justice Areas 

b. Duluth Environmental Just Areas of Concern that may require Cumulative Impact Analyses 

c. Duluth Air Permits Active 

V. OPPORTUNITY FOR PERSONS TO BE HEARD 

• None 

VI. OLD BUSINESS 

• None 

VII. NEW BUSINESS   
A. Resolution to Approve Work Order 2023 – 06 between the Duluth Airport Authority and Short Elliot 

Hendrickson, Inc. for the Construction Administration of the Taxiway C North at Duluth International 
Airport. 

• Mr. Papko shared a slide of the project sharing that this for the construction administration and is 
funded by a 70/30 state grant. 

• Dir. Maki entertained questions or a motion.  
o Motion: Dir. Hansen 
o Second: Dir. Markham 
o Abstain: Dir. Anderson 
o Result: Votes were taken by roll call. All voting members said aye. This resolution was adopted. 

B. Resolution to Approve Work Order 2023 – 07 between the Duluth Airport Authority and Short Elliot 
Hendrickson, Inc. for Deice Tank and Pad Design and Construction Administration at Duluth 
International Airport (DLH). 

• Mr. Papko shared a slide for this project including design and construction administration for a deice 
pad. This a concrete pad and a tank for deice fluid and is funded at a 90/10 rate. 

• Dir. Maki entertained questions or a motion. Effectiveness of the deicing fluid was discussed. 
o Motion: Dir. Henderson 
o Second: Dir. Crawford 
o Abstain: Dir. Anderson 
o Result: Votes were taken by roll call. All voting members said aye. This resolution was adopted. 

https://metroairports.org/archived-commission-meetings
https://metroairports.org/archived-commission-meetings


C. Resolution to Award Taxiway C North Mill and Overlay Construction Contract in the Amount of
$296,780 to KGM Contractors Inc.

• Mr. Papko shared a slide for Taxiway C North Mill and Overlay to KGM. This is a short-term solution
until 321 can be fully reconstructed in 5 or 10 years. The bid came under the engineer’s estimate.
The selected contractor is already on site, so they were able to provide competitive pricing.

• Dir. Maki entertained questions or a motion.
o Motion: Dir. Crawford
o Second: Dir. Markham
o Abstain: None
o Result: Votes were taken by roll call. This resolution was adopted unanimously.

D. Resolution to Approve and Adopt Revised Operating Policy #18: Purchasing Policy.

• Ms. Bodin shared the highlights of the policy changes and recommended approval.

• Dir. Maki entertained questions or a motion.
o Motion: Dir. Henderson
o Second: Dir. Anderson
o Abstain: None
o Result: Votes were taken by roll call. This resolution was adopted unanimously.

E. *March 2023 Financial Reports
F. *May 2023 Accounts Receivable
G. *April 2023 Airline Statistics, Landline Statistics

VIII. DIRECTOR’S REPORTS

• Dir. Anderson asked how the open positions are affecting operations and whether changes have been
made to how the DAA recruits for people or whether staff sees the positions being filled. Discussion
followed regarding where the positions are posted and about the upcoming operations department audit
and staff workload.

• Dir. Anderson asked whether staff has analyzed the impact of policies like the new paid family leave
policy. Discussion followed. DAA staff is looking at the organization to add staff in order to support a
continuity of operations when staff is out for an extended period of time and provide redundancy.

• Dir. Henderson asked if the individual who was offered a position with the DAA and turned it down
provided feedback on whether it was pay, or benefits related. Discussion followed.

ADJOURN: Dir. Maki entertained a motion to adjourn. 
o Motion: Dir. O’Brien
o Second: Dir. Hansen
o Abstain: None
o Result: Votes were taken by roll call. This resolution was adopted unanimously.
o The meeting was adjourned at 8:52 a.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

Joelle Bodin 
Director of Finance & Administration 

APPROVED: _______________________________ DATE: ________________ 



III - A.























1

Joelle Bodin

From: Don Monaco <donm@monacoairduluth.com>
Sent: Thursday, June 1, 2023 7:56 AM
To: Tom Werner; makik
Cc: Bill King (skykingpilot@gmail.com); Dave Gaddie (dgaddie@bell.bank); ehansen; Greg Fox 

(gregandsheilafox@hotmail.com); Michael A. Magni; Pat Mullen (runtrailfree@gmail.com); Richard 
Stewart (RStewart@uwsuper.edu); 'Steve Overom (soverom@overomlaw.com)'; DAA

Subject: May, 2023 Monaco Air Foundation Report

Tom and Kim, 

Please share this report with the Duluth Airport Authority Board at its next regularly scheduled meeting. 

Summary of May 2023 Activities 

Airport Tour Program:  The Foundation solicits and coordinates Duluth International Airport tours for groups of high 
school students and other groups.   

Other Initiatives:  The Foundation welcomes requests from the Duluth Airport Authority Board for initiatives the Board 
would like the Foundation to consider. 

Please let me know if you have any questions about this month’s report. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Don Monaco  
President  
Monaco Air Foundation, Inc.  
4535 Airport Approach Road  
Duluth, MN  55811  
Phone:  218-727-2911  
Mobile:  630-728-5571  
Fax:  218-336-0001  
donm@monacoairduluth.com  
www.monacoairduluth.com 

IV - A



5/16/23, 10:36 AM FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower - Duluth News Tribune | News, weather, and sports from Duluth, Minnesota

https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/faa-eyes-locations-for-duluth-airport-tower 1/8

The Duluth International Airport gleams at dusk. Clint Austin / 2019 file / Duluth News
Tribune

By Brielle Bredsten
Today at 6:00 AM

  Share   News reporting

DULUTH —When the active duty Duluth Air Force Base downsized
and eventually closed March 31, 1982, many of its old facilities
were transitioned to the city and the Duluth Airport Authority.

Over time, the authority made use of the buildings, but didn't
invest much into them, said Tom Werner, the executive director of
the Duluth International Airport.

Tom Werner, the executive director of the Duluth International Airport. Adelie Bergstrom /
2019 file / Duluth News Tribune

Some of those facilities are now more than 50 years old. While the
buildings are no longer worth maintaining, the sites are "prime for

BUSINESS

FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower
Hermantown Hydraulics and Hydrosolutions of Duluth occupy the potential sites owned
by the Duluth Airport Authority.

IV - C

https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/brielle-bredsten
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/brielle-bredsten
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business


5/16/23, 10:36 AM FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower - Duluth News Tribune | News, weather, and sports from Duluth, Minnesota

https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/faa-eyes-locations-for-duluth-airport-tower 2/8

redevelopment," according to Werner.

Additionally, Duluth International Airport's air traffic control
tower is over 70 years old, making it the third-oldest in the country,
according to the Federal Aviation Administration.

"That's not a distinction that we want to have," Werner said. "The
tower is important to safety and commerce. With weather
conditions being what they are in the Northland, having somebody
in an air traffic control tower watching out for every pilot as they
come and go is extremely advantageous."

Gary Meader / Duluth News Tribune

With 67,000 annual operations, Duluth International Airport
generates $760.6 million in economic impact every year and
sustains over 6,200 direct, indirect and induced jobs.

"It's extremely important to the region's economy," Werner said.

Of the 133 airports in the state (excluding Minneapolis−St. Paul
International Airport and its six reliever airports in the metro),
Duluth International Airport makes up 76% of the out-state
economic activity generated, Werner said.

Over the past seven years, the authority has spent over $500,000
on the condemned tower, according to Director of Communication
and Marketing Natalie Baker.

"It's beyond its useful life," Baker said. "The time for improvements
is done. It needs replacing."

A two-year, $1.5 million study called Vision
2040(https://duluthairport.com/master-plan/) was conducted in
2019 to determine the next 20 years of development, maintenance
and capital investment for the entire 3,300-acre airport campus.

Prior, a public involvement plan(https://duluthairport.com/wp-
content/uploads/2021/12/DLH-Master-Plan-Public-Involvement-
Plan-PIP-August-2020.pdf) was developed to guide the approach
to stakeholder and community engagement during the creation of
the airport master plan.

The public and stakeholders were invited to partake in each
stakeholder and technical advisory committee meeting, Werner

https://duluthairport.com/master-plan/
https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/DLH-Master-Plan-Public-Involvement-Plan-PIP-August-2020.pdf


5/16/23, 10:36 AM FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower - Duluth News Tribune | News, weather, and sports from Duluth, Minnesota

https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/faa-eyes-locations-for-duluth-airport-tower 3/8

said, and regular updates are given at Duluth Airport Authority
Board meetings held on the third Tuesday each month.

"The Technical Advisory Committee meeting that was focused on
the tower helped inform the information that was sent to the FAA
to determine the tower location," Werner said.

Of the seven locations that were evaluated, the FAA determined
there are two sites on the airfield that are possible for a new air
traffic control tower.

"There is a long and arduous list of criteria that go into that,"
Werner said.

Hermantown Hydraulics and Hydrosolutions of Duluth occupy
these potential sites. Both private businesses are leasing from the
Duluth Airport Authority. Each 3-acre site is situated midfield on
the 2-mile-long runway.

Hydrosolutions of Duluth, located at 4845 Lackland St. Brielle Bredsten / Duluth News
Tribune

Hydrosolutions,(https://hydrosolutionsofduluth.com/) 4845
Lackland St., employs 21 people. Founded in 2002, it specializes in
water-jet cutting, metal forming, machining and assembling
products for the aerospace, medical and architectural industries.

ALSO READ

(h // d l h ib / /l l

(https://www.duluthn
/ h i i i

https://hydrosolutionsofduluth.com/
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/local/public-invited-to-open-house-for-new-cloquet-carlton-county-airport-hangar
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/local/should-proceeds-of-cirrus-property-sale-go-to-fund-local-broadband-network-in-duluth
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/local/charges-virginia-man-threatened-to-blow-up-duluth-airport


5/16/23, 10:36 AM FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower - Duluth News Tribune | News, weather, and sports from Duluth, Minnesota

https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/faa-eyes-locations-for-duluth-airport-tower 4/8

The authority has encouraged the potentially affected tenants to
explore relocation options and ensure a succession plan is in place,
Werner said.

The Duluth Economic Development Authority has reached out to
both businesses, according to Chris Fleege, the city's director of
planning and economic development.

Discussions have taken place with Hydrosolutions about potential
relocation options in the Airpark and the Atlas industrial site, but
Fleege said the company expressed a strong interest in remaining
on the airport property, if possible.

“This is a true hardship. Being required to move is extremely
difficult in this time of escalated land and building costs,"
Hydrosolutions President Dan Larson said, declining to comment
further.

Hydrosolutions is working on a plant layout in the search for a
building that would accommodate the business and allow for
growth, according to Enterprise
Minnesota's(https://www.enterpriseminnesota.org/) business
growth adviser, Jim Schottmuller.

Over the last year, Area Partnership for Economic Expansion staff
worked with Hydrosolutions to identify existing industrial real
estate across the Twin Ports, APEX President and CEO Rachel
Johnson said.

Rachel Johnson. Contributed / APEX

The economic and business development organization coordinated
tours and compiled facility prospects sourced from public and
private real estate leaders, including the cities of Duluth and
Superior, Development Association, Northland Connection, Duluth
Seaway Port Authority and Greg Follmer Commercial Real Estate.

"However, the process has not been an easy one due to a lack of
available industrial and warehousing real estate in the Twin Ports,

https://www.enterpriseminnesota.org/


5/16/23, 10:36 AM FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower - Duluth News Tribune | News, weather, and sports from Duluth, Minnesota

https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/faa-eyes-locations-for-duluth-airport-tower 5/8

making industrial business attraction and local expansions
extremely challenging," Johnson explained. "Homegrown
companies like HydroSolutions have contributed millions to our
economy and want to make their growth in our community
efficient."

APEX and regional economic development leaders are trying to
solve this challenge and are working on site readiness, Johnson
said, targeting site development locations that can be made shovel-
ready and available for situations like this.

"Large and exciting development projects that will help fill this
void are coming down the pike, but it remains a tough situation for
companies in need of new facilities yesterday," Johnson said.

The authority's preferred site for the new Federal Aviation
Administration airport traffic control tower is the Hermantown
Hydraulics current location, 4905 Airport Road in Hermantown,
Werner said.

Hermantown Hydraulics offers sales and service of hydraulic
equipment and parts.

Hermantown Hydraulics, located at 4905 Airport Road, is the preferred site of the Duluth
International Airport's new air tra�ic control tower. Brielle Bredsten / Duluth News Tribune

In 2015, the authority signed a lease extension and implemented a
short-term triple-net lease, Werner said.

With a typical triple-net lease, the commercial tenant pays rent,
and is also responsible for property expenses such as utilities,
insurance, maintenance and taxes.

"It's a little less advantageous of us because we're not assuming a
building that we know we don't want to save," Werner said. "The
agreement acknowledges the Airport Authority is going to
redevelop the space for aeronautical purposes and economical
development. It puts the tenant on notice that while you're willing
to stay here for a while, we'll give 180 days notice if and when they
will need to vacate."



5/16/23, 10:36 AM FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower - Duluth News Tribune | News, weather, and sports from Duluth, Minnesota

https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/faa-eyes-locations-for-duluth-airport-tower 6/8

However, funding hasn't yet been approved, nor has the FAA
chosen between the two sites —a decision Werner said is
anticipated to solidify within the next year.

The new tower will increase in height from 45 feet to 123 feet to
allow for visibility of the entire airfield's airspace, as well as to the
end of each of the airport's four runways.

"It's a critical piece of our safety here and we're excited about
getting this project going and makings sure it can support our
growth for many years to come," Werner said.

The $52 million project comes together with $38 million in federal
funding, $14 million from the state and $2 million from the Duluth
Airport Authority.

The authority plans to apply for the FAA's Airport Terminal
Program(https://www.transportation.gov/rural/grant-
toolkit/airport-terminals-program) — a $5 billion, five-year federal
grant supporting terminal modernization and restoration projects
at non-hub and small, medium and large hub airports. The
program is part of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law. Awards are
anticipated to be announced in March, Baker said.

State funding is being sought to match the federal grant
opportunity.

Prior to implementation, the project must undergo additional
analysis including environmental review through the National
Environmental Policy Act, according to Vision 2040.

May 14, 2023 09:37 AM

ALSO READ

READ MORE FROM BRIELLE BREDSTEN

(https://w
ww.duluth
newstribun
e.com/new
s/local/che
ster-park-

Chester Park improvements to honor late Barry
family(https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/lo
cal/chester-park-improvements-to-honor-late-
barry-family)

https://www.transportation.gov/rural/grant-toolkit/airport-terminals-program
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/duluth-two-harbors-growers-launch-clover-valley-farm-trail
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/lifestyle/front-row-seat-inside-greysolon-ballroom-where-roaring-20s-still-echo
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/twin-ports-spay-and-neuter-lands-back-on-feet-after-relocation
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/local/chester-park-improvements-to-honor-late-barry-family
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/local/chester-park-improvements-to-honor-late-barry-family


IV - D

















Construction Newsletter
Duluth International Airport (DLH)

Weekly Update - Friday, May 18, 2023

Taxiway A - Phase 4 (SRE Ramp) and Midfield Ramp Reconstruction
Reconstruction of Taxiway A Phase 4 and the Midfield Ramp Repair project began
this week. Throughout this week, work in both areas has focused on pavement
removal, subgrade excavation, removal of old storm sewer, installation of new storm
sewer and the placement of electrical manholes.

An updated Construction Safety Phasing Plan was published and can be viewed
online [PDF].

Next Week
The contractor will continue to work on subgrade excavation, storm sewer placement
and various electrical items.

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

 Taxiway A Phase 4 and Midfield Ramp Repairs: May 15th - July 13th

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

IV - E. a.

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/TW-A-Recon-Phase-4-Midfield-May-18-2023.pdf
http://eepurl.com/grIfVj
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
javascript:;


Vehicle Service Road (VSR) / Perimeter Road Updates 
The Vehicle Service Road (VSR), or perimeter road, will be closed in the
construction area of Phase 4 for the duration of Phase 4 and Midfield Ramp Repair
projects. Due to the closure, a detour is in place that requires you to leave the secure
area. Airfield access will be provided through Monaco and South SRE Gates and
signs will be posted to indicate the direction of the detour. Use extra caution around
the SRE Building, as construction vehicles will also be operating in this area. A map
and additional vehicle service road detour information can be found here [PDF].

For temporary gate access, contact Security Manager Matt Snell at 218-625-7772.

Taxiway A - Phase 2A and 2B Reconstruction

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/DULAI-CSPP-VSR-Detour.pdf
http://eepurl.com/grIfVj
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
javascript:;


The Taxiway A Phase 2 reconstruction project is anticipated to begin following the
Airshow on July 17th. The Construction Safety Phasing Plan (CSPP) for the project
can be found here. Phase 2B, which includes seven (7) nightly closures and one (1)
60-hour closure of Runway 9/27, has not been scheduled yet. Once a date has been
confirmed by the contractor additional communication will be shared with
stakeholders.

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

Taxiway A Phase 2 - July 17th to September 30th

Please note, these dates are subject to change. Airfield NOTAMs should be checked
to confirm the current status of the airfield.

Project Contact Information

Mark Papko, Director of Operations - Airport Authority - mpapko@duluthairport.com
Adinda Van Espen, Project Manager - SEH - avanespen@sehinc.com

unsubscribe from this list    update subscription preferences 

Duluth International Airport
(218) 727-2968

daa@duluthairport.com

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/TW-A-Recon-Phase-2-combined.pdf
https://notams.aim.faa.gov/notamSearch/nsapp.html#/
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=Taxiway%20A%20Phase%201%20Construction%20Project
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=DLH%20Summer%20Construction
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/unsubscribe?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae&e=[UNIQID]&c=2275df0ff7
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/profile?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae&e=[UNIQID]&c=2275df0ff7
mailto:daa@duluthairport.com
http://eepurl.com/grIfVj
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
javascript:;


Duluth International Airport  
PHASE 4 TAXIWAY A RECONSTRUCTION (SRE RAMP) AND MIDFIELD RAMP REPAIR 

BATCH PLANT 
LOCATION

CAUTION,  
CONSTRUCTION 

EQUIPMENT 
CROSSING ROAD, 

EXPECT DELAYS

 ALTERNATE
CONTRACTOR  
STORAGE AREA

AIR BASE ROAD

AIR
PORT A

PPROACH R
D

AIRPORT APPROACH RD

CONSTRUCTION SAFETY CONSIDERATIONSEngine-warning

H  When work is taking place inside the Taxiway Safety Area of Taxiway A, construction work 
shall yield and retreat to aircraft using the taxiway  

I  Access shall be maintained for DAA Maintenance Building for construction
duration (unrestricted access)

J Portions Midfield Ramp

K    Vehicle Service Road (VSR) will be 
impacted during construction. The VSR  
will be detoured using the south SRE  
gate, Airport Approach Road, and the  
Monaco Gate.

CLOSURESX

Phase 4 includes expanding the SRE Apron east of the Midfield Ramp and west of the Monaco 

Ramp. Concurrently with Phase 4, the Midfield Ramp Repair work will be performed.    

 Work elements will include:

A  Installation of new SRE Apron edge lighting

B Painting of pavement markings and tiedown markings

C Minor grading in areas surround SRE  Apron construction

D Installation of new apron signage

E Repair of the Midfield Ramp (Concurrently with Phase 4)

F Construct SRE Apron

G Installation of storm drain pipes, structures, and underdrain

PHASE INFORMATION  MAY 1 TO JULY 13

LL Runways 9/27 & 3/21 full length

MM Terminal, Monaco, and Tower ramps

NN Terminal, hangars, and miscellaneous
facilities will be accessible

OO   Phase 4 & Midfield Ramp areas shall be 
completed and open to vehicle traffic  
prior to the Air Show (July 14th - 17th)

AVAILABLE AIRFIELD

Ph4

PP The ANG TACAN will be impacted with the existing duct bank is removed. There will be a 
24-hour cutover period for the MnPower cables that power the NAVAIDs

INSTRUMENT APPROACH PROCEDURE IMPACTS (IAP)IAP

TWY A TAXIWAY SAFETY AREA

RUNWAY 9/27

LEGEND

PHASE 2  

CONSTRUCTION     

LIMITS

BATCH PLANT 

LOCATION

RADIO CAR ESCORT 

REQUIRED AREA

CONSTRUCTION 

HAUL ROUTE

LOW PROFILE 

BARRICADE

CONTRACTOR  

STORAGE AREA

PHASE 4 -

SRE RAMP 

CONSTRUCTION

MIDFIELD RAMP 

REPAIR

VEHICLE SERVICE 

ROAD

VEHICLE SERVICE 

ROAD DETOUR

TW
Y A3

AIR TRAFFIC  
CONTROL TOWER

T
W

Y
 A

4

DAA  
MAINTENANCE

T
X

Y
 B

TWY A

VEHICLE 
SERVICE ROAD

CONTRACTOR  
STORAGE AREA

ACCESS 
GATE MONACO

MONACO RAMP
MIDFIELD RAMP

CONSTRUCTION 
STORAGE AREA

PHASE 2 
CONSTRUCTION LIMITS

M
ALSTROM

 S
T

MONACO 
GATE

SOUTH 
SRE GATE

CC

JJ
EE

FFAA
BBHH

II
KK

KK

Updated: May 17, 2023



Duluth International Airport  
PHASE 4 TAXIWAY A RECONSTRUCTION (SRE RAMP) AND MIDFIELD RAMP REPAIR 

Vehicle Service Road (VSR) / Perimeter Road 
will be unavailable through the Phase 4 
construction area during construction. The 
road will be detoured around the construction 
site for the Phase 4 project duration. 

Gate access will be required to access gates 
and complete the required detour. Contact 
Security Manager Matt Snell at 218-625-7772 
for temporary gate access. 

Gate Access Required

DETOUR INFORMATION Ph4

TAXIWAY SAFETY AREA

MAY 1 TO JULY 13

LEGEND

PHASE 2  

CONSTRUCTION     

LIMITS

CONSTRUCTION 

HAUL ROUTE

LOW PROFILE 

BARRICADE

CONTRACTOR  

STORAGE AREA

PHASE 4 -

SRE RAMP 

CONSTRUCTION

MIDFIELD RAMP 

REPAIR

VEHICLE SERVICE 

ROAD

VEHICLE SERVICE 

ROAD DETOUR

VSR DETOUR 

SIGNAGE 

!

!

!

DAA  
MAINTENANCE

T
X

Y
 B

TWY A

VEHICLE 
SERVICE ROAD

ACCESS GATE
MONACO

MONACO RAMP
MIDFIELD 

RAMP

CONSTRUCTION 
STORAGE AREA

PHASE 2 
CONSTRUCTION LIMITS

M
ALSTROM

 S
T

MONACO GATE

SOUTH 
SRE GATE

MIDFIELD RAMP 
CONSTRUCTION 

AREA

PHASE 4 
CONSTRUCTION 

AREA



Construction Newsletter
Duluth International Airport (DLH)

Weekly Update - Friday, May 26, 2023

Taxiway A - Phase 4 (SRE Ramp) and Midfield Ramp Reconstruction
Taxiway A Phase 4 Reconstruction and the Midfield Ramp Repair projects
are underway. Throughout this week, work in both areas has focused on subgrade
excavation, removal of the old storm sewer, installation of new storm sewer, and the
placement of electrical duct banks.

Next Week
Next week the contractor will continue to work on subgrade excavation, storm sewer
placement, subbase placement, and various electrical items.

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

 Taxiway A Phase 4 and Midfield Ramp Repairs: May 15th - July 13th

Subscribe Past Issues TranslateIV - E b

http://eepurl.com/grIfVj
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
javascript:;


**MONACO RAMP ACCESS CLOSURE**
The west Monaco Ramp Access point is expected to be closed June 1
and June 2 to allow the contractor to safely install new storm sewer

structures and pipe.

Vehicle Service Road (VSR) / Perimeter Road
The Vehicle Service Road (VSR), or perimeter road, will be closed in the
construction area of Phase 4 for the duration of Phase 4 and Midfield Ramp Repair
projects. Due to the closure, a detour is in place that requires you to leave the secure
area. Airfield access will be provided through Monaco and South SRE Gates and
signs will be posted to indicate the direction of the detour. Use extra caution around
the SRE Building, as construction vehicles will also be operating in this area. A map
and additional vehicle service road detour information can be found here [PDF].

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/DULAI-CSPP-VSR-Detour.pdf
http://eepurl.com/grIfVj
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
javascript:;


 
For temporary gate access, contact Security Manager Matt Snell at 218-625-7772.

Taxiway A - Phase 2A and 2B Reconstruction
The Taxiway A Phase 2 reconstruction project is anticipated to begin following the
Airshow on July 17th. The Construction Safety Phasing Plan (CSPP) for the project
can be found here. Phase 2B, which includes seven (7) nightly closures and one (1)
60-hour closure of Runway 9/27, has not been scheduled yet. Once a date has been
confirmed by the contractor additional communication will be shared with
stakeholders.

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

Taxiway A Phase 2 - July 17th to September 30th

Please note, these dates are subject to change. Airfield NOTAMs should be checked
to confirm the current status of the airfield.

Project Contact Information

Mark Papko, Director of Operations - Airport Authority - mpapko@duluthairport.com
Adinda Van Espen, Project Manager - SEH - avanespen@sehinc.com

unsubscribe from this list    update subscription preferences 

Duluth International Airport
(218) 727-2968

daa@duluthairport.com

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/TW-A-Recon-Phase-2-combined.pdf
https://notams.aim.faa.gov/notamSearch/nsapp.html#/
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=Taxiway%20A%20Phase%201%20Construction%20Project
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=DLH%20Summer%20Construction
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/unsubscribe?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae&e=[UNIQID]&c=83ddf184d3
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/profile?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae&e=[UNIQID]&c=83ddf184d3
mailto:daa@duluthairport.com
http://eepurl.com/grIfVj
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=6f07a128ae
javascript:;


Construction Newsletter
Duluth International Airport (DLH)

Weekly Update - June 02, 2023

Taxiway A - Phase 4 (SRE Ramp) and Midfield Ramp Reconstruction
Work in both areas continued to focus on subgrade excavation, removal of the old
storm sewer, installation of the new storm sewer system and the placement of sand.
The western Monaco Ramp connector was briefly closed to install new storm sewer
structures and pipes; this work has been completed and the connector has been
reopened.

Next Week
The contractor will finish the placement of sand and storm sewer and will begin to
place the aggregate base. They will continue to work on various electrical items as
well.

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

 Taxiway A Phase 4 and Midfield Ramp Repairs: May 15th - July 13th

Subscribe Past Issues TranslateIV - E c.

http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


Vehicle Service Road (VSR) / Perimeter Road
The Vehicle Service Road (VSR), or perimeter road, is closed in the construction
area of Phase 4 for the remainder of Phase 4 and Midfield Ramp Repair projects.
Due to the closure, a detour is in place that requires you to leave the secure area.
Airfield access will be provided through Monaco and South SRE Gates and signs will
be posted to indicate the direction of the detour. Use extra caution around the SRE
Building, as construction vehicles will also be operating in this area. A map and
additional vehicle service road detour information can be found here [PDF].
 
For temporary gate access, contact Security Manager Matt Snell at 218-625-7772.

Miscellaneous Taxiway Repair Work

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/DULAI-CSPP-VSR-Detour.pdf
http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


The Duluth Airport Authority will be completing pavement repairs around the airfield,
including Taxiway A2 and portions of Taxiway A near Taxiway A3 and Taxiway C.
These pavement repairs will consist of milling pavement in poor condition and
overlaying it with new pavement.

It is anticipated the areas shown in the figure below will be impacted for up to two
days. The contractor is intending to perform the Taxiway A work on Wednesday and
Thursday next week (6/7 and 6/8). Taxiway C, north of Runway 9/27, work dates
have not been identified by the contractor yet.

Taxiway A - Phase 2A and 2B Reconstruction
The Taxiway A Phase 2 reconstruction project is anticipated to begin following the
Airshow on July 17th. The Construction Safety Phasing Plan (CSPP) for the project
can be found here. Phase 2B, which includes seven (7) nightly closures and one (1)
60-hour closure of Runway 9/27, has not been scheduled yet. Once a date has been
confirmed by the contractor additional communication will be shared with
stakeholders.

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

Taxiway A Phase 2 - July 17th to September 30th

Aviation Related Impacts from Selected New Air Traffic Control Tower
Site
The Duluth Airport Authority (DAA) would like to inform its tenants and users of the
permanent instrument approach procedure impacts that result from building a new
153’ tall Air Traffic Control Tower. The letter outlining these impacts can be found
online [PDF].

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/TW-A-Recon-Phase-2-combined.pdf
https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/05312023-DLH-ATCT-Notification-of-Aviation-Related-Impacts-to-the-Construction-of-a-New-Air-Traffic-Control-Tower.pdf
http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


Please note, dates and planned construction related activities are subject to change.
Airfield NOTAMs should be checked to confirm the current status of the airfield.

Project Contact Information

Mark Papko, Director of Operations - Airport Authority - mpapko@duluthairport.com
Adinda Van Espen, Project Manager - SEH - avanespen@sehinc.com

unsubscribe from this list    update subscription preferences 

Duluth International Airport
(218) 727-2968

daa@duluthairport.com

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://notams.aim.faa.gov/notamSearch/nsapp.html#/
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=Taxiway%20A%20Phase%201%20Construction%20Project
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=DLH%20Summer%20Construction
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/unsubscribe?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3&e=[UNIQID]&c=63a59b5e62
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/profile?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3&e=[UNIQID]&c=63a59b5e62
mailto:daa@duluthairport.com
http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


Construction Newsletter
Duluth International Airport (DLH)

Weekly Update - June 09, 2023

Taxiway A - Phase 4 (SRE Ramp) and Midfield Ramp Reconstruction
This past week, project work focused on aggregate base placement in preparation
for bituminous paving around the SRE ramp and the Midfield Ramp. 

Next Week
The contractor will start bituminous paving early next week. Concrete paving is
expected to begin towards the end of the week.    

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

Taxiway A Phase 4 (SRE Ramp) and Midfield Ramp Reconstruction: May 15 to
July 13

Subscribe Past Issues TranslateIV - E d

http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


Vehicle Service Road (VSR) / Perimeter Road
The Vehicle Service Road (VSR), or perimeter road, is closed in the construction
area of Phase 4 for the remainder of Phase 4 and Midfield Ramp Repair projects.
Due to the closure, a detour is in place that requires you to leave the secure area.
The Monaco and South SRE gates provide airfield access – posted signs indicate
the direction of the detour. Use extra caution around the SRE Building, as
construction vehicles operate in this area. A map and additional vehicle service road
detour information can be found here [PDF].

For temporary gate access, contact DAA Security Manager Matt Snell at
218-625-7772.

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/DULAI-CSPP-VSR-Detour.pdf
http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


Miscellaneous Taxiway Repair Work
The mill and overlay of Taxiway A2 and portions of Taxiway A near Taxiway A3 is
expected to be complete by the end of the day today (6/9). Pavement repair of
Taxiway C, north of Runway 9/27, is planned for this summer. The work dates for the
mill and overlay of this area of Taxiway C have not been identified by the contractor. 

Taxiway A - Phase 2A and 2B Reconstruction
The Taxiway A Phase 2 reconstruction project is anticipated to begin following the
Airshow on July 17th. The Construction Safety Phasing Plan (CSPP) for the project
can be found here. The dates for Phase 2B, which includes several night closures
and one (1) 60-hour closure of Runway 9/27, have not yet been determined. Once a
date has been confirmed by the contractor, additional communication will be shared
with stakeholders.

Anticipated Project Schedule - Subject to change

Taxiway A Phase 2: July 17 to September 30

Please note, dates and planned construction related activities are subject to change.
Airfield NOTAMs should be checked to confirm the current status of the airfield.

Project Contact Information

Mark Papko, Director of Operations - Airport Authority - mpapko@duluthairport.com
Adinda Van Espen, Project Manager - SEH - avanespen@sehinc.com

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/TW-A-Recon-Phase-2-combined.pdf
https://notams.aim.faa.gov/notamSearch/nsapp.html#/
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=Taxiway%20A%20Phase%201%20Construction%20Project
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=DLH%20Summer%20Construction
http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


unsubscribe from this list    update subscription preferences 

Duluth International Airport
(218) 727-2968

daa@duluthairport.com

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/unsubscribe?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3&e=[UNIQID]&c=7aebb1a35c
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/profile?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3&e=[UNIQID]&c=7aebb1a35c
mailto:daa@duluthairport.com
http://eepurl.com/isCUg6
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=b94e8390a3
javascript:;


6/14/23, 12:42 PM DLH Ranch Hangar Tenant Notice

https://mailchi.mp/krausanderson/dlh-ranch-hangar-tenant-notice?e=f1b3f4daf3 1/2

View this email in your browser

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

IV - F

https://mailchi.mp/krausanderson/dlh-ranch-hangar-tenant-notice?e=f1b3f4daf3
http://eepurl.com/il7rwY
https://us18.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=438b33134e63f935ea371c897&id=cb6dd56ca9
https://us18.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=438b33134e63f935ea371c897&id=cb6dd56ca9
javascript:;


6/14/23, 12:42 PM DLH Ranch Hangar Tenant Notice

https://mailchi.mp/krausanderson/dlh-ranch-hangar-tenant-notice?e=f1b3f4daf3 2/2

Copyright (C) 2023 Kraus-Anderson. All rights reserved.

Our mailing address is:

Want to change how you receive these emails?

You can update your preferences or unsubscribe

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

https://krausanderson.us18.list-manage.com/profile?u=438b33134e63f935ea371c897&id=cb6dd56ca9&e=f1b3f4daf3
https://krausanderson.us18.list-manage.com/unsubscribe?u=438b33134e63f935ea371c897&id=cb6dd56ca9&e=f1b3f4daf3&c=88eff8cf0b
http://eepurl.com/il7rwY
https://us18.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=438b33134e63f935ea371c897&id=cb6dd56ca9
https://us18.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=438b33134e63f935ea371c897&id=cb6dd56ca9
javascript:;


IV - G (a-e)











6/2/23, 12:35 PM Aviation Related Impacts from Selected New Air Traffic Control Tower Site

https://mailchi.mp/f57468aa360f/dlh-aviation-related-impacts?e=faae0767ad 1/2

View this email in your browser

Notification of Aviation Related Impacts to the
Construction of the Proposed New Air Traffic Control

Tower at Site #6

The Duluth Airport Authority (DAA) in partnership with the Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) is nearing the completion of an Air Traffic Control Tower
(ATCT) Siting Study. This study will determine the building location of the future
new Air Traffic Control Tower. Part of the study’s finalization is for the DAA to
inform its Tenants, Users, and Stakeholders of the permanent impacts the
building of a new 153’ tall Tower will have on the existing airfield approach and
departure paths.

No hazards were identified in the Safety Risk Management (SRM) Document
prepared for this proposed action.

In December 2022, the FAA conducted an aeronautical review of the proposed
structure (ASN 2022-AGL-12999-NRA, ASN 2022-AGL-13000-NRA, ASN
2022-AGL-13001-NRA, and ASN 2022-AGL-13002-NRA).

The Flight Procedures Office determined that the proposed ATCT would have
the following impacts on Instrument Flight Rules (IFR) operations: IFR
EFFECT-Duluth, MN Duluth Intl (DLH):

ASR RADAR-1 RWY 3 MDA/HAT from 1820/400 to 1840/420 (NEH 1568
AMSL)
RNAV (GPS) RWY 3 LNAV MDA/HAT from 1820/400 to 1840/420 (NEH
1550 AMSL)
VOR or TACAN RWY 3 MDA/HAT from 1820/400 to 1840/420 (NEH 1570
AMSL)

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

IV - H

https://mailchi.mp/f57468aa360f/dlh-aviation-related-impacts?e=faae0767ad
http://eepurl.com/gyKqMn
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=bbe8cdef75
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=bbe8cdef75
javascript:;


6/2/23, 12:35 PM Aviation Related Impacts from Selected New Air Traffic Control Tower Site

https://mailchi.mp/f57468aa360f/dlh-aviation-related-impacts?e=faae0767ad 2/2

Structure must be lighted with red obstruction lights in accordance with
FAA Advisory Circular 70/7460-1
The final design of the ATCT and base building will have to be evaluated
for any impacts to the Runway 09 CAT II Localizer.

Please reach out to Mark Papko if you have any questions or concerns.

Want to change how you receive these emails?
You can update your preferences or unsubscribe from this list.

Subscribe Past Issues Translate

mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com?subject=Comment%20-%20Aviation%20Related%20Impacts%20to%20Proposed%20New%20Air%20Traffic%20Control%20Tower
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/profile?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=bbe8cdef75&e=faae0767ad
https://duluthairport.us11.list-manage.com/unsubscribe?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=bbe8cdef75&e=faae0767ad&c=0f3eb07277
http://eepurl.com/gyKqMn
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/home/?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=bbe8cdef75
https://us11.campaign-archive.com/feed?u=9cada8bf105551d779f595abd&id=bbe8cdef75
javascript:;


IV - I







From: Steve Bulwicz
To: DAA
Subject: Sky Harbor new terminal
Date: Saturday, June 10, 2023 10:43:25 AM

Greetings,

I flew my personal aircraft into Sky Harbor yesterday and noted there appears to be a major
reconstruction project to rebuild the terminal building.  I agree that the current one has seen better days,
but I’m very concerned the board (any pilots there?) hadn’t run the new plan by the pilot users of the
facility.  I also heard that the architectural group (non pilots) never even went out there to speak with
pilots, and designed a “cookie cutter” facility that could mimic a cold feeling Greyhound bus terminal
without the wall tiles. As for designing in the ADA standards, how hard is that?  You basically add a
ramp, electric push button door and grab handles in the restrooms.  So it appears the end result will be
polished concrete floors and industrial ceilings.  Yes, that’s the cheap way to build a noisy new brewery
building too. So what’s missing here from a pilot’s standpoint?  How about an Up North look with pine
wood walls and/or ceiling, River rock face gas fireplace, office, coffee bar, conference area, comfortable
seating, vending machines and bathrooms?  What a concept.  

Maybe I’m overreacting, but I’ve seen similar architectural disasters at other Minnesota airports recently
as well.  

Thanks,
Steve Bulwicz

IV - J

mailto:sbulwicz@gmail.com
mailto:daa@duluthairport.com


June 12, 2023 

The Honorable Sam Graves The Honorable Rick Larsen 
Chairman Ranking Member 
House Committee on Transportation House Committee on Transportation 
and Infrastructure and Infrastructure 
U.S. House of Representatives  U.S. House of Representatives 
Washington, DC 20515  Washington, DC 20515 

Dear Chairman Graves and Ranking Member Larsen: 

As you prepare to markup Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) reauthorization legislation, we strongly 
urge you to raise the FAA’s mandatory retirement age for commercial airline pilots from 65 to 67. 
Thousands of highly skilled and experienced pilots exited the industry during the pandemic, primarily at 
the largest airlines, exacerbating an existing pilot shortage. These airlines replenished their pilot 
workforce by hiring pilots in unprecedented numbers from smaller air carriers that provide air service to 
small-and medium-sized airports. Without a sufficient supply of pilots, service to these airports has 
collapsed across the country despite robust passenger demand. Raising the retirement age is the only 
near-term solution that will help restore air service and provide time for longer-term workforce 
solutions to take effect. 

Congress increased the retirement age from 60 to 65 in 2007, with no negative impact on aviation 
safety. Existing regulations require two pilots on the flight deck, and no other profession is assessed as 
extensively or frequently as pilots who must undergo mandatory medical examinations every six months 
and with an EKG every 12 months. All pilots have their skills regularly evaluated in flight simulators to 
ensure proficiency, utilizing historic data to present almost every kind of dangerous scenario a pilot 
could face. Additionally, Part 135 operators are not subject to a retirement age, and pilots over the age 
of 65 are currently providing safe, scheduled, passenger service safely through the Essential Air Service 
Program. 

Absent immediate policy action by Congress, the shortfall of pilots could reach over 38,000 by 2030, 
including 15,000 mandatory retirements over the next five years alone.1  According to the U.S. 
Government Accountability Office (GAO), 61 percent of qualified pilots must retire within the next two 
decades, and over this same period 4,300 ATP holders will reach the mandatory retirement age each 
year on average.2  If these pilots are allowed to continue to fly, it will slow down the domino effect of 
attrition, equipment changes, and retraining that start with the retirement of a senior pilot, which 
ultimately culminates in the hiring of a pilot from a smaller air carrier.  By moderating this attrition, 
smaller air carriers will be able to stabilize their workforce. This in turn will help create the environment 
where lost air service can return.  

Despite increased FAA pilot certifications in 2022, there are not enough pilots qualified for hire. Though 
9,491 new pilots qualified in 2022—the highest number on record—it fell far short of the 13,128 hired 

1 https://wefly4you.com, Pilot Scarcity - 2022, What Did Not Happen, May 2023, Slides 10 and 15. 
2 GAO-23-105571, Aviation Workforce: Current and Future Availability of Airline Pilots and Aircraft Mechanics Published: May 17, 2023.

IV - K



by just one subset of the airline industry last year.3 And pilot hiring this year hasn’t slowed either and 
will continue to be robust because of the coming tsunami of pilot retirements. Currently more than 500 
regional aircraft are parked, and aircraft remaining in service are being operated between 20-40% less 
than their usual operation.4  Today, 321 airports in the contiguous United States, or 75 percent, have 
lost on average 26 percent of their flights.5  Sixteen airports have lost all their service.  From a state-by-
state air service perspective, 43 of 50 states have less air service today than they did pre-pandemic.  
Additionally, comparing July 2019 departures to announced July 2023 schedules, network carriers have 
exited 73 markets, with almost all exits representing a loss of regional lift.6   

The shortage of pilots is an immediate crisis that will continue to force major and regional airlines to 

significantly reduce capacity and growth for the remainder of the decade and beyond.7  Consumers will 

ultimately pay the price in the form of higher airfares and reduced service options, including more 

frequent flight delays and cancellations. In addition, the loss of air service has many other adverse 

economic consequences, including stifling workforce development for businesses, increasing costs for 

manufacturers, reducing trade and tourism opportunities, and shrinking local revenues from taxes. 

Further, reduced air service threatens important funding streams for airports, such as AIP entitlement 

funding which are apportioned based on enplanements. The shortage also negatively impacts timely 

delivery of air cargo to rural areas and supply chain resiliency. 

Lastly, nine countries currently have retirement ages above 65, and the International Civil Aviation 
Agency is in the process of reviewing best practices used by these countries as it considers an update to 
its own age standards.8 In the event the U.S. raises the retirement age, some pilots who wish to 
continue flying will have to transition to domestic routes where they will likely return to aircraft they 
have already flown. While this requires retraining, it is significantly less burdensome, complex, and time-
consuming than what is required to train new pilots when a senior pilot retires.  

Raising the retirement is a safe, practical solution for restoring air service and will also keep experience 
and expertise on the flight deck.  We are counting on Congress to take the lead to address this vital 
issue, and we stand ready to assist you in your efforts. Thank you in advance for your consideration of 
our request.  

Sincerely, 

Raise the Pilot Age Regional Airline Association 

3 https://fapa.aero/hiringhistoryarchive.asp?year=2022. 
4 https://www.flightglobal.com/fleets/nearly-500-regional-jets-parked-in-usa-cirium-fleets-data/152859.article. 
5 OAG published schedules July 2019 vs. Julyl 2023. 
6 OAG published schedules July 2019 vs. July 2023.
7 Supra note 1 at Slide 13.
8 9 countries include Australia, Austria, Brazil, Canada, Costa Rica, New Zealand, Russia, Senegal, Ukraine 

https://fapa.aero/hiringhistoryarchive.asp?year=2022


National Air Carrier Association Regional Air Cargo Carriers Association 

International Air Transport Association Alamosa County Chamber of Commerce 

Abraham Lincoln International Airport Boise Metro Chamber 

Casper Natrona County International Airport Central Wyoming Regional Airport 

Chippewa Valley Regional Airport Dayton Area Chamber of Commerce 

Dayton International Airport Dubuque Regional Airport 



Duluth Airport Authority Duluth Area Chamber of Commerce 

Eastern Iowa Airport England Airpark 

Golden Triangle Regional Airport Greater Springfield Chamber of 

Commerce 

Hilton Head Island Airport  Iowa Public Airports Association 

Johnstown-Cambria Airport Authority Keweenaw Economic Development Alliance 

LaCrosse Regional Airport Lake Charles Regional Airport 



Mason City Municipal Airport MHIRJ 

Monroe Regional Airport Montana Essential Air Service Task 

Force 

New York Aviation Management Association Northeast Wyoming Regional Airport 

Oklahoma City Airports Range Regional Airport 

Rock Springs Chamber of Commerce Salisbury Regional Airport 



Santa Maria Valley Chamber Sidney Richland Regional Airport 

Authority 

Sioux Gateway Chamber Siouxland Chamber of Commerce 

Southwest Wyoming Regional Airport Visit Boise 

Washington County Chamber of Commerce Williamsport Regional Airport 

Williamsport/Lycoming Chamber of 

Commerce 

CC: 

Members of the House Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure 



MYTH Legislation to increase the airline pilot retirement age would put the public at risk.

FACT
There is no other profession in the world that is assessed as extensively and as frequently as pilots. Pilots undergo frequent 
medical testing that identifies health issues that would disqualify a pilot from flying. In addition, pilot competency is 
regularly tested in the simulator, which uses historical data to present just about every kind of scenario a pilot could face.

MYTH Moving older pilots to domestic flights would create a scheduling problems and would not increase 
the supply of pilots as intended. 

FACT

Many pilots being forced to retire are only flying domestic routes already. Where pilots may need to transition from 
international routes to domestic routes, they typically resume operating equipment they have previously flown, where 
requalification time is significantly shorter and simpler than what is required to train new pilots. The vast majority of pilots 
flying would not be forced to switch aircraft and would not require any additional training at all. 

MYTH Extending the current retirement age to 67 would greatly reduce demand for new pilots.

FACT

 We need as many pilots as we can get. The pilot shortage is real and worsening, yet tens of thousands of new pilots must 
be added to the workforce to meet retirements and increased demand. Larger airlines are pulling pilots from the regional 
airlines (leading to canceled service in rural areas) and have greatly shortened their captain upgrade times, but flights are 
still being canceled. Raising the age also helps new pilots whose career entry has been slowed by a lack of captains to fly 
with. Within the pilot shortage, there is an even more acute captain shortage, which has already impacted hiring despite an 
overall shortage. 

MYTH The International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) will never change the international age limits 
for commercial pilots. 

FACT
The International Air Transportation Association (IATA) has requested that ICAO increase age limits for commercial pilots 
and in response, a request that was well supported by the states. ICAO is now reviewing best practices used by the nine 
countries that allow flying past age 65.

MYTH Studies sponsored by the European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) led EASA to “conclude” 
that the retirement age should not be increased. 

FACT

 This was not a “study” or “studies” but rather a literature review, that looked only at the risk of pilot incapacitation in the 
context of EU regulations (which are different than U.S. standards). It did not review the implications of raising age limits on 
an incremental basis (65-67). The study had an explicit disclaimer that that the views expressed in the study have not been 
adopted, endorsed or in any way approved by EASA.

MYTH Seeking to pass legislation to increase the airline pilot retirement age is a distraction that consumes time, 
energy and effort that could be better utilized focusing on the next generation of workers. 

FACT

 We can and should do both. Supporting new pilots is crucial to meeting long term needs but ALPA has been blocking these 
efforts. We are finally seeing progress but solutions will take time to mature. Raising the retirement age relieves pressure, 
as we draw and train new pilots safely. Additionally, as we will need to hire tens of thousands of new pilots within the next 
decade, our most experienced aviators will become important mentors for this new generation.

THE MYTHS & FACTS

1201 15th St NW Suite 430 Washington, DC 20005   |  (202) 367-1170   |  raa.org



GET THE FACTS

PLEASE CO-SPONSOR THE LET EXPERIENCED PILOTS FLY ACT (S.893 & H.R.1761). 

THE BOTTOM LINE IS FITNESS TO FLY SHOULD 
BE BASED ON AN INDIVIDUAL ASSESSMENT 
OF A PILOT’S HEALTH AND ABILITY, 
REGARDLESS OF AGE. HELP US KEEP OUR 
EXPERIENCED MENTOR PILOTS FROM BEING 
FORCED OUT OF THE FLIGHT DECK WHILE 
THEY STILL HAVE MUCH TO OFFER.

1201 15th St NW Suite 430 Washington, DC 20005   |  (202) 367-1170   |  raa.org

• There are no studies that demonstrate a significant
difference in risk will occur if the pilot age limit is
raised from 65 to 67.

• The age limit for commercial airline pilots was
enacted more than 60 years ago. We now have a
better understanding of both the prevalence of pilot
incapacitations and the level of associated risk.

• The incidence of pilot incapacitation is extremely rare,
occurring less than 0.45 time per 1,000,000 flight
hours.

• Most pilot incapacitations cannot be prevented with
an age limit because they are caused by conditions
such as gastroenteritis (food poisoning), laser strikes,
headaches, and sinus problems.

• Cardiovascular risk is often mentioned as a primary
concern associated with pilot incapacitation,
however, cardiovascular mortality has decreased by
more than 50% since the age limit was first enacted
and the average life expectancy has increased by
almost a decade.

• Although incapacitations are extremely rare, pilots
routinely train on managing these situations safely
when they do occur. Pilots in part 121 operations do
not operate alone.

• Pilots undergo a more frequent and higher level of
testing than any other high-stakes profession.

• Pilots undergo frequent medical testing that identifies
health issues that would disqualify a pilot from flying,
including a first-class medical examination every 6
months and EKG every 12 months.

• Pilots over 60 undergo frequent simulator assessments
to verify their continued competence and flight skills.
These assessments provide an evidence-based
measure of a pilot’s decision-making, reaction time,
communication, and overall performance.



1  OAG published schedules July 2019 vs. July 2023

Major airlines  
directly serve only 

33%

of the nation’s airports  
receiving scheduled  

passenger service

Regional  
airlines serve 

98%

of the nation’s airports  
receiving scheduled 
 passenger service

THE PILOT SHORTAGE IS RESULTING 
IN AN AIR SERVICE COLLAPSE

2021 U.S. air service network

U.S. air service network  
without Regional Airlines

500 
aircraft are parked and remaining 

aircraft are under utilized.

43/50 
states have less air service 

than pre-pandemic.1

321 (75%)
airports in the continuous United 
States have less service than pre 
pandemic and the average loss 

is 26% of their flights. 16 airports 
have lost all service.1Carriers that partner with regional airlines 

have exited from 73 markets.1



4  FAPA.aero | Pilot Hiring History 2021-March 2023 www.fapa.aero

DEMAND FOR PILOTS EXCEEDS PRODUCTION
Claims that a pilot shortage doesn’t exist can’t be supported by facts and data. Since 2021, 

twelve major carriers alone have hired more pilots than were qualified with ATP AMELs.  
These pilots were hired primarily from regional airlines, exacerbating an existing pilot shortage. 
The shortage is being fueled by a coming tsunami of pilot retirements. Over the next 15 years,  

50 percent of commercial airline pilots will be forced to retire at the age of 65.

OVER 14%
must retire within five years.

Nearly

 50%
of today’s Part 121  

qualified pilot workforce  
must retire within 15 years. 

22%

8%14%

32%

24%

under 30  
years old

30-39 
years old

40-49 
years old

50-59 
years old

60-64 
years old

Federal regulations require  
Part 121 Commercial airline pilots 

to retire at age

65
2021 2022 2023  

*as of April 1, 2023

R-ATP AMEL & ATP AMEL 
Original Issuance 

15,000

12,000

9,000

6,000

3,000

0

Major Carrier Hiring Exceeds Production of Pilots4

  Major Airline  
     Pilot Hiring

NOTE: Graph captures 
select major airline 
hiring only; other 
airlines and business 
aviation hire additional 
ATP-MEL pilots.



RESOLUTION OF SUPPORT OF THE AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER 

REPLACEMENT PROJECT

WHEREAS, the Duluth Airport Authority recognizes the importance and need for the 

replacement of the Air Traffic Control Tower and Terminal Radar Approach Control Facility at 

the Duluth International Airport. 

WHEREAS, an Air Traffic Control Tower in Duluth supports commercial flights, general aviation, 

cargo operations, aeromedical evacuation, military security, and public safety. 

WHEREAS, the current Air Traffic Control Tower is beyond its useful life and does not meet 

current life safety requirements. 

WHEREAS, a state capital request will be made to leverage $38 million in potential federal 

funding through the Investment in Infrastructure and Jobs Act (IIJA) to fund a new Air Traffic 

Control Tower. 

WHEREAS, a resolution of support is preferred in support of a project when a state capital 

request is made. 

WHEREAS, contracts for payment of this project will come to the DAA board for approval as 

required. 

NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Duluth Airport Authority hereby supports the 

pre-design, design, construction, furnishing and equipment of a new air traffic control tower and 

will work with its state and federal agency partners to fund this project. 

PASSED by the Duluth Airport Authority this 20th day of June, 2023. 

Signed by: ______________________________   Date:________________ 

DAA President 

Signed by: ______________________________   Date:________________ 

DAA Secretary 

VII - A



Rev. 1/2016 
RESOLUTION 

AUTHORIZATION  TO  EXECUTE 
MINNESOTA  DEPARTMENT  OF  TRANSPORTATION 

AIRPORT  MAINTENANCE  AND  OPERATION GRANT CONTRACT 

It is resolved by the Duluth Airport Authority as follows: 

1. That the state of Minnesota Contract Number 1053348,

"Airport Maintenance and Operation Grant Contract,” at the

Duluth International Airport is accepted.

2. That the __________________________ and ____________________________  are
(Mayor, Chairperson, President, etc.) (Clerk, Auditor, Secretary, etc.)

authorized to execute this Contract and any amendments on behalf of the 

Duluth Airport Authority. 

CERTIFICATION 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

COUNTY OF  ____________________ 

I certify that the above Resolution is a true and correct copy of the Resolution adopted by the 

 _________________________________________________________________________________ 
(Name of the Recipient) 

at an authorized meeting held on the  ______________  day of  ________________________ , 20 

as shown by the minutes of the meeting in my possession. 

Signature:  _________________________________ 
(Clerk or Equivalent) 

 __________________________________________ 
CORPORATE  SEAL /OR/ NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Commission Expires:  ____________________ 

VII - B



MnDOT Contract No. 1053348 

Page 1 of 6 

Duluth Airport Authority (Duluth International Airport) 24 -25 M O 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

AIRPORT MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION GRANT CONTRACT 

State Project Number (S.P.): A6901-MO24 
State Project Number (S.P.): A6901-MO25 

This contract is between the State of Minnesota, acting through its Commissioner of Transportation (“State”) and Duluth 
Airport Authority (Duluth International Airport) acting through its Airport Authority (“Recipient”). 

RECITALS 

1. Minnesota Statutes §§360.015 and 360.305 authorize State to provide financial assistance to airports for
maintenance and operation activities.

2. Recipient owns, operates, or controls an airport (“Airport”) in the state system, and Recipient desires financial
assistance from the State for maintenance and operation activities for State Fiscal Year 2024 and State Fiscal Year
2025.

3. Recipient represents that it is duly qualified and agrees to perform all services described in this contract to the
satisfaction of the State.

CONTRACT TERMS 

1. Term of Contract and Survival of Terms

1.1. Effective Date: This contract will be effective on July 1, 2023, or the date State obtains all required 
signatures under Minnesota Statutes §16B.98, subdivision 5, whichever is later. As 
required by Minnesota Statutes §16B.98 Subd. 7, no payments will be made to Recipient 
until this contract is fully executed.  

1.2. Expiration Date: This contract will expire on June 30, 2025. 

1.3. Survival of Terms: All clauses which impose obligations continuing in their nature and which must survive 
in order to give effect to their meaning will survive the expiration or termination of this 
contract, including, but not limited to, the following clauses: 9. Indemnification; 10. State 
Audits; 11. Government Data Practices; 13. Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Venue; and 
14. Data Disclosure.

2. Recipient’s Duties

2.1. Recipient will operate and maintain the Airport in a safe, serviceable manner for aeronautical purposes only for
the use and benefit of the public. 

2.2. The Recipient will keep the runway and the area around the lights mowed at the Airport. The grass must be 
mowed at least 7 feet beyond the lights, and the grass must not exceed 6 inches in height on the landing area. 
The areas around any navigational aids will be mowed and plowed to keep the area clear for access by a 
vehicle. 

2.3. If the Airport remains operational during the winter months, the Recipient will keep at least one runway, 
associated taxiway, and apron area cleared of snow and ice to the same priority as arterial roads. Snow banks 
must be limited in height so that aircraft wings, engines, and propellers will clear them. Landing strip markers 
and/or lights must remain visible. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053348 

Page 2 of 6 

2.4. If the State contracts for the periodic paint striping of the Airport’s runways and taxiways during the term of 
this Contract, the Recipient will cooperate with the marking operation. The Recipient must coordinate seal coat 
pavement maintenance projects with the State to maximize the pavement marking life. 

2.5. The Recipient will allow a representative of the State’s Office of Aeronautics access to any area of the Airport 
necessary for the purpose of periodic inspections.  

2.6. The Recipient will promptly pay all utility bills, including those required for navigational aids. 

3. Recipient’s Assurances

3.1. In accordance with Minnesota Statutes § 360.305, subdivision 4, Recipient assures the State that Recipient will 
operate and maintain the Airport in a safe, serviceable manner for public aeronautical purposes only for a period 
of one year from the date the Recipient receives final reimbursement under this contract. 

3.2. Recipient represents and warrants that Recipient has established a zoning authority for the Airport, and such 
authority has completed, or is in the process of and will complete, with due diligence, an airport zoning 
ordinance in accordance with Minnesota Statutes §§ 360.061 to 360.074. 

3.3. Recipient will comply with all required grants management policies and procedures set forth through Minnesota 
Statutes §16B.97, Subd. 4 (a) (1). 

4. Third-Party Contracting

4.1. Recipient will comply with all applicable local, state, or federal laws, regulations, policies and procedures in the 
procurement of goods and services funded in whole or in part under this Contract. 

5. Consideration and Payment

5.1. Consideration. State will pay for all eligible telecommunication, maintenance, and operation costs incurred by 
Recipient under this Contract as follows: 

5.1.1. Basis. Recipient will be reimbursed for 100% of telecommunication costs associated with the operation 
of state-owned navigational aids. Recipient will be paid for 75% of all other eligible maintenance and 
operation costs not reimbursed by any other source. Eligible maintenance and operations costs will be 
determined at the sole discretion of State’s Authorized Representative. 

5.1.2. Telecommunication Amount. State has currently obligated $0.00 in each State fiscal year to reimburse 
eligible telecommunication costs at 100%. 

5.1.3. Maintenance and Operation Amount. State has currently obligated  $207,067.00  in each State fiscal 
year to reimburse other eligible costs at 75%. 

5.1.4. Total Obligation. The total obligation of State for all compensation and reimbursements to Recipient 
under this contract will not exceed  $414,134.00  (State fiscal years 2024 and 2025). 

5.2. Payment. 

5.2.1. Invoices. The Recipient must submit a reimbursement request of its eligible costs to the Director of the 
Office of Aeronautics on a quarterly basis or as directed by State’s Authorized Representative. The 
State’s Office of Aeronautics will supply the reimbursement request forms which Recipient must submit. 
Reimbursement requests must be submitted according to the following schedule: 

• On or after October 1, and no later than November 15, for the period July 1 through September 30.
• On or after January 1, and no later than February 15, for the period October 1 through December

31.
• On or after April 1, and no later than May 15, for the period January 1 through March 31.
• On or after July 1, and no later than August 15, for the period April 1 through June 30.

The State may reject costs that the State determines are not eligible maintenance and operations 
expenses.  

5.2.2. All Invoices Subject to Audit. All invoices are subject to audit, at State’s discretion. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053348 

Page 3 of 6 

5.2.3. State’s Payment Requirements. State will promptly pay all valid obligations under this contract as 
required by Minnesota Statutes §16A.124. State will make undisputed payments no later than 30 days 
after receiving Recipient’s invoices and progress reports for services performed. If an invoice is 
incorrect, defective or otherwise improper, State will notify Recipient within ten days of discovering the 
error. After State receives the corrected invoice, State will pay Recipient within 30 days of receipt of 
such invoice. 

5.2.4. Grant Monitoring Visit and Financial Reconciliation. If State’s total obligation is greater than 
$50,000 in section 5.1.4, above, during the period of performance the State will make at least one 
monitoring visit and conduct annual financial reconciliations of Recipient’s expenditures. The State’s 
Authorized Representative will notify Recipient’s Authorized Representative where and when any 
monitoring visit and financial reconciliation will take place, which State employees and/or contractors 
will participate, and which Recipient staff members should be present. Recipient will be provided notice 
prior to any monitoring visit or financial reconciliation. Following a monitoring visit or financial 
reconciliation, Recipient will take timely and appropriate action on all deficiencies identified by State. 
At least one monitoring visit and one financial reconciliation must be completed prior to final payment 
being made to Recipient.  

5.2.5. Closeout. The State will determine, at its sole discretion, whether a closeout audit is required prior to 
final payment approval. If a closeout audit is required, final payment will be held until the audit has been 
completed. Monitoring of any capital assets acquired with grant funds will continue following grant 
closeout. 

6. Conditions of Payment 

6.1. All services provided by Recipient under this contract must be performed to State’s satisfaction, as determined 
at the sole discretion of State’s Authorized Representative and in accordance with all applicable federal, state 
and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, including business registration requirements of the Office of 
the Secretary of State. Recipient will not receive payment for work found by State to be unsatisfactory or 
performed in violation of federal, state or local law. In addition to the foregoing, Recipient will not receive 
payment for Airport’s failure to pass periodic inspections by a representative of the State’s Office of 
Aeronautics.  

7. Authorized Representatives 

7.1. State’s Authorized Representative. State’s Authorized Representative will be: 

Name/Title: Jenny Bahneman, Grants Specialist Coordinator 

Address: Office of Aeronautics, 

 395 John Ireland Boulevard, Mail Stop 410 

 Saint Paul, Minnesota 55155 

E-Mail: jenny.bahneman@state.mn.us 

State’s Authorized Representative or his /her successor, will monitor Recipient’s performance and has the 
authority to accept or reject the services provided under this contract. If the Recipient’s duties are performed in 
a satisfactory manner, the State’s Authorized Representative will accept each reimbursement request submitted 
for payment. 

7.2. Recipient’s Authorized Representative. Recipient’s Authorized Representative will be: 

Name/Title: Joelle Bodin, Finance Director 

Address: Duluth International Airport, 4701 Grinden Drive, Duluth, MN  55811 

Telephone: (218) 725-2968 

E-Mail: jbodin@duluthairport.com 

If Recipient’s Authorized Representative changes at any time during this contract, Recipient must immediately 
notify State. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053348 

Page 4 of 6 

8. Assignment, Amendments, Waiver and Contract Complete

8.1. Assignment. Recipient may neither assign nor transfer any rights or obligations under this contract without the 
prior consent of State and a fully executed Assignment Contract, executed and approved by the same parties 
who executed and approved this contract, or their successors in office. 

8.2. Amendments. An amendment to this contract must be in writing and will not be effective until it has been 
executed and approved by the same parties who executed and approved the original contract, or their successors 
in office. 

8.3. Waiver. If State fails to enforce any provision of this contract that failure does not waive the provision or 
State’s right to subsequently enforce it. 

8.4. Contract Complete. This contract contains all prior negotiations and agreements between State and Recipient. 
No other prior understanding regarding this contract, whether written or oral, may be used to bind either party.  

8.5. Electronic Records and Signatures.  The parties agree to contract by electronic means.  This includes using 
electronic signatures and converting original documents to electronic records. 

8.6. Certification.  By signing this Agreement, the Recipient certifies that it is not suspended or debarred from 
receiving federal or state awards. 

9. Indemnification

9.1. In the performance of this contract by Recipient, or Recipient’s agents or employees, and to the extent permitted 
by law, Recipient must indemnify, save and hold State, its agents, and employees harmless from any and all 
claims or causes of action, including reasonable attorney’s fees incurred by State, to the extent caused by 
Recipient’s: 1) intentional, willful or negligent acts or omissions; 2) breach of contract or warranty; or 3) breach 
of the applicable standard of care. The indemnification obligations of this section do not apply if the claim or 
cause of action is the result of State’s sole negligence. This clause will not be construed to bar any legal 
remedies Recipient may have for State’s failure to fulfill its obligation pursuant to this contract. 

10. State Audits

10.1. Under Minnesota Statutes § 16B.98, Subd.8, the Recipient’s books, records, documents, and accounting
procedures and practices of Recipient, or other party relevant to this grant contract or transaction, are subject to 
examination by the State and/or the State Auditor or Legislative Auditor, as appropriate, for a minimum of six 
years from the end of this contract or receipt and approval of all final reports, whichever is later. Recipient will 
take timely and appropriate action on all deficiencies identified by an audit. 

11. Government Data Practices

11.1. Recipient and State must comply with the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act, Minnesota Statutes
Chapter 13, as it applies to all data provided by State under this contract, and as it applies to all data created, 
collected, received, stored, used, maintained or disseminated by Recipient under this contract. The civil 
remedies of Minnesota Statutes §13.08 apply to the release of the data referred to in this clause by either 
Recipient or State. If Recipient receives a request to release the data referred to in this Clause, Recipient must 
immediately notify State and consult with State as to how Recipient should respond to the request. Recipient’s 
response to the request must comply with applicable law. 

12. Workers’ Compensation

12.1. Recipient certifies that it is in compliance with Minnesota Statutes §176.181, subdivision 2, pertaining to
workers’ compensation insurance coverage. Recipient’s employees and agents will not be considered State 
employees. Any claims that may arise under the Minnesota Workers’ Compensation Act on behalf of these 
employees and any claims made by any third party as a consequence of any act or omission on the part of these 
employees are in no way the State’s obligation or responsibility. 

13. Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Venue

13.1. Minnesota law, without regard to its choice-of-law provisions, governs this contract. Venue for all legal
proceedings arising out of this contract, or its breach, must be in the appropriate state or federal court with 
competent jurisdiction in Ramsey County, Minnesota. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053348 

Page 5 of 6 

14. Data Disclosure 

14.1. Under Minnesota Statutes §270C.65, and other applicable law, Recipient consents to disclosure of its social 
security number, federal employer tax identification number and Minnesota tax identification number, already 
provided to State, to federal and state agencies and state personnel involved in the payment of state obligations. 
These identification numbers may be used in the enforcement of federal and state laws which could result in 
action requiring Recipient to file state tax returns and pay delinquent state tax liabilities, if any, or pay other 
state liabilities. 

15. Termination and Suspension 

15.1. Termination by the State. The State may terminate this contract with or without cause, upon 30 days written 
notice to the Recipient. Upon termination, the Recipient will be entitled to payment, determined on a pro rata 
basis, for services satisfactorily performed. 

15.2. Termination for Cause. The State may immediately terminate this grant contract if the State finds that there 
has been a failure to comply with the provisions of this contract, that reasonable progress has not been made, 
that fraudulent or wasteful activity has occurred, that Recipient has been convicted of a criminal offense relating 
to a state grant agreement, or that the purposes for which the funds were granted have not been or will not be 
fulfilled. The State may take action to protect the interests of the State of Minnesota, including the refusal to 
disburse additional funds and requiring the return of all or part of the funds already disbursed. 

15.3. Termination for Insufficient Funding. The State may immediately terminate this contract if: It does not obtain 
funding from the Minnesota Legislature; or If funding cannot be continued at a level sufficient to allow for the 
payment of the services covered here. Termination must be by written or fax notice to the Recipient. The State 
is not obligated to pay for any services that are provided after notice and effective date of termination. However, 
the Recipient will be entitled to payment, determined on a pro rata basis, for services satisfactorily performed to 
the extent that funds are available. The State will not be assessed any penalty if the contract is terminated 
because of the decision of the Minnesota Legislature, or other funding source, not to appropriate funds. The 
State will provide the Recipient notice of the lack of funding within a reasonable time of the State’s receiving 
that notice. 

15.4. Suspension. The State may immediately suspend this contract in the event of a total or partial government 
shutdown due to the failure to have an approved budget by the legal deadline. Work performed by the Recipient 
during a period of suspension will be deemed unauthorized and undertaken at risk of non-payment. 

16. Discrimination Prohibited by Minnesota Statutes §181.59  

16.1. Recipient will comply with the provisions of Minnesota Statutes §181.59 which requires that every contract for 
or on behalf of the State of Minnesota, or any county, city, town, township, school, school district or any other 
district in the state, for materials, supplies or construction will contain provisions by which Contractor agrees: 
1) That, in the hiring of common or skilled labor for the performance of any work under any contract, or any 
subcontract, no Contractor, material supplier or vendor, will, by reason of race, creed or color, discriminate 
against the person or persons who are citizens of the United States or resident aliens who are qualified and 
available to perform the work to which the employment relates; 2) That no Contractor, material supplier, or 
vendor, will, in any manner, discriminate against, or intimidate, or prevent the employment of any person or 
persons identified in clause 1 of this section, or on being hired, prevent or conspire to prevent, the person or 
persons from the performance of work under any contract on account of race, creed or color; 3) That a violation 
of this section is a misdemeanor; and 4) That this contract may be canceled or terminated by the state of 
Minnesota, or any county, city, town, township, school, school district or any other person authorized to grant 
contracts for employment, and all money due, or to become due under the contract, may be forfeited for a 
second or any subsequent violation of the terms or conditions of this contract. 

17. Limitation. 

17.1. Under this contract, the State is only responsible for disbursing funds. Nothing in this contract will be construed 
to make the State a principal, co-principal, partner, or joint venturer with respect to the Project(s) covered 
herein. The State may provide technical advice and assistance as requested by the Recipient, however, the 
Recipient will remain responsible for providing direction to its contractors and consultants and for 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053348 

Page 6 of 6 

administering its contracts with such entities. The Recipient’s consultants and contractors are not intended to be 
third party beneficiaries of this contract. 

STATE ENCUMBRANCE VERIFICATION 

Individual certifies that funds have been encumbered as 
required by Minnesota Statutes §16A.15 and §16C.05.* 

Signed: 

Date:  

SWIFT Contract (SC) ID No. 

Purchase Order (PO) ID No.  

*PO staged and to be encumbered with future State fiscal
year funds.

RECIPIENT 

Recipient certifies that the appropriate person(s) have 
executed Contracts on behalf of Recipient as required by 
applicable articles, bylaws or resolutions. 

By: 

Title: 

Date: 

By: 

Title: 

Date: 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

By:  
(with delegated authority) 

Title: 

Date: 

MnDOT CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

By: 

Date: 



Rev. 1/2016 
RESOLUTION 

AUTHORIZATION  TO  EXECUTE 
MINNESOTA  DEPARTMENT  OF  TRANSPORTATION 

AIRPORT  MAINTENANCE  AND  OPERATION GRANT CONTRACT 

It is resolved by the Duluth Airport Authority as follows: 

1. That the state of Minnesota Contract Number 1053349,

"Airport Maintenance and Operation Grant Contract,” at the

Duluth Sky Harbor Airport is accepted.

2. That the __________________________ and ____________________________  are
(Mayor, Chairperson, President, etc.) (Clerk, Auditor, Secretary, etc.)

authorized to execute this Contract and any amendments on behalf of the 

Duluth Airport Authority. 

CERTIFICATION 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

COUNTY OF  ____________________ 

I certify that the above Resolution is a true and correct copy of the Resolution adopted by the 

 _________________________________________________________________________________ 
(Name of the Recipient) 

at an authorized meeting held on the  ______________  day of  ________________________ , 20 

as shown by the minutes of the meeting in my possession. 

Signature:  _________________________________ 
(Clerk or Equivalent) 

 __________________________________________ 
CORPORATE  SEAL /OR/ NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Commission Expires:  ____________________ 

VII - C



 MnDOT Contract No. 1053349 

Page 1 of 6 

Duluth Airport Authority (Duluth Sky Harbor Airport) 24-25 M O 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

AIRPORT MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION GRANT CONTRACT 

 

State Project Number (S.P.): A6901A-MO24 
State Project Number (S.P.): A6901A-MO25 
 

This contract is between the State of Minnesota, acting through its Commissioner of Transportation (“State”) and Duluth 
Airport Authority (Duluth Sky Harbor Airport) acting through its Airport Authority (“Recipient”). 

 

RECITALS 

1. Minnesota Statutes §§360.015 and 360.305 authorize State to provide financial assistance to airports for 
maintenance and operation activities. 

2. Recipient owns, operates, or controls an airport (“Airport”) in the state system, and Recipient desires financial 
assistance from the State for maintenance and operation activities for State Fiscal Year 2024 and State Fiscal Year 
2025. 

3. Recipient represents that it is duly qualified and agrees to perform all services described in this contract to the 
satisfaction of the State.  

 

CONTRACT TERMS 

1. Term of Contract and Survival of Terms  

1.1. Effective Date: This contract will be effective on July 1, 2023, or the date State obtains all required 
signatures under Minnesota Statutes §16B.98, subdivision 5, whichever is later. As 
required by Minnesota Statutes §16B.98 Subd. 7, no payments will be made to Recipient 
until this contract is fully executed.  

1.2. Expiration Date: This contract will expire on June 30, 2025. 

1.3. Survival of Terms: All clauses which impose obligations continuing in their nature and which must survive 
in order to give effect to their meaning will survive the expiration or termination of this 
contract, including, but not limited to, the following clauses: 9. Indemnification; 10. State 
Audits; 11. Government Data Practices; 13. Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Venue; and 
14. Data Disclosure. 

2. Recipient’s Duties 

2.1. Recipient will operate and maintain the Airport in a safe, serviceable manner for aeronautical purposes only for 
the use and benefit of the public. 

2.2. The Recipient will keep the runway and the area around the lights mowed at the Airport. The grass must be 
mowed at least 7 feet beyond the lights, and the grass must not exceed 6 inches in height on the landing area. 
The areas around any navigational aids will be mowed and plowed to keep the area clear for access by a 
vehicle. 

2.3. If the Airport remains operational during the winter months, the Recipient will keep at least one runway, 
associated taxiway, and apron area cleared of snow and ice to the same priority as arterial roads. Snow banks 
must be limited in height so that aircraft wings, engines, and propellers will clear them. Landing strip markers 
and/or lights must remain visible. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053349 

Page 2 of 6 

2.4. If the State contracts for the periodic paint striping of the Airport’s runways and taxiways during the term of 
this Contract, the Recipient will cooperate with the marking operation. The Recipient must coordinate seal coat 
pavement maintenance projects with the State to maximize the pavement marking life. 

2.5. The Recipient will allow a representative of the State’s Office of Aeronautics access to any area of the Airport 
necessary for the purpose of periodic inspections.  

2.6. The Recipient will promptly pay all utility bills, including those required for navigational aids. 

3. Recipient’s Assurances 

3.1. In accordance with Minnesota Statutes § 360.305, subdivision 4, Recipient assures the State that Recipient will 
operate and maintain the Airport in a safe, serviceable manner for public aeronautical purposes only for a period 
of one year from the date the Recipient receives final reimbursement under this contract. 

3.2. Recipient represents and warrants that Recipient has established a zoning authority for the Airport, and such 
authority has completed, or is in the process of and will complete, with due diligence, an airport zoning 
ordinance in accordance with Minnesota Statutes §§ 360.061 to 360.074. 

3.3. Recipient will comply with all required grants management policies and procedures set forth through Minnesota 
Statutes §16B.97, Subd. 4 (a) (1). 

4. Third-Party Contracting 

4.1. Recipient will comply with all applicable local, state, or federal laws, regulations, policies and procedures in the 
procurement of goods and services funded in whole or in part under this Contract. 

5. Consideration and Payment 

5.1. Consideration. State will pay for all eligible telecommunication, maintenance, and operation costs incurred by 
Recipient under this Contract as follows: 

5.1.1. Basis. Recipient will be reimbursed for 100% of telecommunication costs associated with the operation 
of state-owned navigational aids. Recipient will be paid for 75% of all other eligible maintenance and 
operation costs not reimbursed by any other source. Eligible maintenance and operations costs will be 
determined at the sole discretion of State’s Authorized Representative. 

5.1.2. Telecommunication Amount. State has currently obligated $0.00 in each State fiscal year to reimburse 
eligible telecommunication costs at 100%.  

5.1.3. Maintenance and Operation Amount. State has currently obligated  $17,853.00  in each State fiscal 
year to reimburse other eligible costs at 75%.  

5.1.4. Total Obligation. The total obligation of State for all compensation and reimbursements to Recipient 
under this contract will not exceed  $35,706.00  (State fiscal years 2024 and 2025). 

5.2. Payment. 

5.2.1. Invoices. The Recipient must submit a reimbursement request of its eligible costs to the Director of the 
Office of Aeronautics on a quarterly basis or as directed by State’s Authorized Representative. The 
State’s Office of Aeronautics will supply the reimbursement request forms which Recipient must submit. 
Reimbursement requests must be submitted according to the following schedule: 

• On or after October 1, and no later than November 15, for the period July 1 through September 30. 
• On or after January 1, and no later than February 15, for the period October 1 through December 

31. 
• On or after April 1, and no later than May 15, for the period January 1 through March 31. 
• On or after July 1, and no later than August 15, for the period April 1 through June 30. 

The State may reject costs that the State determines are not eligible maintenance and operations 
expenses.  

5.2.2. All Invoices Subject to Audit. All invoices are subject to audit, at State’s discretion. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053349 

Page 3 of 6 

5.2.3. State’s Payment Requirements. State will promptly pay all valid obligations under this contract as 
required by Minnesota Statutes §16A.124. State will make undisputed payments no later than 30 days 
after receiving Recipient’s invoices and progress reports for services performed. If an invoice is 
incorrect, defective or otherwise improper, State will notify Recipient within ten days of discovering the 
error. After State receives the corrected invoice, State will pay Recipient within 30 days of receipt of 
such invoice. 

5.2.4. Grant Monitoring Visit and Financial Reconciliation. If State’s total obligation is greater than 
$50,000 in section 5.1.4, above, during the period of performance the State will make at least one 
monitoring visit and conduct annual financial reconciliations of Recipient’s expenditures. The State’s 
Authorized Representative will notify Recipient’s Authorized Representative where and when any 
monitoring visit and financial reconciliation will take place, which State employees and/or contractors 
will participate, and which Recipient staff members should be present. Recipient will be provided notice 
prior to any monitoring visit or financial reconciliation. Following a monitoring visit or financial 
reconciliation, Recipient will take timely and appropriate action on all deficiencies identified by State. 
At least one monitoring visit and one financial reconciliation must be completed prior to final payment 
being made to Recipient.  

5.2.5. Closeout. The State will determine, at its sole discretion, whether a closeout audit is required prior to 
final payment approval. If a closeout audit is required, final payment will be held until the audit has been 
completed. Monitoring of any capital assets acquired with grant funds will continue following grant 
closeout. 

6. Conditions of Payment 

6.1. All services provided by Recipient under this contract must be performed to State’s satisfaction, as determined 
at the sole discretion of State’s Authorized Representative and in accordance with all applicable federal, state 
and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, including business registration requirements of the Office of 
the Secretary of State. Recipient will not receive payment for work found by State to be unsatisfactory or 
performed in violation of federal, state or local law. In addition to the foregoing, Recipient will not receive 
payment for Airport’s failure to pass periodic inspections by a representative of the State’s Office of 
Aeronautics.  

7. Authorized Representatives 

7.1. State’s Authorized Representative. State’s Authorized Representative will be: 

Name/Title: Jenny Bahneman, Grants Specialist Coordinator 

Address: Office of Aeronautics, 

 395 John Ireland Boulevard, Mail Stop 410 

 Saint Paul, Minnesota 55155 

E-Mail: jenny.bahneman@state.mn.us 

State’s Authorized Representative or his /her successor, will monitor Recipient’s performance and has the 
authority to accept or reject the services provided under this contract. If the Recipient’s duties are performed in 
a satisfactory manner, the State’s Authorized Representative will accept each reimbursement request submitted 
for payment. 

7.2. Recipient’s Authorized Representative. Recipient’s Authorized Representative will be: 

Name/Title: Joelle Bodin, Finance Director 

Address: Duluth International Airport, 4701 Grinden Drive, Duluth, MN  55811 

Telephone: (218) 725-2968 

E-Mail: jbodin@duluthairport.com 

If Recipient’s Authorized Representative changes at any time during this contract, Recipient must immediately 
notify State. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053349 

Page 4 of 6 

8. Assignment, Amendments, Waiver and Contract Complete 

8.1. Assignment. Recipient may neither assign nor transfer any rights or obligations under this contract without the 
prior consent of State and a fully executed Assignment Contract, executed and approved by the same parties 
who executed and approved this contract, or their successors in office. 

8.2. Amendments. An amendment to this contract must be in writing and will not be effective until it has been 
executed and approved by the same parties who executed and approved the original contract, or their successors 
in office. 

8.3. Waiver. If State fails to enforce any provision of this contract that failure does not waive the provision or 
State’s right to subsequently enforce it. 

8.4. Contract Complete. This contract contains all prior negotiations and agreements between State and Recipient. 
No other prior understanding regarding this contract, whether written or oral, may be used to bind either party.  

8.5. Electronic Records and Signatures.  The parties agree to contract by electronic means.  This includes using 
electronic signatures and converting original documents to electronic records. 

8.6. Certification.  By signing this Agreement, the Recipient certifies that it is not suspended or debarred from 
receiving federal or state awards. 

9. Indemnification 

9.1. In the performance of this contract by Recipient, or Recipient’s agents or employees, and to the extent permitted 
by law, Recipient must indemnify, save and hold State, its agents, and employees harmless from any and all 
claims or causes of action, including reasonable attorney’s fees incurred by State, to the extent caused by 
Recipient’s: 1) intentional, willful or negligent acts or omissions; 2) breach of contract or warranty; or 3) breach 
of the applicable standard of care. The indemnification obligations of this section do not apply if the claim or 
cause of action is the result of State’s sole negligence. This clause will not be construed to bar any legal 
remedies Recipient may have for State’s failure to fulfill its obligation pursuant to this contract. 

10. State Audits 

10.1. Under Minnesota Statutes § 16B.98, Subd.8, the Recipient’s books, records, documents, and accounting 
procedures and practices of Recipient, or other party relevant to this grant contract or transaction, are subject to 
examination by the State and/or the State Auditor or Legislative Auditor, as appropriate, for a minimum of six 
years from the end of this contract or receipt and approval of all final reports, whichever is later. Recipient will 
take timely and appropriate action on all deficiencies identified by an audit. 

11. Government Data Practices 

11.1. Recipient and State must comply with the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act, Minnesota Statutes 
Chapter 13, as it applies to all data provided by State under this contract, and as it applies to all data created, 
collected, received, stored, used, maintained or disseminated by Recipient under this contract. The civil 
remedies of Minnesota Statutes §13.08 apply to the release of the data referred to in this clause by either 
Recipient or State. If Recipient receives a request to release the data referred to in this Clause, Recipient must 
immediately notify State and consult with State as to how Recipient should respond to the request. Recipient’s 
response to the request must comply with applicable law. 

12. Workers’ Compensation 

12.1. Recipient certifies that it is in compliance with Minnesota Statutes §176.181, subdivision 2, pertaining to 
workers’ compensation insurance coverage. Recipient’s employees and agents will not be considered State 
employees. Any claims that may arise under the Minnesota Workers’ Compensation Act on behalf of these 
employees and any claims made by any third party as a consequence of any act or omission on the part of these 
employees are in no way the State’s obligation or responsibility. 

13. Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Venue 

13.1. Minnesota law, without regard to its choice-of-law provisions, governs this contract. Venue for all legal 
proceedings arising out of this contract, or its breach, must be in the appropriate state or federal court with 
competent jurisdiction in Ramsey County, Minnesota. 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053349 

Page 5 of 6 

14. Data Disclosure 

14.1. Under Minnesota Statutes §270C.65, and other applicable law, Recipient consents to disclosure of its social 
security number, federal employer tax identification number and Minnesota tax identification number, already 
provided to State, to federal and state agencies and state personnel involved in the payment of state obligations. 
These identification numbers may be used in the enforcement of federal and state laws which could result in 
action requiring Recipient to file state tax returns and pay delinquent state tax liabilities, if any, or pay other 
state liabilities. 

15. Termination and Suspension 

15.1. Termination by the State. The State may terminate this contract with or without cause, upon 30 days written 
notice to the Recipient. Upon termination, the Recipient will be entitled to payment, determined on a pro rata 
basis, for services satisfactorily performed. 

15.2. Termination for Cause. The State may immediately terminate this grant contract if the State finds that there 
has been a failure to comply with the provisions of this contract, that reasonable progress has not been made, 
that fraudulent or wasteful activity has occurred, that Recipient has been convicted of a criminal offense relating 
to a state grant agreement, or that the purposes for which the funds were granted have not been or will not be 
fulfilled. The State may take action to protect the interests of the State of Minnesota, including the refusal to 
disburse additional funds and requiring the return of all or part of the funds already disbursed. 

15.3. Termination for Insufficient Funding. The State may immediately terminate this contract if: It does not obtain 
funding from the Minnesota Legislature; or If funding cannot be continued at a level sufficient to allow for the 
payment of the services covered here. Termination must be by written or fax notice to the Recipient. The State 
is not obligated to pay for any services that are provided after notice and effective date of termination. However, 
the Recipient will be entitled to payment, determined on a pro rata basis, for services satisfactorily performed to 
the extent that funds are available. The State will not be assessed any penalty if the contract is terminated 
because of the decision of the Minnesota Legislature, or other funding source, not to appropriate funds. The 
State will provide the Recipient notice of the lack of funding within a reasonable time of the State’s receiving 
that notice. 

15.4. Suspension. The State may immediately suspend this contract in the event of a total or partial government 
shutdown due to the failure to have an approved budget by the legal deadline. Work performed by the Recipient 
during a period of suspension will be deemed unauthorized and undertaken at risk of non-payment. 

16. Discrimination Prohibited by Minnesota Statutes §181.59  

16.1. Recipient will comply with the provisions of Minnesota Statutes §181.59 which requires that every contract for 
or on behalf of the State of Minnesota, or any county, city, town, township, school, school district or any other 
district in the state, for materials, supplies or construction will contain provisions by which Contractor agrees: 
1) That, in the hiring of common or skilled labor for the performance of any work under any contract, or any 
subcontract, no Contractor, material supplier or vendor, will, by reason of race, creed or color, discriminate 
against the person or persons who are citizens of the United States or resident aliens who are qualified and 
available to perform the work to which the employment relates; 2) That no Contractor, material supplier, or 
vendor, will, in any manner, discriminate against, or intimidate, or prevent the employment of any person or 
persons identified in clause 1 of this section, or on being hired, prevent or conspire to prevent, the person or 
persons from the performance of work under any contract on account of race, creed or color; 3) That a violation 
of this section is a misdemeanor; and 4) That this contract may be canceled or terminated by the state of 
Minnesota, or any county, city, town, township, school, school district or any other person authorized to grant 
contracts for employment, and all money due, or to become due under the contract, may be forfeited for a 
second or any subsequent violation of the terms or conditions of this contract. 

17. Limitation. 

17.1. Under this contract, the State is only responsible for disbursing funds. Nothing in this contract will be construed 
to make the State a principal, co-principal, partner, or joint venturer with respect to the Project(s) covered 
herein. The State may provide technical advice and assistance as requested by the Recipient, however, the 
Recipient will remain responsible for providing direction to its contractors and consultants and for 



MnDOT Contract No. 1053349 

Page 6 of 6 

administering its contracts with such entities. The Recipient’s consultants and contractors are not intended to be 
third party beneficiaries of this contract. 

STATE ENCUMBRANCE VERIFICATION 

Individual certifies that funds have been encumbered as 
required by Minnesota Statutes §16A.15 and §16C.05.* 

Signed: 

Date:  

SWIFT Contract (SC) ID No. 

Purchase Order (PO) ID No.  

*PO staged and to be encumbered with future State fiscal
year funds.

RECIPIENT 

Recipient certifies that the appropriate person(s) have 
executed Contracts on behalf of Recipient as required by 
applicable articles, bylaws or resolutions. 

By: 

Title: 

Date: 

By: 

Title: 

Date: 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

By:  
(with delegated authority) 

Title: 

Date: 

MnDOT CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

By: 

Date: 



MEMORANDUM 
To: Duluth Airport Authority Board of Directors 

From: Tom Werner 

Date: 06/14/2023 

Re: Employee Incentive Award – Winter Season 2022-2023 

In accordance with Duluth Airport Authority’s (DAA) Operating Policy 5 (OP 5), I recommend a $1000 
incentive award for all operations and maintenance employees involved with the record setting winter 
the Duluth Airport Authority experienced in 2022-2023: 

- Ryan Welch
- Paul Sinnott
- Dan Taylor
- Matt Johnson
- Roger Engelmeier
- Wade Cossalter

All these employees have gone ‘Above and Beyond’ the call of their specific job descriptions and deserve 
recognition for living our organization’s values.  Additional details are provided below. 

The winter season of 2022-2023 was one that started early and continued at a record setting pace 
across every spectrum.  The below graphic summarizes the winter season extremely well. 

Every one of the employees listed above worked countless hours to make this airport safe and 
operational over an entire season.  Not only did this winter set records for snow totals, but also in the 
number of days that we had measurable snow.  

- Derek Anderson
- Tristan Durfee
- Justin Tibodeau
- John Graves
- John Orrey
- Mike Fellerson

VII - D



It is without question that the operations and maintenance team warrants recognition for their 
extraordinary efforts this winter.  

Please refer questions regarding this recommendation to the undersigned. 

Sincerely, 

Tom Werner, C.M. 
Executive Director  



MEMORANDUM 
To: Duluth Airport Authority Board of Directors 

From: Mark Papko,  

Date: June 12th, 2023 

Re: Summary of Consultant Selection Process 

The Duluth Airport Authority (DAA) intends to design and construct and new Air Traffic Control 
Tower at Duluth International Airport.  To accomplish this the Duluth Airport Authority completed 
a competitive request for qualifications in accordance with current local regulations and 
requirements of the Duluth Airport Authority.  The specific scope of products and services 
requested include: 

1. Architectural Design Services
2. Civil Engineering and Land Surveying Services (if further services are required
beyond the preliminary design underway)
3. Environmental Consulting Services (if further environmental services are needed
beyond the Environmental Assessment already underway)
4. Capital Financial Consulting Services
5. Project and Construction Administration Services
6. Political Engagement, Community Involvement and Public Relations

The following is a timeline of key dates: 

RFQ Issued March 14, 2023 

*Mandatory (In-person or Virtual) Pre-Bid + Optional Tour
of Future DLH ATCT Site

March 28th, 2023 

RFQ Questions Due March 30th, 2023 
RFQ Due Date April 21st, 2023 
RFQ Presentation/Interview May 8th, 2023 
RFQ Approval - Authority Board June 20th, 2023 
Agreement - Effective June 20th, 2023 

VII - E



2 

The DAA received three qualified written proposals at which point all three firms were advanced 
to the in-person interview/presentation portion.  The grading criteria for the firm’s written 
proposal is shown below: 

The grading criteria for the in-person interview/presentation is shown below: 

Grading criteria from the written portion (worth 50% of total overall grade) and the in-person 
interview/presentation portion (worth 50% of total overall grade) were tallied together to find the 
most qualified firm. 

Based on final scoring the Duluth Airport Authority staff selected EXP to move forward for final 
selection and contract award. 

For questions regarding this procurement action please contact the undersigned. 

Mark Papko, A.A.E 

Director of Operations 

Evaluation Criteria Definition

Qualifications and competence of the firm Provide firm biography and history of the firm’s aviation 
services business.

Experience of the firms’ employees in the type of service being 
sought.

List recent experience in similar ATCT projects and ability to 
meet timelines/schedules. Identification of key personnel 
through prime and subconsultants meet the demanding 

management of complex multi-phase construction projects on 
time and on budget.

Firms’ familiarity with and proximity to the geographic location of 
the projects

Indicate office location(s) where work will be performed and 
familiarity with DLH specific processes and policies.

Knowledge and experience construction ATCT and working with 
personnel, policies and procedures of the ATCT construction 

process.

Indicate ability to complete an ATCT build while working with 
local, state, and federal agencies including but not limited to 

ADO, ATO, AFTIL, RA, etc.

Firms’ ability to provide political support and community 
involvement to assist with outreach, advocacy, funding 

requests, etc.

Firm’s history and experience of performance in assisting 
clients with local, state, and federal engagement in high value 

and/or sensitive projects.

Weight %

10%

20%

20%

30%

20%

Evaluation Criteria Definition

Overview of Services Firm outlined the overview of their firm's services and how they 
would fit with the DAA.

Qualifications and Fit
Firm's team that would be working on the DLH ATCT is present, 

providing a understanding and famillitarity of the local area, 
tenants, and DAA Team.

Public Engagement Firm's ability to craft a well rounded public/political engagement 
campagin for local, regional, and national engagement.

Responses to Questions
Firm was able to provide sound response and justification with 

relevant examples to all of the DAA's questions during the 
interview

Overall Presentation/Interview Compliance
Firm was able to follow all instructions in providing a well rounded 

presentation/interview
10%

Weight %

20%

15%

15%

40%



Duluth International Airport 

Professional Airport Consulting Services 
Request for Qualifications 

Issued: March 14, 2023 
Proposals Due: April 21, 2023



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

1. Introduction

In accordance with FAA Advisory Circular 150/5100-14E and the policies and procedures of the 
Duluth Airport Authority (DAA) or “Authority”, notice is hereby given that a Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ) for professional airport consulting services is requested from firms to render 
services required in connection with projects at Duluth International Airport (DLH). It is the intent 
of the DAA to select and negotiate with one prime airport consultant for the duration of the project 
identified below (or 5 years). 

The project(s) for this RFQ is for the planning, design, engineering, and construction phase 
services of a New Air Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) at the Duluth International Airport.  The 
specific delivery method is intended to be a traditional design – bid – build but the Authority 
reserves the right to modify this approach. 

2. Background

Duluth International Airport’s Air Traffic Control Tower is over 70 years old making it the 3rd oldest 
in the country.  In addition to its age, it has many other non-compliant issues including line-of-
sight, and life, health, and safety, deteriorating conditions, etc. 

The DLH ATCT is operated by the FAA but owned and maintained by the DAA, making this a 
unique facility, not commonly found at airports in the United States.  The airport will leverage a 
mix of funding sources to complete this project including competitive funding through the FAA’s 
Airport Terminal Program (ATP), State of Minnesota Bonding/Cash, as well as local DAA cash 
reserves.  The early estimated cost of the ATCT replacement is fifty-two million dollars. This 
includes predesign work and a number of enabling projects.  

In September of 2022, the DAA began the AFTIL (Airway Facilities Tower Integration Laboratory) 
process to determine the location of the new Tower.  During AFTIL the Airport studied seven 
different locations.  Of those seven locations only two locations remain as options for the future 
site.  AFTIL is currently finalizing the site location and accompanying site requirements workbook 
(expected delivery in April 2023).   

3. Current Status and Looking Forward

In January 2023, the DAA began the Environmental Assessment and Preliminary Design to 
include utility locates, topographic surveys, civil site preliminary design, stormwater analysis, 
architectural, structural, mechanical, and electrical design considerations, schematic design 
report and project closeout documentation.  The DAA expects to receive a FONSI by early 
summer 2023.   

The DAA plans to apply for the Federal Fiscal Year 2024 Notice of Funding Opportunity for the 
Airport Terminal Program.  If successful and determined by the limitations imposed on the DAA 
by funding availability, construction may happen in multiple phases.  However, the duration of this 
contract will remain consistent throughout the project, regardless of funding. 

4. Scope of Services



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

 

Specific categories for airport consulting services surrounding the replacement of the DLH ATCT 
include but are not limited to: 
 

1. Architectural Design Services 
2. Civil Engineering and Land Surveying Services (if further services are required 

beyond the preliminary design underway) 
3. Environmental Consulting Services (if further environmental services are needed 

beyond the Environmental Assessment already underway) 
4. Capital Financial Consulting Services  
5. Project and Construction Administration Services 
6. Political Engagement, Community Involvement and Public Relations 

 
Further details are identified below: 
 
Design Services - including programming, schematic design, design development, and 
construction document services: 

• Provide and educate an architectural design that minimizes the need for ongoing 
maintenance throughout the new Tower’s useful life. 

• Educate a design that acknowledges the differences/requirements between airport owned 
towers versus that of contract/FAA owned towers. 

• Leverage existing FAA standard design elements where applicable to reduce overall 
design cost/elements. 

• Based on the FAA approval of the future ATCT site the Consultant will be requested to 
provide full bid documents of required improvements for the project delivery method. 

• Geotechnical evaluations and surveys required for design completion. 
• Coordinate and assist Owner with meeting all relevant FAA approvals, submissions, 

meetings, or inspections. 
• Evaluate and identify existing equipment to be relocated from old to new ATCT. 
• Prepare plans for demolition of old ATCT. 
• Prepare and submit applicable regulatory permit applications, as required. 
• Create and maintain the overall project schedule, from preliminary planning through 

construction completion and ATCT commissioning. 
• Analyze utility impacts and design necessary relocations. Coordinate with local utilities. 
• Assist the Authority with obtaining all necessary local, state, and federal construction 

permits (if any). 
• Specify requirements for an Operational and Transition Plan from the old to new ATCT. 

 
Supplemental Services – Bidding, Analyzing Bid Results, Material Testing, Construction 
Administration and Observation, Commissioning and Post Construction Warranty Inspection 
Services and Construction Phase Services: 
 

• Review contractor’s overall project schedule and monthly updates through construction 
completion and ATCT commissioning. 

• Acquire FAA frequency confirmations and FCC license updates. 
• Conduct and document construction progress meetings. 
• Make periodic site visits by respective design disciplines to observe work for conformance 

to project design and specifications. 
• Evaluate and respond to nonconformities, requests for information, requests for change 

orders to the work, etc. 
• Reviewing and approving materials submittals, shop and erection drawings submitted by 

Contractor for compliance with design concept/drawings. 



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

• Provide an independent testing company to conduct control and testing of construction
materials.

• Reviewing, analyzing, and approving laboratory and mill test reports of materials and
equipment.

• Prepare and execute various reports, payment applications and documents as required.
• Review and coordinate the Operational and Transition Plan from old to new ATCT.
• Coordinate removal and re-installation of existing FAA equipment from old into new

ATCT/and container unit.
• The awarded Consultant should be prepared to attend all meetings with the Authority and

the FAA as required. The Authority may, at its own discretion modify, expand, or reduce
the Scope of Services as the need arises.

• Other related activities, i.e., GIS, land survey, quality control and construction safety plans,
photography surveys, update of ALP etc.

Project Closeout: 

Project close out services to include all basic services rendered after the completion of a 
construction contract including final inspections, punch list and a report of the completed project 
for FAA submission. This will include record drawings (prepared from contractor’s redlines), 
summary of material testing, change orders, grant amendment, final financial summary, and 
obtaining release of liens from all contractors. The fee associated with this portion of the project 
will be approved under a separate Task Order issued on the base contract. 

5. Statement of Qualifications Format/Layout

Firms are invited to provide a Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) for the categories listed above. 
Generally, the format for the SOQ shall be as follows: 

Part I. Executive Summary 

Prefacing the submittal document, the Consultant shall provide an Executive Summary of three 
(3) pages or less, which gives in brief, concise terms, a summation of the submittal document.
The Executive Summary shall include a brief statement of intent to perform the services, why
your firm would be the best choice to provide the requested services, qualifications for selection,
and signature of authorized officer of the firm who has legal authority in such transactions. Also,
include the name, address and telephone number of person or persons in your organization
authorized to negotiate contract terms and render binding decisions.

Part II. Project Approach 

• Describe your firm’s understanding of the project in its entirety, including your firm’s
understanding of the work involved.

• Describe the work your firm anticipates self-performing and the work you anticipate being
performed by subconsultants.

• Describe your firm’s management approach and methods for developing and
implementing the scope of work with the airport, including how to effectively coordinate
with multiple stakeholders.

• Describe your proposed methodology for determining the best value design incorporating
aesthetics and building materials.

• List any challenges you have identified with the project and how your firm would work to
manage them effectively.



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

 

 
Part III. Firm/Corporate Qualifications 
 

• Provide a brief profile and history of the firm including how long the firm has been in 
business and a summary of the types of projects the firm specializes in including relevant 
experience to provide the requested services. 

• List the location of the office(s) to perform the work. 
• Prepare an organization chart that identifies all key personnel, including names and titles, 

that would perform work for this project. 
 
Part IV. Staff/Team Qualifications 
 

• Provide a one-page resume for the project manager and other key personnel and describe 
their role(s) on the project. 

• Identify proposed subconsultants including their role(s) on this project, qualifications, and 
related experience. Include a one-page resume for subconsultant’s key staff. 

• Identify the team tasked with engaging political support from both parties at the local, state, 
and federal levels. 

• Provide maximum opportunity for DBE participation. 
• Briefly describe the team’s experience working together. 
• Provide workload summaries for all key personnel including sub-consultants. 

 
Part V. Demonstrated Experience 
 

• Describe your firm’s recent relevant experience and qualifications to provide the requested 
services, specifically A&E and construction services for an FAA operated but airport 
owned tower. 

• Please provide at least two (2) (but not limited to) previous projects completed by your 
firm or currently in progress that are similar in scope to this proposed project, or that you 
feel give your firm the required experience needed for this project. Do not use more than 
two pages per project. At a minimum, please provide the following details for each project: 

 
1. Project description and scope 
2. Location 
3. Owner name & contact person with telephone and email for referral 
purposes 
4. A&E Fees 
5. Proposed construction budget vs. actual 
6. Proposed design & construction schedules vs. actual 
7. Identification of roles (Identify Primes and Subconsultants) 
8. LEED Certification description, or other sustainability items involved 
 

• List and describe any litigation, arbitration and/or claims filed by your firm against any 
project owner because of a contract dispute. 

• List and describe any claim filed against your firm. 
• List and describe termination from any projects. 

 
Part VI. Experience in LEED Certification/Environmental Sustainability  
 



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

• The Airport Authority has a strong desire to be a leader in environmental sustainability in
the Airport, as well as the surrounding community and the aviation industry as a whole.
Please provide a description of your experience with LEED certifications, why this should
be an important component of the project, and any other information on this topic that you
deem valuable.

Part VII Conceptual Rendering of the future DLH ATCT located at the proposed future ATCT 
location (Airport Preferred Location): 

Lat: 46 50’ 15.39”N      
Long:  092 11’ 47.56”W  
Top of Tower Height: 153’ Above Ground Level (Approved by AFTIL) 
Eye Level of Controller: 123’ Above Ground Level  
Site Layout: 

All qualifications statements shall be limited to 60 pages single sided pages (or 30 double sided 
pages). Part VII is not included in the overall 60-page limitation requirement. 
6 .  Submission Guidelines 

All statements must be received at the address below no later than local time 
3:00 p.m. April 21, 2023. All proposals must be addressed to: 

Duluth Airport Authority 
RFQ Professional Airport Consulting Services 

Attn: Mark Papko 
4701 Grinden Drive 
Duluth, MN 55811 



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

All statements must be submitted in a sealed envelope clearly marked with RFQ Airport 
Consulting Services. All submittals shall include one (1) complete, original statement marked 
“ORIGINAL”; six (6) complete copies of the original statement; and other related documentation 
required by this RFQ as well as one (1) electronic copy (USB drive.).  Any RFQ submittal not 
received by the deadline may not be considered.  

All questions concerning this RFQ shall be submitted to Mr. Mark Papko via email on or 
before March 30th, 2023. Mr. Papko will respond to all parties who attended the pre-bid no later 
than April 3rd, 2023. 

Mr. Mark Papko 
Director of Operations 

mpapko@duluthairport.com 

7. Timeline of Events

*Mandatory (In-person or Virtual) Pre-Bid + Optional
Tour of Future DLH ATCT Site

March 28th, 2023 

RFQ Questions Due March 30th, 2023 
RFQ Questions Answered By April 3rd, 2023 
RFQ Due Date April 21st, 2023 
RFQ Presentation/Interview May 1st – May 5th, 2023 
RFQ Approval - Authority Board May 2023 
Agreement - Effective May 2023 

*To be sent the link to participate in the virtual Pre-bid meeting please email Mark Papko with
your interest to attend at mpapko@duluthairport.com prior to March 28th, 2023.

8. Scoring Criteria

Statements submitted by the established deadline will be evaluated based upon the following 
criteria: 

Qualifications and competence of 
the firm 10% Provide firm biography and history of the firm’s 

aviation services business. 

Experience of the firms’ 
employees in the type of service 
being sought. 25% 

List recent experience in similar ATCT projects and 
ability to meet timelines/schedules. Identification of 
key personnel through prime and subconsultants 
meet the demanding management of complex multi-
phase construction projects on time and on budget. 

Firms’ familiarity with and 
proximity to the geographic 
location of the projects 

20% Indicate office location(s) where work will be 
performed and familiarity with DLH specific processes 
and policies. 

mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com
mailto:mpapko@duluthairport.com


REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

Knowledge and experience 
construction ATCT and working 
with personnel, policies and 
procedures of the ATCT 
construction process. 

30% 
Indicate ability to complete an ATCT build while 
working with local, state, and federal agencies 
including but not limited to ADO, ATO, AFTIL, RA, 
etc. 

Firms’ ability to provide political 
support and community 
involvement to assist with 
outreach, advocacy, funding 
requests, etc. 

15% 
Firm’s history and experience of performance in 
assisting clients with local, state, and federal 
engagement in high value and/or sensitive projects. 

Following submittal, the Statements of Qualifications will be reviewed and evaluated. Based upon 
the written submissions in response to this RFQ, the DAA will rank the firms in each criterion that 
it feels are most qualified to provide the required services. At its sole discretion, the DAA may 
interview up to 3 top ranked proposers, or make its final selection based entirely upon the 
written response to the RFQ.  

9. Selection and Negotiation

Upon final decision of the selected firm, contract negotiations for a Professional Services 
Agreement will be initiated. The length of this Professional Services Agreement will be for a five 
(5) year term from the date of contract execution.

Based on a combination of the evaluation of the Statement of Qualifications and results of the 
presentation and interview, the Selection Committee shall select the highest ranked A&E firm to 
proceed with the development of the Scope of Work & Contract negotiations. An opportunity to 
provide a detailed cost estimate and an Independent Fee Estimate will be performed for the 
project scope before contract signing. If an agreement cannot be successfully negotiated with the 
highest ranked firm, negotiations may be terminated with that firm and the Authority may enter 
negotiations with the next highest ranked firm until an agreement is reached or an impasse is 
declared. 

The negotiation of individual project contracts and associated fees shall occur at the time those 
services are needed for an approved and funded project. If a price cannot be agreed upon 
between the DAA and the selected firm during negotiations for each individual project contract, 
then the DAA reserves the right to terminate negotiations and initiate a new procurement action. 
Individual project contracts are limited to those projects that can reasonably be expected to be 
initiated within five (5) years of the date that the initial Professional Services Agreement contract 
is executed, unless specifically approved by the FAA. 

Although the Authority encourages the Consultants to develop their own management teams, the 
Authority reserves the right to issue multiple contracts and select subcontractors. 

Understanding the wide diversity of professional disciplines required to complete all of the above 
proposed projects, and to allow for the maximum participation of DBE’s, additional sub 
consultants may be proposed, for approval by airport management, as each individual project 
contract is negotiated. It is the policy of the DAA that Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBEs) 
shall have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts financed in 
whole or part with federal funds. All firms providing professional services for the DAA shall take 



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

 

all necessary and reasonable steps in accordance with 49 CFR, Part 23, to ensure that DBEs 
have the maximum opportunity to compete for and perform contracts without discrimination on 
the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, handicap, or gender. 
 
Each firm is charged with the responsibility of making an on-site inspection of the Airports and its 
environs. Failure on the part of any firm to make such examination and on-site inspection shall 
not constitute grounds for declaration by a firm that it did not understand the conditions with 
respect to its SOQ. All firms are responsible for costs associated with the preparation of materials 
in response to this RFQ, and the DAA assumes no responsibility for any such costs. 
 
10. Mandatory Disclosures.  
 
By submitting a proposal, each Bidder understands, represents, and acknowledges that: 
 

1. Their proposal has been developed by the Bidder independently and has been 
submitted without collusion with and without agreement, understanding, or planned 
common course of action with any other vendor or suppliers of materials, supplies, 
equipment, or services described in the Request for Proposals, designed to limit 
independent bidding or competition, and that the contents of the proposal have not 
been communicated by the Bidder or its employees or agents to any person not an 
employee or agent of the Bidder. 

 
2. There is no conflict of interest.  A conflict of interest exists if a Bidder has any interest 

that would actually conflict, or has the appearance of conflicting, in any manner or 
degree with the performance of work on the project.  If there are potential conflicts, 
identify the municipalities, developers, and other public or private entities with whom 
your company is currently, or has been, employed and which may be affected. 

 
3. It is not currently under suspension or debarment by the State of Minnesota, any other 

state or the federal government. 
 

4. The company is either organized under Minnesota law or has a Certificate of Authority 
from the Minnesota Secretary of State to do business in Minnesota, in accordance with 
the requirements in M.S. 303.03. 

 
5. Minnesota Department of Human Rights Affirmative Action Certification:  

A. Under MN Statute §473.144, DAA may not accept any bid or proposal for a 
contract or execute a contract for goods or services in excess of $100,000 with 
any business having more than forty (40) full-time employees within Minnesota on 
a single working day during the previous twelve (12) months, unless the firm or 
business has an affirmative action plan for the employment of minority persons, 
women, and qualified disabled individuals that has been approved by the 
Commissioner of the Minnesota Department of Human Rights. Further, DAA may 
not accept any bid or proposal for a contract or execute a contract for goods or 
services in excess of $100,000 with any business having more than forty (40) full-
time employees on a single working day during the previous twelve (12) months in 
the state where the business has its primary place of business, unless the business 
has a certificate of compliance issued by the Commissioner of the State of 
Minnesota Department of Human Rights or the business certifies to DAA that it is 
in compliance with federal affirmative action requirements. Each firm submitting a 
proposal must transmit documentation indicating the firm's compliance or 



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES 

exemption from the above requirements. 

6. Minnesota Government Data Practices Act
A. Data supplied in response to this RFQ by businesses, firms and individuals is

governed by the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act in that:
1. The information requested will be used to evaluate each proposer's

qualifications.
2. The proposer is not legally required to supply this information; however,

failure to supply the information requested may result in the SOQ
receiving lesser consideration and a determination by DAA that the SOQ
is non-responsive.

3. The public is authorized to receive information that is not classified by law
as private, confidential, or non-public data. The proposer is responsible
to clearly identify any data classified by law as private, confidential, or
non-public data and to provide the specific basis for the classification
when the data is submitted to DAA.

The DAA reserves the right to reject any and all Statement of Qualifications or to re- advertise 
for additional Statement of Qualifications. 



1 of 6 

 

  

  

  

  
 

  
  

   

   

   

  

  
 

  

  

  
  

MASTER CONSULTING TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

THIS AGREEMENT is made effective as of the ______ day of _____________, 2023 between Duluth 
Airport Authority ("Client") and EXP U.S. Services Inc. ("Consultant")  

WHEREAS the parties have agreed upon terms and conditions under which the Consultant will perform 
architectural and engineering and/or other consulting services from time to time for Client, pursuant to 
written or verbal work orders or requests for services confirmed in writing by purchase orders issued by 
Client (“Services”): 

NOW THEREFORE the parties agree that these terms and conditions will form part of each engagement 
of the Consultant to provide consulting services to Client, together with a project specific scope of work and 
purchase order as more particularly described herein. 

1.0 Contract Documents 

1.1 These terms and conditions govern the services provided by the Consultant to Client from time to 
time.  

1.2 These terms and conditions do not obligate Client to retain the Consultant or require the 
Consultant to accept any request from Client. 

1.3 Each project that is to be carried out by the Consultant on behalf of Client will require and be 
governed by: 

a)

b)

c)

a request for services or work order that confirms the scope of services required;

a purchase order (“P.O.” or “Purchase Order”); and

these Master Consulting Terms and Conditions (“MCTC”).

1.4 Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following documents (collectively “Contract 
Documents” or “Agreement”) will constitute the terms of agreement between the parties for the 
performance of Services in respect of a particular project: 

a)

a.

b.

c.

d.

b)

c)

d)

e)

f)

Request for Proposal (“RFP”), or other written work order or request for services
including:

A full definition of each assignment, including a scope of work with project
phasing and tasks, if required.

A fee and expense schedule for each assignment.

A timeline for each assignment.

Execution by the Consultant and the Authority’s Executive Director.

Written proposal or response of Consultant (“Proposal”) to request described in (a);

If a Proposal or response has been provided under (b), then a mutually agreed document
confirming the scope of services;

The applicable Purchase Order;

These Master Consulting Terms and Conditions, and

Any other document as is specifically identified or incorporated by reference in the
applicable Purchase Order.



2 of 6 

2.0 Services 

2.1 Consultant shall perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional 
standards. Client may stop or suspend the performance of the Services at any time. Unless 
occasioned by the Consultant, Client shall reimburse Consultant for its reasonable costs arising 
out of such stoppage or suspension. 

2.2 Consultant shall not change or alter the Services or perform any additional Services without 
Client’s written authorization, which authorization will not be unreasonably withheld or 
conditioned. 

2.3 Client may request that Consultant provide Services to affiliates of Client from time to time, 
including but not limited to any corporation or partnership in which Client holds a controlling 
interest. Consultant agrees that the MCTC shall apply to the provision of Services to the affiliate 
of Client. References to "Client" refer to or include any affiliate for whom the Consultant is 
providing Services, when appropriate. 

2.4 Consultant will endeavour to perform its Services using that degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by reputable members of its profession under similar circumstances. No other warranty 
express or implied is made or intended.  

3.0 Responsibility of Consultant 

3.1 In the performance of the Services Consultant, where applicable, shall: 

a)

b)

c)

d)

Appoint an authorized representative to represent and act for the Consultant.

Provide at its cost all necessary labour, machinery, equipment, tools, transportation,
materials, and other items necessary for the performance and completion of the Services
other than items which Client specifically agrees to furnish. Permits required for the
Consultant to carry on its business shall be the responsibility of the Consultant. Unless
the parties agree otherwise, Client shall be responsible for any other permits or licenses
required in connection with the applicable project.

Comply with applicable legislation, regulations and codes.

Take reasonable precautions to protect the premises and those for whom the Consultant
is responsible from damage or injury. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the Consultant
shall not be responsible for safety of the site on which the Services are performed.

4.0 Remuneration 

4.1 Unless the parties agree otherwise, the following remuneration will apply to all Services: 

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

Consultant will invoice Client for fees and disbursements monthly for services incurred in
the period.

Client will pay the Consultant its fees and disbursements in connection with Services
performed under the applicable Purchase Order. The method of billing fees and
disbursements will be as agreed between Client and the Consultant, confirmed in writing.

If a contingency amount is specified in addition to the amount set out in (a) above, such
contingency shall be paid to the Consultant as fees or otherwise upon the prior written
approval of Client, acting reasonably.

Disbursements will be in addition to the fees payable.

Invoices will be payable by Client for Services performed within thirty (30) days of receipt



3 of 6 

  
  

  
 

  
 

 

  
 
 

 

f)

g)

of an invoice in a form agreed upon by the parties. 

Harmonized Sales Tax (HST), to the extent applicable, will be shown separately on all
invoices and will be paid by Client to the Consultant.

All invoices submitted by the Consultant to Client shall include the Purchase Order
Number or other identifying information assigned by Client.

5.0 Time 

5.1 The Consultant shall perform the Services as expeditiously as is consistent with professional skill 
and care and the orderly progress of the work. 

5.2 In the event of any Force Majeure, reasonable time extensions and/or fee adjustments will be 
allowed by Client. “Force Majeure” means an event that results in either party being delayed or 
unable to perform any part of its obligations under this Agreement due to labour disputes, strikes, 
walkouts, fire, unusual delay by common carriers, unavoidable catastrophe, or circumstances of 
any kind beyond the control of such party including without restricting the generality of the 
foregoing, acts of God, fire, war, governmental regulations. In such an event the affected party 
will be excused from the performance of any obligation to the extent that performance is 
prevented, hindered or delayed by such causes. Upon the occurrence of any such event, the 
affected party shall notify the other party and use reasonable efforts to remedy or correct the 
delay or failure to perform as soon as possible. The party delayed, hindered or prevented from 
performing any part of its obligations will not be liable to the other party for any damages, 
however sustained by the other party, or for any failure to perform any act, or non-performance of 
any obligations due to any of these circumstances. 

6.0 Insurance 

6.1 Consultant shall maintain the following insurance coverage during the Term: 

a)

b)

Commercial General Liability (“CGL”) insurance for bodily injury (including death) property
damage in the amount of ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) limit per occurrence
and in the aggregate;

Professional Liability insurance for damages arising out of errors, omissions, or negligent
acts by or on behalf of the Consultant in providing professional services under this
agreement in the amount of ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) per claim and in
the aggregate.

6.2 Consultant shall provide Client with thirty (30) days written notice of cancellation of such 
insurance policies. 

6.3 Consultant shall furnish an insurance certificate as evidence of such policies and of the renewal 
or continuance of such insurances within thirty (30) business days of any expiry 

7.0 Indemnification and Liability 

7.1 Consultant agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Client from any loss or damage for any claims 
or portions therefor which are determined by a court to arise from the negligence of EXP.  

7.2 Client agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Consultant from any loss or damage for which 
Client is legally responsible. Client will not be liable for any bodily or personal injury or property 
damage suffered by Consultant, its employees, agents or sub-consultants in the performance of 
any Agreement, except to the extent caused by the Client. 

7.3 In no event will either party be liable to the other for such other party's loss of profit and lost 
revenues or for any special, indirect, incidental or consequential damages arising out of this 



4 of 6 

agreement. 

7.4 Consultant’s aggregate liability for any and all Services performed pursuant to this Agreement 
shall in no event exceed the amount of fee paid by the Client. This limitation of liability shall apply 
to all suits, claims, actions, losses, costs and damages of any nature, including but not limited to 
legal fees and expenses, tort damages, contract damages, strict liability damages, liquidated 
damages, economic losses, penalties and fines arising from or related to this Agreement without 
regard to the legal theory under which such liability is imposed. 

8.0 Independent Contractor 

8.1 Consultant is an independent contractor with respect to all Services performed under the MCTC 
and shall not be deemed to be the agent, servant or representative of Client in performance of 
such Services. Neither party shall be liable for the actions or omissions of the other party, except 
as may otherwise be stated in any applicable Agreement. 

9.0 Confidentiality 

9.1 Confidential information or property of Client is not to be employed other than in the performance 
of Services for Client unless otherwise duly authorized by Client in writing or unless the 
confidential information has become part of the public domain other than by prohibited divulgence 
or use. This requirement does not prohibit the Consultant from complying with an order to provide 
information or data issued by a court or other authority with proper jurisdiction, or to act to correct 
or report a situation which the Consultant may reasonably believe to endanger the safety or 
welfare of the public.  

10.0 Intellectual Property 

10.1 Provided Client is not in default of its obligations to Consultant, Consultant shall provide to Client 
such deliverables in respect of the Services as may be agreed upon by the parties. A deliverable 
includes, without limitation, a design, plan, set of record drawings or report (“Deliverable”). 

10.2 Any and all documents, plans or materials in whatever form, including electronic media (software, 
disks, tapes, telecommunication, etc.) prepared pursuant to or otherwise resulting from this 
contract are instruments of professional service and shall be and at all times remain the sole 
property of EXP. Client shall be entitled to retain hard copy of such documents and plans for 
informational use and references in connection with Client’s use and occupancy of this specific 
property only. Computer diskettes of project documents will not be released by EXP without 
agreement in writing stipulating the terms and restriction of usage. Client shall have the non- 
exclusive license to use all software for Client’s internal business use only. All raw data or Client 
information furnished by Client to EXP which are incorporated in or processed by the software will 
continue to be owned by the Client, and not EXP. EXP will not be responsible for any 
consequence of re-use, other use, or adaptation of such documents without EXP’s express 
written approval. 

11.0 Records and Audit 

11.1 To support all charges invoiced to Client with respect to the Services, Consultant shall maintain 
a complete set of records for a period of two (2) years after the performance of such Services. 
Consultant shall allow Client to audit such records upon reasonable request, provided that 
Consultant shall have the right to exclude any trade secrets, formulas, or processes from any 
such audit. Consultant shall require each of its sub consultants to keep such records for 
inspection and audit by or on behalf of Client. 

12.0 Termination 

12.1 Each Agreement for Services will continue in from the date it is effective until terminated by either 
party on at least thirty (30) days written notice to the other. The termination of any Agreement will 



5 of 6 

not relieve either party of its respective obligations and liabilities arising from or incidental to 
Services performed prior to the time of such termination. An Agreement will continue in force for 
so long as is required to complete the Services agreed to prior to the receipt of the notice of 
cancellation. 

13.0 Insolvency 

13.1 In the event either party becomes insolvent, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors or is 
adjudged bankrupt or should any proceedings be instituted for the appointment of a receiver, 
trustee or liquidator or for a reorganization, then upon such occurrence the other party will have 
the right to cancel any Agreement and to terminate any Services then being performed by 
Consultant. 

14.0 Legislation and Jurisdiction 

14.1 Each Agreement and the Services contemplated thereunder will be subject to the laws of the 
jurisdiction in which the Services are performed. It is agreed that any legal interpretation given to 
an Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of [to be filled in]. 

14.2 Any action on any matter arising out of an Agreement shall be commenced in a court of 
competent jurisdiction in the State of [to be filled in]. 

15.0 Notices 

15.1 All communications and notices required or permitted to be given under an Agreement, unless 
otherwise specifically provided for, must be given in writing and delivered to a party as set out 
below: 

Client:  

Consultant:   

Any notice or other communication will be deemed to have been given on the next following 
business day or deemed to have been received on the fifth business day following deposit in the 
mail. In times of labour strikes or slow-downs affecting the mail delivery, notice by mail will be 
effective only if delivered or given by other effective means or upon actual receipt. Any party may 
change its address for service by notice served as set out above. 

 

16.0 Dispute Resolution 

16.1 If a dispute arises out of or relates to this contract and if said dispute cannot be settled through 
direct discussions, the parties hereto agree to first endeavor to settle the dispute in an amicable 
manner by mediation through the Construction Mediation Service before having recourse to 
arbitration or a judicial forum. 

17.0 Assignment and Subcontracting 

17.1 Neither party shall assign any obligations under any Agreement without the prior written consent 
of the other, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or conditioned. Consultant shall 
make commercially reasonable efforts to have any sub consultants comply with the terms and 
conditions of each Agreement. 

18.0 Successors and Assigns 

18.1 Each Agreement will be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties and their respective 
heirs, executors, administrators, receivers, trustees, successors, and approved assigns. 



6 of 6 

19.0 Waiver 

19.1 No previous waiver or course of dealing will affect either party's right to strict performance of any 
Agreement.  

20.0 Entire Agreement 

20.1 The Agreement between the parties for a particular project supersedes any other agreement 
between the parties, whether written or oral. 

21.0 Amendment 

21.1 The parties may at any time, and from time to time, alter or vary the terms of any Agreement, or 
of any work order or request for services and Purchase Order, including the obligations of 
Consultant, by mutual agreement confirmed in writing. 

22.0 Opinions of Probable Construction 

22.1 EXP’s opinion of probable construction cost represent its best judgment as a design professional 
familiar with the construction industry and are not guarantees by EXP of actual construction cost. 
EXP has no control over material cost, labor, methods of construction or bid procedures. 
Accordingly, EXP does not warrant or represent that contractor bids will not vary from the Project 
budget or EXP’s opinion of probable construction cost. If Client desires greater assurance of cost, 
Client shall engage the services of an independent construction cost estimator. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement. 

[INSERT FULL LEGAL NAME OF CLIENT]  

By: _______________________________ 

Title: _____________________________ 

I have authority to bind the corporation  

EXP U.S. SERVICES INC. 

By: _______________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 

I have authority to bind the corporation 



submitted by 
Exp U.S. Services Inc.

205 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 3600  |  Chicago, IL 60601 
t: +1.312.616.0000  |  exp  com  

Request for Qualifications  
Professional Airport Consulting 

Services

Duluth International Airport 
Air Traffic Control Tower

 DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY

April 21, 2023  
ELECTRONIC COPY (USB DRIVE)



table of contents

Part I. Executive Summary

Part II. Project Approach

Part III. Firm/Corporate Qualifications

• Organizational Chart

Part IV. Staff/Team Qualifications

Part V. Demonstrated Experience

Part VI. Experience in LEED Certification/Environmental Sustainability

Part VII. Conceptual Rendering of the future DLH ATCT located at the proposed future ATCT 
location (Airport Preferred Location)



1
Part I. Executive Summary



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

44

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
EXP is pleased to submit this Statement of Qualifications for the new Air Traffic Control Tower at the Duluth International 
Airport. 

EXP is a full-service firm of over 4,000 professionals worldwide with all disciplines of architecture and engineering in-house. 
While we work across many markets, we have developed a particular focus in the Aviation market and have been working 
at airports across North America for over 50 years both airside and landside. Our projects include runway and taxiways, 
infrastructure, terminals and concourses and Air Traffic Control Towers.

This submission highlights our extensive and unique experience in the design of Air Traffic Control Towers (ATCT). EXP has 
designed ATCT’s under direct contract with the FAA, as well as airport owned and FAA operated towers under contract with 
the local airport authority. EXP is keenly aware of current FAA requirements for air traffic control towers, and how to integrate 
these into a functional tower that also complements the skyline and the architecture of the airport and that focuses on the 
airport’s goals and objectives, beyond just meeting FAA requirements. 

Project Approach
We have detailed in the Project Approach section how EXP’s design process for this project will maintain a constant focus on 
budget, schedule, maintainability, and understanding of the Airport’s goals and objectives. Our Project Manager will ensure 
a common understanding of all project parameters and constraints amongst all team members and stakeholders, and will 
provide clear, concise, and timely communications throughout the design and construction process.

Our Project Approach also notes that while ownership and maintenance responsibilities are indiscernible in the completed 
tower, we recognize that the design process is indeed different. This process necessarily balances FAA requirements with 
airport requirements for short term and long-term maintainability and durability, budget and schedule parameters, and 
aesthetics that complement the airport architecture.

Project Team
This submission also identifies the highly skilled team of EXP professionals we are proposing for this project, all of whom 
have prior and current experience with the design of ATCT’s. This all in-house team of EXP architects and engineers will be of 
particular benefit to a project such as this, where integration of building systems and architecture in a carefully coordinated 
manner are crucial to the success of the project, given the highly technical nature and limited area within which all systems 
must be routed.

In addition, and because EXP knows that designing an airport owned ATCT requires knowledge of the airport itself, we have 
included SEH as a key local subconsultant due to their extensive and current experience at Duluth Airport. SEH has been 
deeply involved in the environmental work in preparation for the new ATCT, bringing significant knowledge to the seamless 
progress of this project.

EXP has 
unparalleled 

qualifications 

60+
airports 

worldwide

$4B
in airport 
projects

40+
years aviation 

experience



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

55

Prior Experience
We have provided descriptions of several projects in this 
submission that identify our previous and current relevant 
experience that show what we will bring to this project. All of 
the projects are recent or current Air Traffic Control Towers, 
bot airport owned and FAA owned.

Our design solutions for the ATCT’s at O’Hare International 
Airport and Peoria International Airport, which are both 
airport owned and FAA operated facilities, are evidence of our 
creative thinking as architects and engineers to find solutions 
that address the goals and objectives of the local airport 
authorities while also incorporating FAA requirements and 
local code requirements. These projects go beyond merely 
incorporating FAA requirements, orders and circulars, and 
integrate specific needs and desires by the local airports. This 
includes incorporation of specific materials, provision of life-
cycle maintenance costs for various materials to aid in airport 
decisions, and particular aesthetic desires.

In addition, our key subconsultant SEH has extensive and 
current experience at DAA. This team of EXP and SEH provides 
a unique, but necessary, combination of local knowledge and 
experience at DAA and nationwide experience with control 
towers.

Strengths of this Team
This team will ensure the success of this project in the eyes of 
the Duluth Airport Authority, the FAA project team, local air 
traffic controllers, and the DAA maintenance personnel. Our 
combined team strengths include:

• Expertise in the design of Air Traffic Control Towers;

• Expertise and depth of knowledge of DAA objectives and 
personnel;

• Fully integrated design team of architects and building 
engineers all within EXP;

• Focus on budget, schedule and maintainability by all 
disciplines through all project phases;

• Clear, concise and timely communications ensuring 
common understanding of status at all times

Commitment
EXP and our subconsultants are committed to providing all 
services requested in the RFQ and has provided all identified 
services for other projects including for our ATCT projects. 
Between EXP and our team members, we have the depth of 
professionals and the breadth of expertise to successfully 
accomplish this project with DAA.

Signature of authorized officer of the firm who has legal 
authority in such transactions. 

Timothy Neumann, AIA - Executive Vice President 
Timothy.Neumann@exp.com 
1. 312.925.1801

Also, include the name, address and telephone number 
of person or persons in your organization authorized to 
negotiate contract terms and render binding decisions.

Horeya Czaplewski, AIA - Project Manager 
Horeya.Czaplewski@exp.com 
1. 773.642.9238

Jefrey Jakalski, AIA - Principal-in-Charge 
Jefrey.jakalski@exp.com 
1. 312.925.1808



2
Part II. Project Approach



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

77

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING

The Duluth Airport Authority (DAA) is undertaking a significant project to replace its existing air traffic control tower. The 
existing tower is one of the oldest towers in the nation, is outdated and no longer serves the needs of DAA nor the FAA. The 
replacement tower will be more centrally located and will provide DAA and the FAA with direct line of sight to the entire 
airfield, will allow the FAA to orchestrate and promote safety for air traffic at the airport, and serve as a communications hub 
for the various FAA facilities at the airport. 

We understand that this tower will be constructed, owned and maintained by the Airport under a Reimbursable Agreement 
with the FAA, and that the FAA will operate the tower. 

We further understand that the new tower has gone through the FAA’s siting study process at their AFTIL facility and has 
thus far progressed thru two such siting studies with two potential sites having been identified. We know that DAA and the 
FAA have been working together for many months to complete the environmental and programmatic stages of the ATCT 
development process, of which SEH has been an integral part.

The Airport is in process of obtaining partial funding for the project, and that the successful firm for this project will be 
required to assist the airport authority in further grant applications and tracking to obtain full funding.

Additionally, it is expected that the new ATCT will be connected to all the FAA facilities on the airport such as ILS and 
approach lighting systems, RTRs, and other FAA facilities. These facilities are spread across the airport and old and new 
ductbank will be required, and new fiber optic transmission systems (FOTS) established to replace the old systems. SHE’s 
knowledge of the airport and airfield will be essential for development of these plans to reconnect all the FAA facilities to 
the new tower.

We know through prior projects for airport owned and FAA operated ATCT’s that the FAA is often concerned with the 
airport’s ability, and the ability of their design consultant, to design a functional ATCT within the budget and schedule 
parameters without trying to “reinvent the wheel”. Thus, this type of transactional agreement requires a team that has air 
traffic control tower design experience as well as experience in designing facilities for local airport authorities, particularity 
airport owned and FAA operated ATCT’s: a team that can bring comfort to both the airport and the FAA that they 
understand the need to successfully balance the objectives and requirements of both entities, and that will chart a path to 
do that. In other such projects, EXP has found success in teaming with local partners who have intimate familiarity with the 
local airport. For this project, EXP is partnered with SEH, creating a team with the ideal combination of national FAA and 
local Airport expertise to partner with DAA for delivery of this new tower.



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

88

PERFORMANCE OF WORK

• EXP will be the Prime consultant and will provide Project Management;
Architecture; Structural Engineering; Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing and Fire
Protection Engineering; Security/Telecom Engineering.

• SEH will provide Civil Engineering; utility infrastructure design; Survey; Public
Outreach liaison; and advise on local code and airport standards.

• Braun Intertec will provide Geotechnical Engineering.

• Vistara Construction Services will provide cost estimating services.

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

EXP’s Management Approach is centered around our designated Project Manager. 
EXP’s Project Manager is responsible and accountable to deliver this project 
within DAA’s budget and schedule, and with a focus on efficiency, maintainability, 
and functionality. At EXP, we believe that successful Project Management 
begins and ends with clear, concise and timely communication – between and 
amongst the project team, and with DAA and other stakeholders. Successful 
communications will form the keystone of our management approach, along 
with several other factors that our Project Manager will be responsible and 
accountable for to ensure the success of the project for all involved, as discussed 
below.

COMMUNICATIONS

• The following are examples of communication tools that our Project
Manager and our entire team will utilize:

• Single Point of Contact: EXP’s Project Manager will serve as DAA’s single point
of contact to ensure clear, consistent communications amongst all team
members and stakeholders. Nothing will be “lost in translation”.

• Documentation: EXP will implement an internet-based project site to
house relevant project documents that will be accessible by all. In addition,
we will promptly follow every meeting with meeting minutes and other
documentation that will be distributed to all team members to ensure
consistent and thorough understanding of discussions and decisions.

• Weekly Design Team Coordination Meetings: This allows for general and
specific input from all team members, ensuring that commitments to the
project are met and ensures a continuous and thorough understanding of the
project scope

• Client Meetings: EXP will host regular status meetings with DAA to
communicate the progress of the design, status of the schedule, review of
any budget concerns, and facilitate sharing of information between the
design team, DAA and other stakeholders.  This will ensure that all issues are
known at all times, and those responsible for specific items understand that
timing required for decisions and the impact of timely input.

• Action Item List: EXP will maintain an Action Item List identifying open issues
for resolution, stating the party responsible for resolution, and identify a
time frame by which response is needed to keep the project on track. This
List will be reviewed at each Client Meeting, so everyone knows what is
needed from them at all times.

EXP will hit the ground 
running as a balanced 

team from day one, 
ensuring all project 

goals, objectives and 
schedules will be met.

PROJECT APPROACH 

Our Team 
Organization 

Provides:
Focus on Budget + 

Schedule from the start 

Familiarity with DAA + FAA

Aviation expertise in all 
disciplines

Depth of personnel

Clear lines of 
communications

Focus on Design and 
Technical Excellence



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

99

SEH will also be a key component of our team’s communication process. 
SEH has been DAA’s preferred designer for many years, a testament to their 
responsiveness to DAA and the effectiveness of their communications. SEH 
knows DLH nearly as well as DAA does and knows their processes as well. SEH will 
be integral with our team’s communication and collaboration with DAA to make 
sure DAA’s voice is heard and their needs met at every step of the way, as they 
have done for every other project. EXP will coordinate closely with SEH to be 
sure the entire team understands what has been effective on prior projects and 
to outline the way DAA will want to advance the project and incorporate their 
needs, especially as they relate to cost and long-term operational maintenance.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT

Quality Assurance and Quality Control is also an essential and integral part of our 
management plan. Quality control begins with the direct proactive involvement 
of the Principal-in-Charge, Project Managers, and every architect and engineer 
involved in the project. EXP views Quality as the responsibility of every team 
member. 

Recognizing that “fresh eyes” often see things in a new or different way, we will 
also perform a Quality review on every project by architects and engineers who 
are not directly involved with the project. In this manner we verify that we have 
found the best way to do things and maximize our ability to discover ambiguity 
or inconsistency in our documents. We require that our subconsultants engage in 
a similar review process, and at project milestones a Quality review is undertaken 
with the entire document package, prior to documents being submitted for 
owner review. These Quality reviews are worked into our overall schedule 
to ensure adequate time and attention is provided for the review as well as 
for incorporation of any review comments, all prior to the documents being 
submitted to the Client for review.

BUDGET AND SCHEDULE MANAGEMENT

Budget and Schedule management are also key components of our Management 
Approach. At EXP we pride ourselves on meeting project schedules and 
delivering all projects within budget. Our President and our CEO have 
emphasized to EXP personnel that we should treat our client’s money as if it were 
our own. Thus, all project personnel are cognizant of the cost of every design 
decision made, and the impact it may have on the total project budget. Cost 
estimates will be performed at all project milestones, but these will not serve 
as the only tool for understanding and communicating budget. Budgets will be 
understood at the start of the project and any alternatives presented to DAA will 
be accompanied by budget and schedule impact, if any, allowing fully informed 
decisions to be made.

PROJECT APPROACH 

Quality control 
begins with the direct 
proactive involvement 

of  each discipline 
leader and continues 

with each and 
every architect  and 

engineer who touches 
a project. Our team 

views QA/QC as the  
responsibility of every 

team member.

O’Hare South Traffic 
Control Tower came 
in $2M under budget 

Estimated Cost - $30M 
and Final Cost - $28M

Design Discipline 
Checking + 

Correcting will be 
conducted regularly  
and look specifically 

at coordination 
between disciplines



RFQ FOR DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY
DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

10

EXP’s history designing 
airport owned and FAA 

operated towers + SEH’s 
history working for the 

DAA means: EFFICIENCY DELIVERY

EXP is unique amongst our peers in that we have an in-house at-risk Construction 
Management group. This group is a part of every project we design, whether 
we are involved in the actual construction or not. As part of every project, our 
CM group participates in review of design documents at project milestones, 
providing reviews of constructability, phasing and sequencing, and providing 
input on construction cost. EXP’s CM group will perform these efforts in addition 
to the cost estimating that will be performed by Vistara, our cost estimating 
subconsultant. With feet on the ground as constructors on a daily basis, our CM 
group is able to provide input on real-time costs of materials and labor, which 
are much more accurate than books and websites. Because we involve this group 
at the inception of each project, we practice a process of “value design”, which 
ensures we are designing to budget every step of the way, rather than practice 
value engineering, which is often a deductive process of removing scope or 
quality once a project is deemed over budget.

To us cost and schedule are not an afterthought to be reviewed only at submittal 
milestones but are an integral part of the design process. Our cost estimates 
originate from the design team, as we believe it is important that designers 
understand the cost of what they are designing. This philosophy has resulted 
in our professionals being aware of the cost impact of their decisions, and how 
those decisions may affect the cost of another discipline. The project’s design 
and its budget and scope will be cost estimated and reconciled as part of the 
Schematic Design phase and at each subsequent phase of the design. The project 
budget and schedule will be reviewed at every submittal milestone to confirm 
the project is on track. This ensures that our design will be in compliance with the 
approved budget by the time the documents are issued for bid. If at any point 
during the design, we become aware that something about the scope, economy, 
design, labor availability, or other market factors is going to impact the ability to 
meet the budget or schedule, we will bring it to DAA’s attention immediately to 
make the decisions necessary to bring it back on track, including identification of 
potential alternate bid items.

DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF SCOPE

The design of the tower is critical to maintain project schedule and budget. The 
tower must be designed for use by the FAA, but it will also be a new identity 
for DAA that will significantly impact the skyline of Duluth, and benefit DAA’s 
operations. As the new tower will be the tallest structure at the airport, and one 
of the tallest in the area, it will come to define DLH for the next several decades. 
It is therefore imperative that the design be refined and representative of DLH 
and the city itself.

Thus, it will be important to develop a project scope that considers not only 
immediate and short-term factors, but that also considers the longevity of the 
impact this project will make on the airport and the city skyline. It is necessary 
that this development occur with the input of the airport, other stakeholders, 
and the public, at the discretion of the airport.

As noted above SEH is experienced at public outreach in Duluth and is ready 
to serve DAA in obtaining public support for this project to assist in funding. 
This outreach can also be a means by which to advance the new identity posed 
by the ATCT and solicit ideas from the city if desired. A sense of ownership by 
the public could be advantageous in promoting DAA’s tower project, and later 
projects. 

“Your solution is too 
ingenious.  I’m very 

impressed.  You guys put 
your heads together and 
came up with something 

awesome.”
-FAA Systems Engineer

SYNERGY

PROJECT APPROACH 

LEGISLATIVE REQUESTS AND 
MINNESOTA GO BOND APPLICATIONS 
Similar to how SEH assisted the DAA 
in successfully securing $6.6 million in 
funding through a direct appropriation 
in 2016, the SEH team is currently 
assisting the DAA with a comprehensive 
and strategic approach to secure 
additional funding from the state 
Legislature to fund portions of the ATCT 
relocation and enabling projects.

SEH’s experience with bond funding 
will prove to be invaluable. The 
teams Airport staff has assisted other 
airports similar to DLH with all the 
bond requirements; from bond pre 
application, to B3 design and reporting, 
to bond closeout.



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

1111

PROJECT APPROACH 

The development of the tower scope and design extends beyond the structure itself into the site and across the airport. 
The access, parking, and utilities for the ATCT will require specific site design, which has already been started by SEH. Their 
prior experience will give the project a head start, as will SEH’s familiarity with local building codes and ordinances regarding 
drainage, parking, pavement design, and other utilities. As DAA’s current on call designer, SEH not only has the awareness of 
the airport to quickly design the areas around the tower, but their familiarity with DAA’s processes will inform and enable 
EXP’s designs as well so they both can execute the design quickly and effectively.

STAKEHOLDER COORDINATION

EXP believes in a fully integrated project approach, including all team members and stakeholders. We know all stakeholders 
can have sometimes competing objectives, though everyone has the same end goal in mind. Our approach is to get all 
parties around the table in regular meetings from the start, which forces all parties to understand the needs of others. It is 
easy to refuse to budge via email, but people are more likely to listen and consider other viewpoints when sitting across the 
table.

The main stakeholders of DAA and the FAA will be joined directly with the designers to develop the tower specifics over 
the course of design. A schedule for these steps will be laid out in a precise manner by our team so DAA and the FAA are 
able to plan, anticipate and prepare for each step. EXP’s expertise developed over many tower projects, coupled with SEH’s 
prior collaboration with DAA and the FAA in the environmental assessments will enable efficient stewardship of the design 
through the many steps in design.

BEST VALUE DESIGN

Our team believes that “best value design” applies to the cost effectiveness of the design process, as well as the cost 
effectiveness of the actual project throughout its life span, ie. construction cost and life cycle cost. 

Best value in the design process means having a design team that can work efficiently and effectively, and that can quickly 
help the airport consider alternatives, help the airport make informed decisions on the preferred alternative, and move 
to execution of the preferred alternative through the design process. It also means proceeding with a design that will be 
acceptable to both the airport and the FAA.

To facilitate this, previous designs that have been accepted and proved highly effective for the FAA may be the starting 
point. Such designs can serve as a prototype that can be site adapted to address any aesthetic desires of DAA, resulting 
in a functional tower that is acceptable to FAA while also presenting an aesthetic that is complimentary to DAA’s existing 
facilities. 

In addition, EXP will propose alternate exterior materials for DAA’s consideration, comparing first cost and life cycle cost. 
This information will allow DAA to make informed decisions about the building’s envelope based on aesthetic, energy 
efficiency and performance, and life cycle cost.  

Similarly, EXP will provide a review of various MEP system designs and present accompanying life cycle cost analysis for DAA’s 
review and consideration.

Best value in the construction cost means having a building design that has considered short term and life-cycle costs, 
including the cost of long-term maintenance of proposed building materials. It is important to consider not only the initial 
cost and lead time of various materials and systems, but also the cost of maintaining and potentially replacing these systems 
and materials over the life of a project.

ORD, SATCT  |   Stakeholder coordination and planning meetings



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

1212

CHALLENGES AND POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS

CHALLENGE: WORKING IN AN ACTIVE AIRPORT ENVIRONMENT

Proposed Solution: EXP’s team includes SEH who has intimate knowledge of airport operations and future plans and has 
experience working on this airport. Our team will coordinate with the airport to understand current airport functions and to 
develop appropriate phasing and routing plans to minimize disruptions to existing operations. 

CHALLENGE: DAA GOALS VERSUS FAA REQUIREMENTS, and VICE VERSA

Proposed Solution: Our team brings extensive experience and intimate knowledge of DAA desires and processes, as well as 
depth of expertise with FAA requirements and ATCT’s. 

The combination of our experience will ensure that both FAA requirements and DAA’s objectives are in alignment, and none 
are overlooked.

CHALLENGE: FUNDING AVAILABILITY AND PROJECT SCHEDULE

Proposed Solution: Our team, through SEH, is familiar with the funding applications and avenues being considered and 
pursued by DAA. EXP and SEH are both experienced in helping our clients through grant application processes. In addition, our 
team can help expedite the design process and develop early bid packages and multiple bid packages depending on funding 
availability. 

CHALLENGE: LONG LEAD TIMES MAY DELAY CONSTRUCTION

Proposed Solution: Our team will inquire within the industry, and advise DAA accordingly, of any potential long lead items early 
in the design process. We can develop early bid packages to allow early procurement of such items. Alternatively, EXP’s in-
house Construction Management group has pre-purchased long lead items such as air handling units and electrical switchgear 
for other clients, and stored them for turnover to the contractor at a later date.

ORD, SATCT  |   Construction Photo

PROJECT APPROACH 

ORD SATCT | Geothermal System ORD, SATCT  |   Construction Photo



1313

CONCLUSION

EXP and SEH are the best team for this project because we not only have excellent relationships with the two most 
important stakeholders in this project – DAA and FAA – but we also have proven successful processes for delivering projects 
with DAA and FAA. These processes are based on communication and collaboration by and amongst all team members and 
stakeholders.

EXP will provide the expertise for the tower design as it relates to the FAA’s needs, and SEH will provide the understanding 
of DAA’s needs, objectives and processes. EXP’s experience and relationships with the FAA at all levels and technical groups, 
including the AFTIL process, will ensure the FAA that their operational requirements will be met and the tower will function 
as required. EXP has honed our ATCT designs through collaboration with the FAA on several recent and current projects, so 
all the current requirements and preferences are understood and can be applied immediately and efficiently. In addition, 
EXP is currently working in the same region and with the same FAA personnel on other ATCT’s, and thus have established 
relationships and communications protocols with these personnel. 

Our team of EXP and SEH together will ensure an understanding and focus by our entire team that this project must succeed 
for both entities for the project to be considered a success.

PROJECT APPROACH 

“I want to thank you and the team for a job well done. It’s truly a 
relief to see your team’s responsiveness. Keep up the good work.”

-Project Administrator, Chicago Department of Aviation

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



3
Part III. Firm/Corporate Qualifications



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

1515

BRIEF COMPANY PROFILE
Exp U.S. Services Inc. (EXP) has been in business over 117 years via heritage companies and employs 4000+ professionals 
worldwide.

EXP has over 50 years of experience providing architectural and engineering services to airports of all sizes, from regional 
airports to primary commercial hub airports, ranging from small-scale renovations to full terminal expansions and 
modernizations. We have worked at more than 60 airports worldwide. EXP’s background covers work in both secure and 
non-secure areas, security checkpoint expansions, passenger trafficked concourses and consolidations, air traffic control 
towers, highly specialized baggage facilities, mechanical and electrical renovations and upgrades, concessions expansions and 
renovations, hangar developments, ground equipment maintenance facilities, automated people movers, parking garages, 
runways and taxiways.

Since our first Air Traffic Control Tower design, EXP has become a highly regarded ATCT design firm and trusted advisor to 
the FAA. Our design for the South Air Traffic Control Tower at O’Hare International Airport is being adapted by the FAA to 
become their new standard due to its low cost, elegant appearance and ease of accommodating current equipment and 
cabling as well as flexibility for future changes.

LOCATION OF OFFICE TO PERFORM WORK
EXP has assembled a team that represents the best talent in Aviation and Air Traffic Control Tower Design, all of whom are 
in our Chicago office. EXP’s Chicago office is our Aviation Center of Excellence, where we draw upon our technical expertise 
and excellence. While EXP has several effective communication tools for remote collaboration, it is important to note that 
DAA has direct flights daily to ORD, so in-person meetings for collaboration will be easy to facilitate.

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
An organizational chart that identifies all key personnel that would perform the work is including on the following page.

 COMPANY PROFILE  



1616

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

PROJECT MANAGER

Horeya Czaplewski, AIA | EXP

QA/QC

Kristen Armstrong, AIA, LEED AP | EXP

PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE

Jefrey Jakalski, AIA | EXP

STRUCTURAL

Matt Aklan, PE | EXP

GEOTECHNICAL

Aaron Tast | Braun Intertec

CIVIL

Shawn McMahon, PE | SEH

SURVEY

Chris Larsen | SEH

COST ESTIMATING

Ramesh Nair  |  Vistara

MECHANICAL

Fazal Mahmood, PE, CxA | EXP

AV/TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Zachary Neill | EXP

PLUMBING/FIRE PROTECTION

Hannah Kalinowski  | EXP

ARCHITECTURE

Samantha Garret, AIA | EXP 
Project Architect

Tom Hoepf, FAIA | EXP 
Principal Design Architect

Alzira Maldonado-Protsishin, AIA | EXP 
Senior Design Architect

SUSTAINABILITY

Amy Pastor, AIA | EXP

ELECTRICAL

Mace Mazur, PE | EXP

ENVIRONMENTAL UPDATES

Kaci Nowicki  |  SEH 
Natalie White, PWS, CMWP  |  SEH

PUBLIC OUTREACH

Kaci Nowicki  |  SEH

FAA FOTS

Chad Westbrook, PE, PMP  | SEH

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



Part IV. Staff/Team Qualifications

4



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

1818

STAFF/TEAM QUALIFICATIONS

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS + SPECIALIZED EXPERIENCE OF KEY 
PERSONNEL
Our Key Personnel proposed for this project are identified below, with a summary 
of their qualifications and experience.

Principal-in-Charge  |  Jefrey D. Jakalski, AIA  |  This project will be overseen by 
Jefrey D. Jakalski, AIA, Senior Vice President and Director of EXP’s North American 
Buildings Group and a Principal with the firm. Jef has been with EXP and our former 
legacy companies for over 30 years and has been involved in aviation projects his 
entire career. Jef has served as Principal-in-Charge on projects for over 20 years, and 
understands the unique nature of working in active airfield environments. Jef has 
worked on all projects presented herein, as well as numerous other Aviation and Air 
Traffic Control Towers.

Project Manager  |  Horeya Czaplewski, AIA is the project manager proposed for 
this contract. Horeya has worked on Aviation projects for over 20 years. She is 
an accomplished Project Manager and has managed dozens of Aviation projects 
successfully that have achieved client objectives within budget and schedule 
parameters, including projects for CDA and for DFW. Horeya is adept at managing 
complex, multi-discipline projects involving multiple stakeholder groups. Horeya 
has served as Project Manager on several Air Traffic Control Towers.

Lead Design Architect  |  Thomas Hoepf, FAIA is EXP’s Principal Designer, and has 
served as Design Manager or Lead Design Architect on all of EXP’s aviation projects, 
and has served in this role for over 25 years. Tom understands how to integrate the 
design efforts of all disciplines to achieve a coordinated and cohesive whole. Tom 
has worked on all projects presented herein, as well as numerous other Aviation 
and Air Traffic Control Towers.

Project Architect  |  Samantha Garret, AIA has over 10 years of experience on 
design of various restoration and new construction facilities. Sam is one of EXP’s 
strongest aviation architects, as she has worked on nearly all of our aviation 
projects in the last 10 years. Sam has experience working on all relevant Air Traffic 
Control Tower Projects.

Structural Engineering Lead |  Matt Aklan, PE has nearly 25 years of experience in 
managing large and complex multi-discipline engineering projects, from preliminary 
design through final construction. His specialties include new structural design, 
detailing rehabilitation or retrofit designs, structural assessments, and construction 
support of transit facilities and buildings, bridges, and transit facilities and 
structures. Mr. Aklan has over 25 years developing engineering contract documents, 
field assessments, technical evaluations, failure analyses, engineering and 
construction cost estimates, technical specifications, and all facets of construction 
phase services. Matt has experience working on all relevant Air Traffic Control 
Tower Projects.

Mechanical Engineering Lead  |  Fazal Mahmood, PE Fazal is the Mechanical 
Engineer proposed for this contract. Fazal has over 30 years of experience on 
numerous project types, including on aviation projects. Fazal has been Lead 
Mechanical Engineer on nearly all of EXP aviation projects. Fazal has experience 
working on all relevant Air Traffic Control Tower Projects.

Electrical Engineering Lead  |  Maciej (Mace) Mazur, PE Mace has over 8 years of 
experience as an electrical engineer. His project experience includes lighting and 
electrical systems design for a variety of facilities. He has worked on projects 

average number of years 
aviation experience by key 

personnel

20+



19

including aviation facilities, office buildings, vehicle maintenance facilities, exterior sitework, and roadway facilities. Mace has 
experience working on all relevant Air Traffic Control Tower Projects.

Plumbing/Fire Protection Engineering Lead  |  Hanna Kalinowski has over 25 years of plumbing and fire protection 
experience for a range of public and private sector projects. Her work encompasses both new construction and renovation 
projects, which include aviation, institutional, commercial, communications, and health care facilities. Hanna’s work 
experience includes site visits, cost estimating, preparing construction documents and reviewing contractor’s submittals. 
Hanna has experience working on all relevant Air Traffic Control Tower Projects.

AV/Telecommunications Lead  |  Zachary Neill Mr. Neill is a technology designer for aviation, rail + transit, 
telecommunication and mission critical facilities. Zach has experience designing a variety of technology systems including 
structured cabling infrastructure, integrated audio-video systems for conference rooms and classrooms, CATV systems, 
public address and intercom systems, sound masking systems, access control, intrusion detection, and video surveillance. 
Zach is experienced in coordinating the Building Information Model (BIM) between multiple disciplines as both the prime 
and MEP contract. He is also proficient in designing and providing construction documents in either a 2D or 3D environment 
through AutoCAD, or Revit. Zachary has experience working on all relevant Air Traffic Control Tower Projects.

Civil Lead  | SEH  |  Shawn McMahon, PE leads SEH’s airport planning and design practice. He is a project manager 
experienced in design and construction of airport infrastructure projects including runways, taxiways, aprons, hangars, 
airport buildings, and NAVAIDs. Shawn is also the chief corporate pilot for SEH. He flies a twin engine Piper Navajo and a 
Beechcraft King Air 200 to support clients’ needs. He has over 5,000 flight hours, most of which come from six years of 
service in the U.S. Air Force as a C-17A Globemaster Instructor Pilot. Shawn will support the EXP project team by providing 
a local presence, knowledge of DAA policies and procedures, and connected stakeholder engagement with key partners on 
the Duluth International Airport. Shawn will lead communication and coordination of all SEH deliverables as part of the EXP 
team, and be responsible for all quality leadership, accountability, and quality control.

Survey Lead | SEH |  Chris Larsen, PLS is a senior professional land surveyor with extensive experience in Public Land Survey 
System remonumentation, right-of-way plats, subdivision plats, registered land surveys, and common interest community 
plats. He is experienced and knowledgeable in the interface and interaction of landowners and developers with county land 
records systems and approval processes. Chris has coordinated survey work at both Duluth International and Sky Harbor. 
Chris is based in SEH’s Duluth office and can leverage his experience throughout the Duluth area to provide accurate and 
timely information to the design team.

FAA FOTS | SEH | Chad Westbrook, PE, PMP is an electrical engineer with experience that includes preparation of 
studies, construction drawings, and construction administration. He is also an experienced project manager who has been 
responsible for project budget, scope, and schedule for many of these projects. Chad has prepared construction drawings 
and specifications and provided construction administration through all project phases. Chad’s technical experience includes 
facility power distribution and generation systems; facility and outdoor lighting, fire alarm detection and notification, 
communication systems, and security systems.

Geotechnical  |  Braun Intertec  |  Aaron Tast has led approximately 20 projects at Duluth International Airport since 2015. 
These projects include geotechnical, environmental and construction materials services for a variety of structures including 
runways, taxiways, aprons and hangars. 

Cost Estimating  |  Vistara | Ramesh Nair Mr. Nair functions as a Project Executive in all aspects of Construction Management 
Services for Vistara Construction Services. He is responsible for the Coordination, Quality & Cost Control aspects for large 
institutional and commercial developments. He has over 25 years of experience in the construction industry.

STAFF/TEAM QUALIFICATIONS



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

20

IDENTIFICATION OF SUB CONSULTANTS AND THEIR ROLE ON PROJECT

IDENTIFICATION OF PUBLIC OUTREACH AND POLITICAL SUPPORT
The EXP team already has connections at the local level through our partner SEH, and will identify and establish relationships 
with others at the state ad federal levels to enable our team to effectively assist in funding and project approvals. Local 
funding will require support from the public, an endeavor in which SEH can further assist DAA through public outreach and 
lobbying to explain the purpose and benefit the new tower will bring to the public.

STATEMENT OF DBE  - PROVIDE MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY FOR DBE PARTICIPATION
While we have not included any DBE firms as part of our team at this time, we understand the importance of meaningful 
roles for DBE firms, and should it be required by funding sources or the Airport, we are fully prepared to engage additional 
DBE firms.

To further back our commitment, EXP’s heritage company, Teng + Associates, founded in 1959 by Dr. Wayne Teng and his 
wife Eleanor, began as a small business and Minority-Owned Business Enterprise. We understand the benefit of creating a 
team culture that is about more than just tracking numbers, and that truly offers opportunities for challenging participation 
and growth.

TEAM’S EXPERIENCE WORKING TOGETHER
EXP and SEH have not worked together previously. 

EXP and Braun Intertec have not worked together previously, but SEH and Braun have completed several projects together. 

EXP and Vistara have worked on numerous projects together, including on several Airport Traffic Control Towers.

SEH will provide Civil Engineering, Survey, Public Outreach for this project. SEH has been a project partner 
with the Duluth Airport Authority, providing engineering and environmental consulting services since 
2007. During that time we have successfully completed significant infrastructure projects at both Duluth 
International Airport and the Sky Harbor Airport. From large and complex projects, such as Taxiway 
A reconstruction, to day-to-day guidance such as instrument approach procedure coordination and 
stormwater pollution prevention plans, SEH has consistently provided timely and expert guidance In 
addition, SEH has been delivering professional planning, architecture, and engineering services to the City 
of Duluth and area communities and counties for more than 50 years. 

Braun Intertec will provide geotechnical engineering for this project. Braun Intertec specializes in 
geotechnical engineering, environmental consulting, construction materials testing, nondestructive 
examination, and building/structures sciences. Using our interdisciplinary approach, our experience 
and commitment to excellence delivers results—from planning to design and construction, to ongoing 
management and operations. Braun’s aviation specialists, Aaron Tast and Joe Butler, have led approximately 
20 projects at Duluth International Airport since 2015. These projects include geotechnical, environmental 
and construction materials services for a variety of structures including runways, taxiways, aprons and 
hangars.

Vistara will provide Cost Estimating services for this project. Vistara is a Chicago-based minority owned 
firm, incorporated in 1994, that provides project control including cost estimating services, construction 
management, and owner’s representation. EXP and Vistara have a long standing relationship working 
together for several years on projects, including Air Traffic Control Towers at various airports including 
ORD. 

STAFF/TEAM QUALIFICATIONS



21

WORKLOAD SUMMARY

NAME OF INDIVIDUAL/FIRM PRESENT WORKLOAD
AVAILABILITY FOR THIS 

PROJECT

Jefrey Jakalski, AIA  |  EXP • Peoria ATCT
• GFK ATCT 25%

Horeya Czaplewski, AIA, NCARB, LEED AP 
BD+C  |  EXP

• Peoria ATCT
• MARTA Indian Creek 

Station
100%

Thomas Hoepf, FAIA  |  EXP • Peoria ATCT
• GFK ATCT 75%

Samantha Garret, AIA  |  EXP • Peoria ATCT
• GFK ATCT 75%

Matt Aklan, PE  |  EXP
• GFK ATCT
• Des Moines ATCT

75%

Fazal Mahmood, PE, CxA, LEED AP  |  EXP • Peoria ATCT
• GFK ATCT 75%

Maciej Mazur, PE  |  EXP • Peoria ATCT
• GFK ATCT 75%

Hanna Kalinowski, AIA  |  EXP • Peoria ATCT
• GFK ATCT 75%

Zachary Neill,   |  EXP • Peoria ATCT
• GFK ATCT 75%

Shawn McMahon, PE  |  SEH • Various Projects 50%

Chris Larsen, PLS   |  SEH
• Various Survey 

Projects
50%

Chad Westbrook, PE, PMP  |  SEH • Various Projects 50%

Aaron Tast,  |  Braun Intertec • Various Projects 50%

Ramesh Nair |  Vistara
• Various Projects at 

ORD
25%

 

ONE PAGE RESUME FOR KEY PERSONNEL

Resumes are included for the Key Personnel identified above, included on the following pages.

STAFF/TEAM QUALIFICATIONS

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

2222

Jefrey Jakalski, AIA 
Principal-in-Charge  I  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Registered Architect: IL, MO, TX, GA, 
IA, ND, SC, OK, FL, Guam, Saipan

Education + Training 
Bachelor of Architecture, Ball State 
University, Muncie, Indiana, 1988

B.S., Environmental Design, Ball State 
University, Muncie, Indiana, 1988

Jefrey Jakalski leads the management and strategic planning of EXP’s buildings 
practice. With over 30 years of experience in the industry, he is known by clients 
and colleagues for his strong team leadership skills and his proven hands-on 
approach on the projects that he oversees. As Senior Vice President at EXP, Jef is 
serving as Principal-in-Charge on all EXP’s work across multiple markets including 
aviation. Jef’s leadership on numerous, successful, large-scale aviation projects, and 
knowledge of working in active, secure environments, positions him well to be 
principal in charge of this team.

 
Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

• Project Principal on all relevant 
project experience included

• Intimately familiar with all Federal 
and other airport related agencies

• Leads multi-discipline teams on 
major aviation projects

30+
years of aviation 

experience

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES



2323

Horeya Czaplewski, AIA, NCARB, LEED AP BD+C 
Project Manager  I  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Licensed Architect: IL, TX

NCARB Certified

LEED AP BD+C

Education + Training 
Bachelor of Architecture, University of 
Texas, 2003

Horeya brings over 15 years of comprehensive experience in both new and 
renovation projects focusing on architectural design, construction documents, 
construction administration and project management. Her experience includes 
creating construction documents (from schematic design through project 
completion), BIM, project management, discipline coordination and client interface. 
Horeya has been greatly involved in professional organizations, especially the 
AIA and various state organizations. She was the recipient of several AIA awards, 
including the TSA (Texas Society of Architects) Award. 

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

• Project management philosophy 
places emphasis on collaborative 
communication, integrated design 
and innovative solutions from each 
discipline

• Experience working in complex 
environment of operational 
facilities, including multiple airports

18+
years experience

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

2424

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES

Thomas Hoepf, FAIA 
Lead Design Architect  I  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Registered Architect: IL, OH, VA,
Ontario, Canada

Education + Training 
Master of Architecture, University of 
Texas, Arlington, Texas, 1986

B.S., Architecture, Ohio State
University, Columbus, Ohio, 1983

Thomas Hoepf, FAIA is Senior Vice President and Design Director at EXP. His 
experience includes a broad range of project types in new construction and 
complex renovations for public and private sector clients, With nationally 
recognized transportation design expertise, Tom led the design on range of 
complex high-profile projects including the award-winning South Air Traffic Control 
Tower and American Airlines G Concourse at ORD. As Design Director, Tom is 
responsible for design on all architectural projects. His involvement begins at the 
early conceptual stages, and remains through construction. As a creative problem-
solver Tom thinks strategically about the big picture and the small details.

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

• Award-winning designer with
nationally recognized aviation and
transportation design expertise

• Recognized for creating transit
facilities that are efficient,
functional and maintainable, as
well as beautiful enduring public
places that contribute to the life of
the city

25
design awards



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

2525

Samantha Garret, AIA 
Project Architect  |  Architectural Designer  I  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Registered Architect: IL

Education + Training 
Master of Architecture, University of 
Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 2014

Master of Science in Civil and 
Environmental Engineering, University 
of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 2014

Bachelor of Science in Architectural 
Studies, University of Illinois at 
Urbana-Champaign, 2012

Samantha has over 10 years of experience on design of various restoration and new 
construction facilities. Sam is one of EXP’s strongest aviation architects, as she has 
worked on nearly all of our aviation projects in the last 10 years. She is well versed 
in AutoCad and Revit and has completed projects utilizing both of these programs. 
She has also been involved in the design and production of various restoration and 
new construction projects.

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

• Project Architect on all relevant
project experience included

• Understands the complexities
associated with working in active
airport environments

10+
years of aviation 

experience

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES



2626

Matt Aklan, PE 
Structural Engineer  I  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Professional Engineer: IL, MD, DE, VA, 
DC

Education + Training 
B.S., Civil Engineering, Lehigh 
University, 1996

Matthew Aklan is a Senior Structural Engineer with experience in managing 
large and complex multi-discipline engineering projects, from preliminary design 
through final construction. His specialties include new structural design, detailing 
rehabilitation or retrofit designs, structural assessments, and construction support 
of transit facilities and buildings, bridges, and transit facilities and structures. 
Mr. Aklan has over 25 years developing engineering contract documents, field 
assessments, technical evaluations, failure analyses, engineering and construction 
cost estimates, technical specifications, and all facets of construction phase 
services.

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South 
Carolina. 

• Extensive experience working on 
projects in occupied facilities with 
complex phasing

• Experience on aviation projects 
both airside and landside

25+
years of experi-

ence as a structural 
engineer

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

2727

Fazal Mahmood, PE, CxA, LEED AP 
Lead Mechanical Engineer  |  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Professional Engineer: IL, MO
Certified Commissioning Authority
LEED Accredited Professional
Member ASHRAE

Education + Training 
M.S., Mechanical Engineering, 
University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT, 
1979

B.S., Mechanical Engineering, 
N.E.D. University of Engineering & 
Technology, Pakistan

Fazal has over 30 years of mechanical engineering experience. His experience 
includes project management, establishment of the scope of work and contract 
budget, coordination of all aspects of the project with the client, preparation 
of studies and reports, preparation of construction drawings and cost estimates, 
specification writing, shop drawing review and field observation. Fazal specializes in 
the design of airport, federal, commercial and health care facilities.

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

30+
years of aviation 

experience

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES

• Managed complex mechanical 
renovation and new design 
projects throughout US

• Lead Mechanical Engineer on all 
relevant projects



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

2828

Maciej Mazur, PE 
Lead Electrical Engineer  I  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Professional Engineer: IL

Education + Training 
B.S., Electrical and Electronic
Engineering, University of Illinois at
Chicago, 2013

Mace has over 8 years of experience as an electrical engineer. His project 
experience includes lighting and electrical systems design for a variety of facilities. 
He has worked on projects including office buildings, aviation facilities, vehicle 
maintenance facilities, exterior sitework, and roadway facilities.

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

• Intimately familiar with FAA design
criteria and Advisory circulars
related to Aviation Electrical
systems.

• Electrical Engineer on all relevant
project experience included

IES
sustainable lighting 
committee adviso-

ry member

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

2929

Hanna Kalinowski, AIA 
Plumbing/Fire Protection Engineer  I  EXP

Education + Training 
Master of Science, Engineering, 
Institute of Technology, Poland, 1983

Courses in Plumbing Design, New York 
University, New York, 1984

ANSUL Foam Fire Suppression 
Systems, Design & Application, 2011

Hanna has over 25 years of plumbing and fire protection experience for a range of 
public and private sector projects. Her work encompasses both new construction 
and renovation projects, which include aviation, institutional, commercial, 
communications, and health care facilities. Hanna’s work experience includes 
site visits, cost estimating, preparing construction documents and reviewing 
contractor’s submittals.

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

• Understands the complexity of 
FAA projects and implements 
solutions on all projects

• Intimately familiar with Advisory 
circulars related to Aviation 
Plumbing and Fire Protection 
Systems

25+
years of aviation 

experience

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

3030

Zachary Neill 
A/V Telecommunications  I  EXP

Professional Registrations + 
Certifications 
Engineer in Training: IL, WI

Education + Training 
B.S. Architecture Engineering, Building 
Electrical Systems Design Specialty, 
Milwaukee School of Engineering, 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 2011

B.S., Construction Management,
Milwaukee School of Engineering,
Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 2011

• Intimately familiar with working in
airport environment

10+
years of 

experience

Mr. Neill is a technology designer for primarily telecommunication and mission 
critical facilities. Zach has experience designing a variety of technology systems 
including structured cabling infrastructure, integrated audio-video systems for 
conference rooms and classrooms, CATV systems, public address and intercom 
systems, sound masking systems, access control, intrusion detection, and video 
surveillance. Mr. Neill is experienced in coordinating the Building Information Model 
(BIM) between multiple disciplines as both the prime and MEP contract. He is also 
proficient in designing and providing construction documents in either a 2D or 3D 
environment through AutoCAD, or Revit.

Project Experience

Chicago Department of Aviation, South Air Traffic Control Tower, Chicago, IL 
LEED Gold
EXP provided full architectural and engineering services for the new South Air 
Traffic Control Tower (SATCT) at O’Hare International Airport. The new SATCT 
serves runway 10R-28L and includes a 207-foot tall tower and 9,943 SF base building. 
The innovative design provided a simple, economical and durable solution to meet 
the operational needs of the FAA, while at the same time, addressed the interest of 
the City of Chicago in creating an elegant, iconic image. The tower achieved LEED 
gold certification.

Wayne A. Downing International Airport, Air Traffic Control Tower, Peoria, IL
EXP was selected to design the new replacement Air Traffic Control Tower at the 
General Wayne A. Downing Peoria International Airport in Peoria, Illinois. The new 
tower will stand at over 135 feet to meet the current standards set by the FAA as 
the original 87-foot tower was built under the standards of the mid-20th century.  

FAA, Indianapolis International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Indianapolis, IN
EXP provided architecture and engineering design services (including Interior 
Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar Technology, Security, 
A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The Tower is a landmark, 
visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a Gateway to Indianapolis. 
The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

FAA, Grand Forks International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, Grand Forks, ND
162’ Intermediate activity ATCT w/ 20,000 sf Base building at the Grand Forks 
International Airport. Due to the high volume of daily flights for UND’s Flight 
Training School, GFK is often the busiest ATCT in the country.

FAA, Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Air Traffic Control Tower, 
Greer, SC
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

KEY PERSONNEL RESUMES



SHORT ELLIOTT HENDRICKSON INC.

21
YEARS OF 
EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

Master of Science-Infrastructure Systems 
Engineering 
University of Minnesota-Minneapolis

Bachelor of Science-Civil Engineering 
University of Minnesota-Minneapolis

REGISTRATIONS/CERTIFICATIONS

Professional Engineer in MN, IA, SD, VA, WI

Multi-Engine, Instrument Flight Instructor Rating;  
Airline Transport Pilot Certificate; Commercial 
Certificate; Instrument Rating; Multi-Engine Rating 
FAA

PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATIONS

Education and Accreditation Committee Member, 
Airport Consultant Council (ACC)

WORKLOAD AND AVAILABILITY

Shawn is committed to the Duluth Airport 
Authority as its primary Airport Engineer. Shawn 
leverages six project managers to complete the 
work identified in the Capital Improvement Plan, 
and our weekly meetings with staff will continue 
through the Air Traffic Control Tower project.

SHAWN MCMAHON PE

ENGINEERING SENIOR MANAGER/PRINCIPAL

Shawn leads SEH’s airport planning and design practice. He 
is a project manager experienced in design and construction 
of airport infrastructure projects including runways, taxiways, 
aprons, hangars, airport buildings, and NAVAIDs. Shawn is also 
the chief corporate pilot for SEH. He flies a twin engine Piper 
Navajo and a Beechcraft King Air 200 to support clients’ needs. 
He has over 5,000 flight hours, most of which come from six 
years of service in the U.S. Air Force as a C-17A Globemaster 
Instructor Pilot. Together, these experiences allow Shawn to 
bring unique perspective, expertise, and experience to his 
project management and design, providing the team with a 
balanced technical approach.

OPERATIONS-FOCUSED WITH 
A PILOT’S PERSPECTIVE
Shawn will support the EXP project team by providing a local 
presence, knowledge of DAA policies and procedures, and 
connected stakeholder engagement with key partners on the 
Duluth International Airport. Shawn will lead communication 
and coordination of all SEH deliverables as part of the 
EXP team, and be responsible for all quality leadership, 
accountability, and quality control.

SELECT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

○ Hangar Apron Design, Lynchburg Regional Airport –
Lynchburg, VA

○ Runway Rehabilitation, Minot International Airport –
Minot, ND

○ Civil Site Design - Cargo Hangar Development, Thief River
Falls Regional Airport – Thief River Falls, MN

○ T Hangar Design and Construction, Richard B. Helgeson
Airport – Two Harbors, MN

○ Multi-bay Hangar Design and Construction, Baudette
International Airport – Baudette, MN

○ Cargo Hangar Design Funding Strategy, Thief River Falls
Regional Airport – Thief River Falls, MN

○ Taxiway A Reconstruction Duluth International Airport –
Duluth, MN

○ Runway 9/27 Reconstruction, Duluth International Airport –
Duluth, MN

○ Runway 13/31 and Taxiway A Reconstruction, Falls
International Airport – International Falls, MN

○ Terminal Site Design, St. Paul Downtown Airport
(Metropolitan Airports Commission) – St. Paul, MN

HIS APPROACH TO 
PLANNING AND 
ENGINEERING IS GENIUS. NO 

MATTER THE PROJECT, THEY ARE 
TRULY A COLLABORATIVE TEAM AND 
CONSISTENTLY HAVE THE RIGHT 
PEOPLE AT THE TABLE TO MAKE 
INFORMED DECISIONS QUICKLY.
THOR EINARSON | AIRPORT MANAGER, 
FALLS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

31



SHORT ELLIOTT HENDRICKSON INC.

CHRIS LARSEN PLS

SURVEYOR

Chris is a senior professional land surveyor with extensive 
experience in Public Land Survey System remonumentation, 
right-of-way plats, subdivision plats, registered land surveys, 
and common interest community plats. He is experienced 
and knowledgeable in the interface and interaction of 
landowners and developers with county land records 
systems and approval processes. Chris has coordinated 
survey work at both Duluth International and Sky Harbor.

RESPONSIVE, QUALITY, DEPENDABLE

Chris will support the EXP and SEH teams by providing 
dependable and accurate topographic surveys and 
survey related tasks. Chris, based in SEH’s Duluth office, 
will work with the City of Duluth to help with easement 
creation, vacancy, and permitting. He will leverage 
his experience throughout the Duluth area to provide 
accurate and timely information to the design team.

SELECT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

○ Taxiway A Reconstruction Duluth International Airport –
Duluth, MN

○ Runway 9/27 Reconstruction, Duluth International
Airport – Duluth, MN

○ Runway 13/31 and Taxiway A Reconstruction, Falls
International Airport –International Falls, MN

○ Miscellaneous Site Surveys for Ongoing Projects, Duluth
International Airport – Duluth, MN

○ Construction Staking and Field Engineering for Ongoing
Projects, Duluth International Airport – Duluth, MN

○ Easement Vacation and Utility Coordination, Duluth
International Airport – Duluth, MN

○ Baywalk Design and Improvements – City of Duluth, MN

○ T-Hangar Construction, Two Harbors Municipal Airport –
Duluth, MN

○ Runway Rehabilitation, Tower Municipal Airport –
Tower, MN

○ Ranch Hangar Design, Duluth International Airport –
Duluth, MN

○ Snow Removal Equipment Building, Tower Municipal
Airport – Tower, MN

22
YEARS OF 
EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Science 
Water Resources 
University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point

REGISTRATIONS/CERTIFICATIONS

Professional Land Surveyor in Minnesota

WORKLOAD AND AVAILABILITY

Chris leads SEH’s surveying practice throughout 
northeastern Minnesota.  He and his staff are 
available at a moment’s notice to meet the needs 
of contractors and clients alike to keep the project 
design and construction on schedule.

CHRIS’ SURVEY STAFF IS 
RELIABLE AND EFFICIENT; 
PROVIDING QUALITY AND 

ACCURATE SURVEYS TO KEEP 
PROJECTS ON SCHEDULE.
SEH PROJECT MANAGER

32



SHORT ELLIOT T HENDRICKSON INC.

CHAD WESTBROOK PE, PMP

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

Chad is an electrical engineer with experience that includes 
preparation of studies, construction drawings, and construction 
administration. He is also an experienced project manager who has 
been responsible for project budget, scope, and schedule for many 
of these projects. Chad has prepared construction drawings and 
specifications and provided construction administration through 
all project phases. The types of projects he has worked on include 
boiler and chiller facilities, higher education facilities, industrial 
facilities, water and wastewater treatment facilities, supervisory 
control and data acquisition (SCADA), and public works buildings. 
Chad’s technical experience includes facility power distribution 
and generation systems; facility and outdoor lighting, fire 
alarm detection and notification, communication systems, and 
security systems.

TECHNICAL, INDUSTRY EXPERT, INNOVATIVE
As an electrical and communications engineer, Chad will 
lead the design of fiber optic, data, and communications 
cabling throughout the project site.  Chad will be an 
expert resource to aid in conversations with FAA staff 
during impacts to FAA-owned equipment.

SELECT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

 ○ Ranch Hangar, Duluth International Airport – Duluth, MN

 ○ Terminal Building, Chamberlain Municipal Airport –
Chamberlain, SD

 ○ Terminal Building, Fillmore County Airport – Fillmore
County, MN

 ○ Terminal Building, Glencoe Municipal Airport – Glencoe,
MN

 ○ Cargo Hangar, Thief River Falls Regional Airport –
Thief River Falls, MN

 ○ T-Hangar, Richard B. Helgeson Municipal Airport –
Two Harbors, MN

 ○ Storm Sewer Improvements Design, Metropolitan
Airports Commission – St. Paul, MN

 ○ Freedom Air Hangar Coordination, Lynchburg Regional
Airport – Lynchburg, VA

27
YEARS OF 
EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Science 
Electrical Engineering 
Michigan Technological University-Houghton

REGISTRATIONS/CERTIFICATIONS

Professional Engineer in Minnesota, Alabama, 
Connecticut, Kansas, Kentucky, North Dakota, 
New Jersey, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Texas, 
Virginia and Wisconsin

Project Management Professional (PMP), Project 
Management Institute

WORKLOAD AND AVAILABILITY

Chad is available to support the design team 
for all fiber optic, communication, and electrical 
utility designs for the Air Traffic Control Tower. 
Chad leads a group of over 20 electrical and 
communication professionals that will keep this 
portion of the design on track.

CHAD’S EXPERIENCE WITH 
FEDERAL AND PRIVATE 
COMPLEX ELECTRICAL, 

COMMUNICATION, AND DATA SUPPLY 
IS A VALUE ADDED BENEFIT TO THE 
ENTIRE PROJECT TEAM.
SHAWN MCMAHON | AIRPORT PLANNING AND  
DESIGN PRACTICE CENTER LEADER

33



AARON M. TAST 
Aviation Account Leader, Senior Project Manager 

CERTIFICATIONS 
MnDOT Certified: 
Grading and Base Level I 
Bituminous Plant Level I and II 
Aggregate Production 
No.  06740 

WisDOT Certified: 
Aggregate Tech Level IPP 
HMA Tech Level IPT 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS 
MN Asphalt Pavement Association 

Member of Minnesota Council of Airports  

Mr. Tast is the Aviation Account Leader at Braun Intertec. His responsibilities 
include aviation related geotechnical evaluations, project management, and 
construction oversight within Braun Intertec. Aaron’s responsibilities also include 
airport construction, business development, estimating, reporting, and assisting 
other offices with aviation project needs. He has spent 22 years with Braun Intertec 
as a project manager and senior inspector out of the St. Cloud office.  

As an account leader and senior project manager, Aaron is responsible for: 
 Leading the pursuits and project oversight for aviation sector.
 Business development for the aviation market.
 Plan and specification review for DOT and FAA projects.
 Senior project manager and estimator for airport and transportation projects.
 Oversight on soils, concrete and bituminous airport projects throughout MN,

IA, WI, ND, SD, MO, and MT.
 
PROJECT EXPERIENCE 
Aaron served as senior project manager for the following airport projects: 
 Runway 9/27 / Taxiway A / Multiple Hangars, and Site Improvements, Duluth

International Airport, Duluth MN  Senior Project Manager for Geotechnical,
construction, and environmental services (2015-current).

 New Williston Basin International Airport, Williston, ND  Senior Project
Manager for geotechnical services and construction oversight for new airport
consisting of new terminal, ARFF/SRE facilities, parallel taxiway, and both
runways (2014-2020).

 Brainerd Terminal Expansion and Remodel, Brainerd Regional Airport, Brainerd,
MN  Project Manager.

 Dickinson Runway 15-33 Reconstruction, Dickinson Regional Airport, Dickinson,
ND  Senior Project Manager for geotechnical and construction oversight.

 Montana Airport Runway, Taxiway, and Terminal Projects - Miles City and
Sidney-Richland, MT - Project Manager for geotechnical and construction
oversight (2015-current).

 Runway 13-31 / Taxiway A Reconstruction, Falls International Airport,
International Falls, MN  Senior Project Manager for geotechnical and
construction services (2017-2022).

 Runway 2-20 / Taxiway B Reconstructions, Rochester International Airport,
Rochester, MN  Geotechnical and construction oversight (2019-current).

 Iowa Airport Runway, Taxiway, and Apron Projects - Waterloo, Muscatine,
Independence, Washington, and Iowa Falls IA  Construction and
Geotechnical services (2015-2021).

 ARFF/SRE Facilities & Corporate Hangars, Brainerd Lakes Regional Airport,
Brainerd, MN  Senior Project Manager and Geotechnical services.

34



individual profile 
  

 
 
 
 
 

Ramesh Nair  
Lead Cost Estimator 
 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 

Education 
Master of Science 
(Building Performance/ Diagnostics) 
Carnegie Mellon University 
Pittsburgh, PA 
 
Bachelor of Architecture 
(Architectural Design) 
Mangalore University 
India 
 
Licensed Architect 
State of Illinois 
 
LEED AP (BD+C) 
 
 
References 
 
S.B. Friedman & Co. 
Steve Friedman, Principal 
(312) 424-4260 
 
RS&H 
Mark Wilcer, Project Executive 
(630) 542-8199 
 
Lab/ Life Sciences Architecture 
Mark Reed, Principal 
(617) 817-0088 
 
Farr Associates 
Gabe Wilcox, Associate Principal 
(217) 621-6746 
 

Awards 
American Planning Association 
2008 Gold Award 
Uptown Redevelopment Program 
Park Ridge, Illinois 
 
Construction Excellence 
General Services Administration 2005 
 
GSA Design Awards 2006 
Citation 
U.S. Custom House Renovation 
 
Software 
Primavera P6, Rel 16 
PlanSwift V10.2 
Earthworks 3.0 

Mr. Nair functions as a Project Executive in all aspects of Construction 
Management Services for Vistara Construction Services. He is 
responsible for the Coordination, Quality & Cost Control aspects for large 
institutional and commercial developments. He has over 25 years of 
experience in the construction industry. 

 
 
ARFF Station #2 (Aircraft Rescue and Fire Fighting) - Chicago, IL 
(Ghafari Architects) Provided multiple design phase cost estimates 
and scheduling services for this new 2-story 26,500SF building with 
hose tower. Extensive site prep for future service roads and taxiway. 
Completion Date 2019. Budget $16.9 Million Ref: James Yoshida, Sr 
PM, 312-857-2192, jyoshida@ghafari.com 
 
Airport Maintenance Complex (AMC) Chicago, IL (Muller+Muller, 
Ltd.) Design option and construction cost estimates for a new 88,300 
SF expansion and site work to the maintenance facility. Project 
certification goals: LEED Silver and SAM. Completion Date 2017 
Budget $18.3 Million. Ref: David Steele, 312-313-7703 
dsteele@muller2.com 
 
Lafayette International Terminal, Lafayette, LA (RS&H Architects) 
Construction Cost estimating consultant for the design and 
construction of a new 140,000SF terminal including baggage handling, 
lounges, Check In/ Arrival/ Departure Gates. Expected Completion 
2021. Construction Budget ~ $135 Million. Ref: Mark Wilcer, Sr. VP, 
630-542-8199, mark.wilcer@rsandh.com 

 
New Air Traffic Control Center, Peoria, IL (exp Architects) 
Construction cost estimates for the construction of a new Air Traffic 
Control Center including new infrastructure, relocation of existing 
utilities and meeting FDA standards for safety and space utilization. 
Completion Date 2018. Construction Budget $23.0 Million.   
 
Lubbock Preston Smith International Airport, Tx (RS&H 
Architects) Construction Cost consultant for the renovation of the 
100,000SF terminal including major upgrades to Baggage Handling, 
Face Uplift, Egress modifications, Restroom Upgrades, Passenger 
Experience. Completion Date 2021, Construction Budget – $35.0 
Million. Ref: Mark Wilcer, Sr. VP, 630-542-8199, 
mark.wilcer@rsandh.com 
 

 

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

3535



5
Part V. Demonstrated Experience 



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

3737

EXP’S RECENT RELEVANT EXPERIENCE AND QUALIFICATIONS
EXP is a full-service architecture and engineering firm with over 300 professionals in our Chicago headquarters office. Our 
unique, award-winning firm consistently fosters creative, fully integrated and cost-effective design solutions of superior 
quality and constructability. EXP’s aviation experience goes back over 50 years covering over 60 airports worldwide, 25 of 
which are international. We have the capability and experience to perform any design-related service required.

Our experience includes large hub primary airports such as O’Hare International Airport, DFW International Airport, Orlando 
International Airport, Toronto Pearson International Airport and St. Louis Lambert International Airport, as well as reliever 
and general aviation airports. Our work covers secure and non-secure areas, and includes terminals and concourses, air traffic 
control towers, baggage handling facilities, mechanical/electrical plants, concessions spaces, security checkpoints, hangars, 
ground equipment maintenance facilities, automated people movers, parking garages, runways and taxiways.

EXP has an extensive background in renovations and expansions of existing facilities, as well as in design of brand-new 
facilities. We understand that all aviation work impacts the continuing operations of the active airport environment. We 
know that phasing and sequencing must be considered from the beginning of design to minimize impact to ongoing 
activities and to the revenue stream of the airport, and to ensure that future needs are efficiently integrated with existing 
activities. Our expertise will ensure forward-thinking solutions.

EXP has completed the South Airport Traffic Control Tower at O’Hare International Airport, which is an airport owned 
and FAA operated ATCT. We are also in final design of an Airport owned, FAA operated ATCT at General Wayne Downing 
International Airport in Peoria, IL.

EXPERIENCE WITH FAA OPERATED BUT AIRPORT OWNED TOWERS
EXP also has an extensive background designing Airport Traffic Control Towers, and have completed projects that are owned 
and operated by the FAA, as well as towers that are owned by the sponsor Airport and operated by the FAA.

PREVIOUS SIMILAR PROJECTS
Projects of similar scope are provided on the following pages. 

LITIGATION ABRITRATION CLAIMS
(“EXP”) has never been the subject of major disputes, contract default, liens or adverse judgments.  As with similarly situated 
professional design consulting firms of its size and operations, EXP from time to time defends allegation of negligence 
arising in the course of its operations.  None of the claims have hindered or would hinder EXP’s ability to perform the 
services contemplated or its financial stability.  Should more information on this subject be required EXP’s General 
Counsel is available to discuss in greater detail. Priscilla Ahn, LL.B., B.Sc.  | EXP | General Counsel & Corporate Secretary |  t : 
+1.905.796.3200, 3003 | m : +1.416.587.8065 | e : priscilla.ahn@exp.com 

airside Terminals + Concourses Landside



    |  VOLUME I   |     38

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

3838

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE:

EXP provided full architectural and engineering services from concept design 
through post-construction phase services for the new South Airport Traffic 
Control Tower at O’Hare International Airport (SATCT), this tower is Airport 
owned and FAA operated.

The new SATCT is a Low Activity Level Airport Traffic Control Tower Facility that 
serves the planned 7,500-foot runway 10R-28L, the southern most runway of the 
six east/west runways planned as part of the $15B O’Hare Modernization Project.

The scope of work included the 207-foot tall Tower and 9,943 SF Base Building as 
well as site development and perimeter security. The design provided a simple, 
economical and durable solution to meet the operational needs of the FAA, while 
at the same time addressed the City of Chicago’s desire to create an elegant, 
iconic image that meets sustainable design objectives. The SATCT was designed to 
and achieved LEED Gold certification.

LEED CERTIFICATION DESCRIPTION

LEED Gold Achieved in 2019. EXP utilized an integrated team approach when 
developing our sustainable framework. Internal workshops sessions were 
conducted with all disciplines contributing and brainstorming about qualities that 
will make the SATCT project sustainable. From the form of the building to the way 
it functions, sustainability was a key consideration throughout the design process. 
The facility includes the following sustainable elements:

• The structure itself is comprised of concrete - a sustainable and locally 
produced material which has significantly lower maintenance costs over the 
life of the building than other materials.

• A geothermal field is incorporated as a source of heat exchange and is 
designed to provide an annual energy cost savings of 14 percent. 

• All of the glass in the base building and in the stair enclosures of the tower is 
low-E coated, insulated glass with a ceramic frit pattern which provides some 
transparency while also reducing solar gain. 

DATE OF PERFORMANCE
2011 - 2015

PROPOSED DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION 
SCHEDULES VS. ACTUAL
Scheduled 2015
Complletion 2015

PROJECT LOCATION
Chicago, Illinois

A&E FEES
EXP Contract - $7M

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION BUDGET 
VS. ACTUAL
Proposed - $40M
Actual - $26M

IDENTIFICATION OF ROLES
• Prime - EXP
• Electrical Sub - Millhouse
• Survey, Civil Sub - Environmental Design 

International

OWNER + REFERENCES
Chicago Department of Aviation

Scott Iwamoto  |  FAA
2300 East Devon Avenue
Des Plaines, IL 60018
847.894.7668 
scott.t.iwamoto@faa.gov 

Jon Leach
Former Managing Deputy Commissioner
333 West Wacker Drive Suite 1420
Chicago, Iilinois 60606
+1.312.884.5090
jleach@chiconunes.com

5 

Chicago Department of Aviation

SOUTH AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

awards won

LEED
Gold 

Certification

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

3939

LEED CERTIFICATION DESCRIPTION - CONTINUED

• The 10,000 sf base building roof is a planted green roof, reducing heat island effect and providing insulating value to the 
building below. 

• Low-flow water fixtures are expected to reduce water usage to the building by 40 percent.

• Locally sourced materials were specified, while still maintaining an “open” specification. The use of local materials 
reduces transportation costs and emissions.

• A construction waste recycling program was implemented requiring 95 percent of waste generated from the 
construction site to be recycled.

• The FAA committed to developing a recycling program on site after occupancy, and to maintaining the building with 
environmentally friendly materials.

• Project is an excellent example of an iterative design process with FAA and other stakeholders which allowed for a new 
prototype tower (a simple, economical, and durable solution that met sustainable design objectives). 

Chicago Department of Aviation

SOUTH AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER - CONTINUED



    |  VOLUME I   |     40

4040

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE:

EXP is providing full architectural and engineering services from concept design 
through construction documents phase services for a new Airport owned and 
FAA operated replacement control tower and base building at the Wayne A. 
Downing Peoria International Airport (PIA).

The 440 SF cab has a floor elevation of 132 feet. The FAA control equipment and 
support facilities will be located in the tower and in the 14,000 SF Terminal Radar 
Approach Control (TRACON) and administrative base building.   

The Air Traffic Control Tower’s functional role establishes a progressive 
architectural approach to support the contemporary engineering and technology 
inherent in the project. The design and material palette of this new control tower 
respond to the airport Terminal’s contemporary architectural and material palette.

LEED CERTIFICATION DESCRIPTION

EXP is designing to the High Performance Sustainable Building (HPSB) Guiding 
Principles.

Wayne A Downing Peoria International Airport

PEORIA AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

DATE OF PERFORMANCE
2011 - Ongoing

PROPOSED DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION 
SCHEDULES VS. ACTUAL
Scheduled 2025
Completion Scheduled For 2025

PROJECT LOCATION
Peoria, Illinois

A&E FEES
EXP Contract - $1.5M

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION BUDGET 
VS. ACTUAL
Proposed - Apporximately $30M
Actual - TBD

IDENTIFICATION OF ROLES
• Prime - EXP

OWNER + REFERENCES
Wayne A Downing Peoria international 
Airport

Gene Olson
Director of Airports,
+1. 309.697.8272
golson@FlyPIA.com

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



    |  VOLUME I   |     41

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

4141

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE:
The new Indianapolis International Airport Control Tower was constructed as 
the first phase of the overall airport redevelopment and included the 43,000 SF. 
TRACON Base Building, new Control Tower, and all sitework. At 345 feet tall the 
Tower is the second tallest in the United States. To minimize view obstructions the 
tower cab is supported by one central super-column, thus eliminating perimeter 
columns and visual obstructions at the glass.

The design for the base building uses economical pre-cast concrete with a strong 
horizontal emphasis to visually anchor the Tower to the Indiana prairie. The design 
of the Control Tower Cab was conceived as a glass jewel captured by stainless steel 
fins, and is likened to the setting of a diamond wedding band.

Our firm provided architecture and engineering design services (including 
Architecture, Interior Design, Civil, Structural, MEP, Communications + RF/Radar 
Technology, Security, A/V Systems, Fire Protection and Network Engineering. The 
Tower is a landmark, visible from miles around, and symbolizes the airport as a 
Gateway to Indianapolis. The local press has dubbed it the “Jewel of Indianapolis”.

Federal Aviation Administration

INDIANAPOLIS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

DATE OF PERFORMANCE
2002 - 2006

PROPOSED DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION 
SCHEDULES VS. ACTUAL
Scheduled 
Complletion 2006

PROJECT LOCATION
Indianapolis, Indiana

A&E FEES
EXP Contract - $1.7M

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION BUDGET 
VS. ACTUAL
Proposed - $24M
Actual - $26M

IDENTIFICATION OF ROLES
• Prime - EXP
• Geotechnical - Patriot Engineering
• Wind Tunnel Testing - RWDI, Inc.
• Cost Estimating - Hanscomb

OWNER + REFERENCES
Federal Aviation Administration

Scott Iwamoto  |  FAA
2300 East Devon Avenue
Des Plaines, IL 60018
847.894.7668
scott.t.iwamoto@faa.gov 

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



    |  VOLUME I   |     42

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

4242

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE: 
EXP was selected for the design of an intermediate activity level ATCT (Airport 
Traffic Control Tower) and approximately 16,000 square foot TRACON base building 
at the Greenville Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) in Greer, South Carolina. 

EXP is leading the team to provide all civil, architectural, structural, mechanical, 
plumbing, electrical, security and fire protection design, based on the FAA standard 
tower design and TRACON Base Building Standard Design floor plan architectural 
backgrounds.

LEED CERTIFICATION DESCRIPTION

EXP is designing to the High Performance Sustainable Building (HPSB) Guiding 
Principles.

Federal Aviation Administration

GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT  
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER, GREER, SC

DATE OF PERFORMANCE
TBD - In Progress

PROPOSED DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION 
SCHEDULES VS. ACTUAL
Scheduled 2023
Complletion TBD - In Progress

PROJECT LOCATION
Greer, South Carolina

A&E FEES
EXP Contract - $1,353,752

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION BUDGET 
VS. ACTUAL
Still in Design
Original FAA Budget from siting report is 
$47,636,870. Which includes $1,500,000 for 
relocating an existing remote transmittor/
receiver site.

IDENTIFICATION OF ROLES
• Prime - EXP
• Geotechnical - Terracon
• Land Survey and Civil - CES
• Wind Tunnel Testing - RWDI
• Cost Estimating - Vistara

OWNER + REFERENCES
Federal Aviation Administration

Stefanie Johnson, P.E.
Federal Aviation Administration 
Lead General Engineer, AJW-2E11D 
Terminal Engineering Design, Atlanta 
+1. 404.702.9560

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



    |  VOLUME I   |     43

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

4343

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE:
EXP is providing full architecture and engineering services for the new Air Traffic 
Control Tower at Grand Forks international Airport in Grand Forks, ND.

Due to new and planned airport developments, as well as increasing flights at 
GFK, the existing 90’ tall tower is no longer able to effectively serve the needs 
of the FAA. This project consists of a new 180’ replacement tower and 20,000 sf 
Base Building to consolidate Air Traffic and Technical Operations needs in one 
contiguous facility.

The requested design for the project is a site adaptation of EXP’s design for the 
South Air Traffic Control Tower at O’Hare International Airport in Chicago, IL.

This project is an FAA owned and operated tower, but is being designed in a fully 
integrated and iterative process between the FAA and the Airport to find a solution 
that addresses all parties interest and objectives.

LEED CERTIFICATION DESCRIPTION

EXP is designing to the High Performance Sustainable Building (HPSB) Guiding 
Principles.

Federal Aviation Administration

GRAND FORKS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

DATE OF PERFORMANCE
TBD - In Progress

PROPOSED DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION 
SCHEDULES VS. ACTUAL
Design + Construction: August 2022 - 
December 2025
Actrual: TBD

PROJECT LOCATION
Grand Forks international Airport, Grand 
Forks, North Dakota

A&E FEES
$1.6M

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION BUDGET 
VS. ACTUAL
Proposed: $30M;
Actual: TBD

IDENTIFICATION OF ROLES
• EXP: Architecture, Structural, MEP/FP,

Security/AV
• CPS: Civil Engineering + Survey
• Terracon: Geotechnical

OWNER + REFERENCES
Federal Aviation Administration

Scott Iwamoto  |  FAA
2300 East Devon Avenue
Des Plaines, IL 60018
847.894.7668
scott.t.iwamoto@faa.gov

GFK Airport

Ryan Riesinger, C.M.
Executive Director
Grand Forks Regional Airport Authority
2301 Airport Drive, Suite 107
Grand Forks, ND 58203
+1. 701.795.6981 - Office
+1. 701.738.4646 - Direct
rriesinger@gfkairport.com

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



6
Part VI. Experience in LEED Certification/
Environmental Sustainability



4545

EXP’s COMMITMENT TO SUSTAINABILITY
Sustainable, or green building design, is a core value of EXP. Our commitment 
to the environment is constant as we “educate, evaluate and implement” 
earth-friendly strategies into all of our projects.

We are passionate about maintaining a healthy planet and improving the 
sustainabilityof the places that people travel, live, work and play. We have 
over 80 LEED professionals and over 250 projects that have achieved LEED 
Certification, including 6 LEED Platinum projects. EXP is signatory to the 
AIA 2030 Challenge and is amongst only a handful of firms named as a LEED 
Proven Provider by the USGBC.

Besides being “the right thing to do,” sustainable choices create positive 
outcomes for owners in many ways – reduce operating costs; enhance 
asset value; improve productivity; maintain better occupant health; reduce 
absenteeism; reduce liability; increase profits.

EXP provides support to clients to help them make LEED®, Green, and 
sustainability standard practice. Our dedication to the environment has 
included EXP representation on the national US Green Building Council 
(USGBC) board of directors. EXP has worked on hundreds of LEED certified 
projects. Our LEED documentation is of such high quality that the USGBC 
recognized us as one of a very few LEED Proven Providers. As a Proven 
Provider, we can bring a streamlined LEED review to our clients.

Our approach is simple: Early, Often and On the Fly. We believe early 
involvement in the projects leads to an efficient design process. Sustainable 
ideas, systems and equipment are incorporated into the drawings and 
specifications before the project is bid by the contractors. We are involved 
through the entire process, performing design reviews and providing 
comments to the Project Team. This ensures a high-quality process is 
maintained from start to finish. Checking the drawings and specifications 
often provides assurance to the Owner that their project requirements 
continue to be met.

The EXP team is also completely hands on throughout the project. Our team 
has the capability to lead project meetings. During the meetings, energy, 
water and site calculations are often performed sitting at the table with the 
entire team. This quick reaction allows for decisions to be made on the fly, in 
real time, with no further delays to the documents. 

EXP’s SUSTAINABLE AVIATION PROJECTS
EXP designed the new South Air Traffic Control Tower at O’Hare International 
Airport. This was the first Air Traffic Control Tower at O’Hare to achieve 
a 4-airplane SAM rating and is one of only three LEED Gold towers in the 
US. EXP is designing the PIA, GSP, and GFK towers to the High Performance 
Sustainable Building (HPSB) Guiding Principles. In addition, EXP is engaged in 
a measurement and verification (M&V) project at ORD, taking inventory of 
all equipment and corresponding energy performance. The end result will 
be a “road map” that prioritizes which equipment should be replaced first, 
identification of expected return on investment, and calculation of ultimate 
life cycle cost savings and reduction in carbon consumption. In addition, 
EXP has been working at DFW airport, the first carbon neutral airport in the 
country. All projects consider sustainability in design.

ORD, SATCT  |  EXP designed the new 
South Air Traffic Control Tower at O’Hare 

International Airport. This was the first 
Air Traffic Control Tower at O’Hare to 
achieve a 4-airplane SAM rating and is 

one of only three LEED Gold towers in 
the US.

350+
LEED Certified projects

80+
LEED AP’s on Staff

RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER



7
Part VII. Conceptual Rendering of 
the future DLH ATCT located at 
the proposed future ATCT location 
(Airport Preferred Location)



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

47

CONCEPTUAL RENDERINGS OF THE FUTURE DLH ATCT LOCATED AT THE PROPOSED FUTURE ATCT 
LOCATION (AIPRORT PREFERRED LOCATION)
We have included within several renderings of previous Air Traffic Control Tower designs that we have done for other locations 
including O’Hare International Airport, Peoria International Airport and Baltimore Washington International Airport (See page 48 
for these renderings). All three projects are airport owned and FAA operated towers.

We have included these to demonstrate our rendering capabilities, and to show our ability to design airport owned towers that 
address the specific desires of the airports, and that have met all FAA requirements.

We have also included a rendering of a conceptual design for the Duluth International Airport (See page 49 for this rendering). 
Our design process for all projects is rooted in the belief that design should be a fully integrated and iterative process with 
the client and other stakeholders, and that this involvement is the only way to arrive at the correct solution However, absent 
your input at this time we have developed a design that is based on a site adaptation of the tower we designed for O’Hare 
International Airport. As stated above, the O’Hare ATCT is an airport owned and FAA operated tower and is a very low 
maintenance and low-cost design. We see opportunity to include some reference to the Duluth Airport by including infill/ 
accents of the same color as the Duluth main terminal building without adding cost.

This is not a final design, only an initial concept done by us without your necessary input. We look forward to working with you 
and together arriving at the best design for this tower at your airport.



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

48

O’hare International Airport SATCT

Peoria International Airport ATCT

Baltimore Washington International Airport ATCT



RFQ FOR PROFESSIONAL AIRPORT CONSULTING 
SERVICES DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TOWER

       |     49

49



Resolution to Approve Sponsorship Agreement Between the Duluth Airport 
Authority and AMSOIL INC. 

Executive Summary 

Terms: 

• Length of Agreement – 10 years

Overview 

• $30,000 annually, totaling $300,000 over the length of the contract.
• Advertisement locations in the contract include what is currently existing, as well as additional

visibility wrapping the upper level of the carousel with a graphic design of AMSOIL’s
choosing.

VII - F



DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENT 

AMSOIL INC.  

PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT ARE the DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY, the 
governmental authority organized and existing under the Laws of Minnesota, 1969, Chapter 577, 
hereafter referred to as “Authority”, and AMSOIL INC., a Delaware Corporation (hereinafter 
referred to as “AMSOIL”). 

THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THE FOLLOWING: 
1. The Authority is the operator of the Duluth International Airport (hereinafter “Airport”),

including its passenger terminal facility (hereinafter “Terminal”) located in the City of
Duluth, State of Minnesota and is in the business of promoting and managing aviation
activity at the Airport; and

2. AMSOIL desires to sponsor one of the conference rooms in the Airport and advertise its
products within the Airport; and

3. DAA desires to have AMSOIL and to provide a presence in the Terminal as described in
more detail herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements 
contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 

SECTION 1 
DEFINITIONS 

The following terms, as used in this Lease Agreement, shall have the meanings as ascribed to them 
thereunder. 

A. Airport shall mean the Duluth International Airport located in the City of Duluth, County
of St. Louis, State of Minnesota.

B. Terminal is the commercial passenger terminal located at the Duluth International Airport.
C. Consent or Approval of Authority and of Executive Director: where this Agreement calls

for the consent or approval of the Authority, the same shall be in the form of a resolution
approved by the Authority as provided by law; where the consent or approval of the
Executive Director is required, the same shall be evidenced by a written document dated
and signed by him or her or by a person designated by him to sign such document.

D. Club DLH is defined as the private business center located on the second floor of the
Terminal as shown in Exhibit A.

E. Sponsored Space shall refer to the approved branded areas for exclusive use as further
described in Section 3 below, and shown on Exhibit A.

SECTION 2 
TERM 

Notwithstanding the date of this Agreement, the Term of this Agreement shall commence on 
April 16, 2023, and shall remain in effect for 10 years until April 15, 2033.  In the event that 
the Term expires and a new agreement has not been executed, at the sole discretion and upon 



the prior written consent of the Executive Director, this Agreement shall continue in effect on 
a month-to-month basis under the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement subject to 
the adjustment of fees.   

SECTION 3 
SPONSORED SPACE 

A. DAA agrees to continue the dedication of the conference room shown in exhibit A-1.
B. DAA agrees to update baggage claim monitors as shown in exhibit A-2 ensuring

AMSOIL graphics are always in rotation.
C. DAA agrees to add additional visibility in baggage claim, by wrapping carousel 2 with

advertising of AMSOIL’s choosing as shown in exhibit A-3. AMSOIL shall be
responsible for all costs related to the design, concept, look, and feel of the content regarding
the AMSOIL brand wrapped around the baggage claim carousel. This content is subject to
the prior written approval of DAA’s Executive Director or designee. AMSOIL may change
the graphic content on an annual basis. In such event, AMSOIL shall be responsible for the
production costs associated with the changed graphic content, DAA shall contract for the
installation, and AMSOIL shall pay the installation costs.

D. Taxes, Assessments and License Fees. AMSOIL shall be liable for the payment of all
taxes, assessments, license fees or other charges that may be levied or assessed during the
term of this Agreement arising in any manner out of this Agreement, charged by any
governmental agency and to provide evidence of AMSOIL shall fail or neglect to pay any
of said taxes, assessments, license fees or other charges when the same become due, the
DAA may pay the same, together with any cost or penalty which may be accrued thereon,
and collect the entire amount so paid from AMSOIL, and AMSOIL hereby agree to pay
such entire amount due to the DAA upon demand therefor.

SECTION 4 
SPONSORSHIP BENEFITS 

Provided that this Agreement has not been previously terminated, and AMSOIL is not in default 
hereunder, AMSOIL shall have at no additional cost to AMSOIL, the following: 

AMSOIL shall have the right to utilize two (2) assigned, covered parking stalls. The location of 
the parking stalls shall be in the sole discretion of the Executive Director.  The parking stalls are 
deemed to be offered on the same basis and rates available to other members of the general public. 

AMSOIL shall have the right to utilize four (4) business passes to the Corporate Business Centre. 

Exclusivity. The exclusivity granted in Paragraph 3 shall not restrict DAA in any way from selling 
advertising, ad space, sponsorships, or any other product or service to any third party on standard 
commercial terms in other locations, even if such third party is using such advertising, ad space, 
sponsorships, product or service for the solicitation or sale of products similar to or competitive 
with AMSOIL. 



SECTION 5 
USE OF TRADEMARKS 

A. To the extent necessary to fulfill DAA’s obligations herein, AMSOIL hereby grants
DAA a royalty-free, non-transferable worldwide license during the term of this
Agreement to use the trademarks, service marks, logos, trade names, copyrighted content,
hypertext links, domain names, icons, buttons, banners, graphic files associated with
AMSOIL products (in plain and/or logo form) and all derivations thereof (the “AMSOIL
Intellectual Property”). In addition, AMSOIL hereby authorizes DAA to use the name
“Al Amatuzio” in connection with DAA’s use of the Conference Room, DAA shall obtain
the prior written approval of VP Finance & Corporate Controller or designee (the “VP”)
of any use of any logos or marks associated with AMSOIL (including, without limitation,
advertisements, press releases, promotional e-mails, and/or website displays) by
submitting the proposed material to the VP at least ten (10) business days’ prior to the
dissemination of such materials. A decision on such approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed.

B. In addition, DAA hereby grants AMSOIL a royalty-free, non-transferable worldwide
license during the term of this Agreement to use logos or marks associated with DAA or
the Airport, subject to the following: AMSOIL shall obtain the prior written approval of
the Executive Director any use of any logos or marks associated with DAA or the Airport
(including, without limitation, advertisements, press releases, promotional e-mails, and/or
website displays) by submitting the proposed material to the Executive Director at least
ten (10) business days prior to the dissemination of such materials. A decision on such
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

SECTION 6 
RESTRICTIONS ON ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASING SPACE 

AMSOIL cannot sell, assign, transfer, or convey this Agreement, or assign, share, sublet its use of 
the LCD Screen or Edge lit Display (the “Space”), or any part thereof.  Any attempted sale, sharing, 
subletting, assignment, transfer, conveyance of this Agreement or any portion of the Space in 
violation of this Paragraph shall constitute a breach of this Agreement. 

SECTION 7 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

AMSOIL represents and warrants to DAA that: 

AMSOIL owns or validly possesses the right to make, use, perform, sell and display AMSOIL 
Intellectual Property at the Airport or to promote its presence at the Airport; 

AMSOIL has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform all of 
its obligations hereunder; 



this Agreement has been duly authorized and approved by all necessary and proper corporate 
action on the part of AMSOIL and is the valid, legally binding and enforceable obligation of 
AMSOIL in accordance with its terms; and 

the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by AMSOIL does not conflict with, 
violate or constitute a default under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any contract or 
other instrument to which AMSOIL is a party or by which AMSOIL is or may be bound. 

SECTION 8 
INDEMNIFICATION 

AMSOIL agrees for itself, to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless DAA, the City of Duluth and 
their respective officers, agents, servants and employees from and against any and all losses, 
claims, actions, demands, liabilities, judgments, penalties, injunctive relief, injury to person(s) or 
the Airport, costs, damages and expenses by reason of any actual or alleged act or omission of 
AMSOIL or their employees, agents, or invitees in connection with or relating to  

A. AMSOIL use of the Airport pursuant to this Agreement, or

B. AMSOIL infringement of any intellectual property, including without limitation
copyright, patent, or the unauthorized use of a registered trademark or service mark or
other violations of the property or proprietary rights, or the rights of privacy or publicity
of any third party arising from, related to or in connection with this Agreement. Upon ten
(10) days’ written notice AMSOIL will appear and defend all claims and lawsuits against
DAA and/or the City growing out of any such injuries or damages. Neither DAA nor the
City waives their respective immunities under state or federal law.

SECTION 9 
SPONSORSHIP FEE AND RELATED CONSIDERATION 

In consideration for the rights and benefits granted to AMSOIL pursuant to this Agreement, 
AMSOIL shall pay DAA an annual fee in the amount  $30,000 (the “Fee”). The first payment shall 
be due upon the execution of this Agreement. The remaining payments shall be due on or before 
January 1st of each year with the final payment due on January 1, 2033. The total Fees paid under 
this Agreement shall be $300,000 

SECTION 10 
TERMINATION 

DAA shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon breach by AMSOIL of any of its 
representations, warranties, covenants or obligations under this Agreement, which breach has not 
been cured within ten (10) business days after receipt of notice specifying such breach. In the event 
of a termination by DAA pursuant to this Paragraph, AMSOIL shall forfeit all Fees paid and shall 



further be responsible for payment of the remaining portion of the Fees due under this Agreement. 
In addition, DAA shall have the right to pursue all other rights and remedies at law or in equity. 

AMSOIL shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon breach by DAA of any of its 
representations, warranties, covenants or obligations under this Agreement, which breach has not 
been cured within ten (10) business days after receipt of notice specifying such breach provided, 
however, that if such breach is incapable of being cured within such ten (10) business days after 
notice, and if DAA commences and diligently prosecutes the appropriate steps to cure such breach, 
no default shall exist so long as DAA is proceeding to cure such breach. In the event of termination 
by AMSOIL pursuant to this Paragraph, AMSOIL shall have no further responsibility for Fees due 
under this Agreement. In addition, AMSOIL shall have the right to pursue all other rights and 
remedies at law or in equity. 

SECTION 11 
NO THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS 

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto and no 
other person shall acquire or have any rights created hereunder. 

SECTION 12 
APPLICABLE LAW 

This Agreement, together with all of its articles, terms and provision, is made in the State of 
Minnesota and shall be construed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Minnesota.  
The appropriate venue and jurisdiction for litigation hereunder shall be in a court located in St. 
Louis County, Minnesota.  However, litigation in the federal courts involving the parties shall be 
in the appropriate federal court within the State of Minnesota.  The parties to this Agreement waive 
any objections to the jurisdiction of these courts, whether based on convenience or otherwise. 

SECTION 13 
NOTICES 

All written notices and/or communications hereunder shall be sent by U.S. mail postage prepaid, 
by overnight delivery, or personal delivery to the addresses indicated and shall be deemed 
delivered on the date received or refusal thereof. 

Any notice provided for in this Agreement or otherwise to the Authority shall be sent to: 

Duluth Airport Authority 
Executive Director  
Duluth International Airport 
470l Grinden Drive  
Duluth, Minnesota 558ll   

Any notice to the Lessee hereunder shall be sent to: 



AMSOIL INC. 
VP Finance & Corporate Controller 
ATTN:  
925 Tower Ave 
Superior, WI 54880 

SECTION 14 
COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument signed by both parties.  This 
Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be original and all 
of which together shall constitute the binding and enforceable agreement of the parties hereto.  
This Agreement may be executed and delivered by a party by facsimile or PDF transmission, 
which transmission copy shall be considered an original and shall be binding and enforceable 
against such party. 

SECTION 15 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior 
written and oral agreements and negotiations between the parties relating to the subject matter 
hereto. No waiver consent, modification or change of terms of this Agreement shall bind either 
party unless in writing and signed by both parties. Such waiver, consent, modification or change, 
if made, shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose given. There 
are no understandings, agreements or representations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement. AMSOIL, by the signature below of its authorized representative, 
hereby acknowledges that AMSOIL has read this Agreement, understands it and agrees to be 
bound by its terms and conditions. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands the day and date shown below. 

DATED: ____________________ 

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY AMSOIL INC. 

By: __________________________ By:_____________________________ 
      President 

Printed Name: ____________________      

By: __________________________ 
      Secretary Title: ___________________________ 



 
EXHIBIT A-1 

Airport Conference Room Location 
(3rd Floor) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A-2 
Airport Baggage Claim LCD Location 

(1st Floor) 



EXHIBIT A-3 
Airport Baggage Claim Carousel Wrap 

(1st Floor) 

EXHIBIT A-4 



Airport Edge Lit Display Location 
(2nd Floor) 



Resolution to Approve Sponsorship Agreement Between the Duluth Airport 

Authority and Duluth Pack 

Terms: 

• Length of Agreement – 1 year with 2 additional one (1) year options

Overview: 

• $3,000 annually

• Duluth Pack will continue to sponsor the space above carousel 2.

VII - G



Page 1 of 7 

DULUTH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR THE DISPLAY OF DULUTH PACK ADVERTISING 

PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT ARE the DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY, the governmental 
authority organized and existing under the Laws of Minnesota, 1969, Chapter 577, hereafter 
referred to as “Authority”, and BKR Investments LLC, DBA Duluth Pack (“Advertiser”). 

THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THE FOLLOWING: 
1. The Authority is the operator of the Duluth International Airport (hereinafter “Airport”),

including its passenger terminal facility (hereinafter “Terminal”) located in the City of
Duluth, St. Louis County, State of Minnesota and is in the business of promoting and
managing aviation activity at the Airport; and

2. Duluth Pack desires to advertise its products or services within the Terminal; and
3. DAA desires to have Duluth Pack and to provide a presence in the Terminal as described

in more detail herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements 
contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 

This License Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into June 1, 2023, between Duluth Airport 
Authority (“DAA”) and BKR Investments DBA Duluth Pack (“Advertiser”).  

SECTION 1 
DEFINITIONS 

A. Airport shall mean the Duluth International Airport located in the City of Duluth, County of
St. Louis, State of Minnesota.

B. Terminal is the commercial passenger terminal located at the Duluth International Airport
with a street address of 4701 Grinden Drive, Duluth, MN 55811

C. Consent or Approval of Authority and of Executive Director: where this Agreement calls
for the consent or approval of the Authority, the same shall be in the form of a resolution
approved by the Authority as provided by law; where the consent or approval of the
Executive Director is required, the same shall be evidenced by a written document dated
and signed by him or her or by a person designated by him to sign such document.

D. Sponsored Space shall refer to the approved branded areas for exclusive use as further
described in Section 3 below, and shown on Exhibit A.

SECTION 2 
TERM 

Notwithstanding the date of this Agreement, the Term of this Agreement shall be deemed to 
commence on June 1, 2023, and will continue through May 31st, 2024, unless earlier terminated 
as set forth herein. This Agreement may be renewed upon mutual written agreement of the 
Executive Director and Advertiser for up to two additional one-year periods. Each party shall notify 
the other in writing at least 90 days prior to the expiration of the term or renewal term if they wish 
to renew the term of the Agreement. Such renewal shall be under the same terms and conditions 
stated in this Agreement,  



Page 2 of 7 

SECTION 3 
LICENSE 

A. DAA hereby grants to the Advertiser a limited, non-transferable license in the area of the
Terminal identified on the attached Exhibit A (the “Licensed Space”). The Licensed Space
shall be used solely for the purpose of displaying the Advertiser’s advertisement.
Advertiser takes the Licensed Space in an “as is” condition without representations or
warranties of any kind, and DAA shall not be obligated to make any alterations or
improvements on or to the Licensed Space.

B. Taxes, Assessments and License Fees. The Advertiser shall be liable for the payment of
all taxes, assessments, license fees or other charges that may be levied or assessed
during the term of this Agreement arising in any manner out of this Agreement, charged
by any governmental agency and to provide evidence of the Advertiser shall fail or
neglect to pay any of said taxes, assessments, license fees or other charges when the
same become due, the DAA may pay the same, together with any cost or penalty which
may be accrued thereon, and collect the entire amount so paid from the Advertiser, and
the Advertiser hereby agrees to pay such entire amount due to the DAA upon demand
therefor.

SECTION 4 
ADVERTISING SPECIFICATIONS 

A. Advertiser shall provide the advertising content at its sole expense on a mutually
agreeable form of media.

B. Advertiser agrees that the advertising shall solely be used for the purpose of promoting
Advertiser’s products or services and shall not be used for any other purposes. Advertiser
is responsible for all costs related to the design, concept, look and feel of the content used
in the advertising. All advertising content is subject to the prior written approval of the
DAA’s Executive Director or designee (the “Executive Director”).

C. Advertiser shall be solely responsible for the installation and maintenance of the
advertising media as set forth herein.

D. Advertiser shall be responsible for the removal of the advertising media in a timely manner
and restoration of the License Space as set forth herein upon a schedule as determined
by DAA.

E. Nothing herein shall restrict DAA in any way from selling advertising, ad space,
sponsorships, or any other product or service to any third party on standard commercial
terms in other locations, even if such third party is using such advertising, ad space,
sponsorships, product or service for the solicitation or sale of products similar to or
competitive with Advertiser.

SECTION 5 
LICENSE FEE 

In consideration for the rights and benefits granted to Advertiser pursuant to this Agreement, 
Advertiser shall pay to DAA a monthly fee in the amount of $250.00. (the “Fee”) to be paid in 
advance of the first day of each month of the year at the address set forth in Paragraph 21 below. 
The initial payment shall be due upon execution of this Agreement.  



Page 3 of 7 

SECTION 6 
ADVERTISEMENT INSTALLATION 

The advertisement shall remain installed as it is currently. In the event the Advertiser wishes to 
update the graphic content, the Advertiser shall be responsible for the production and installation 
associated with the changed content, and the Advertiser shall pay the installation costs. The 
updated graphic is subject to the prior written approval of DAA’s Executive Director or designee. 

SECTION 7 
MAINTENANCE 

Advertiser agrees to keep the Licensed Space including the advertisement in a clean, neat and 
orderly condition and in compliance with all laws and codes applicable to the Licensed Space. 
The Advertiser shall keep the advertisement operational, functional and/or stocked, as the case 
may be, during all Terminal hours other than as may be required for any repair, maintenance 
and/or restocking. In the event that the Advertiser shall fail to so maintain any portion of the said 
Licensed Space, the DAA shall have the right, but not the obligation, to itself perform or have 
performed said maintenance and to charge the Advertiser therefor, which charge the Advertiser 
shall promptly pay. Any damage occurring as a result of the DAA performing or having performed 
maintenance due to the Advertiser’s failure to do so shall be the responsibility of the Advertiser 
and not that of the DAA.  

SECTION 8  
RESTRICTIONS ON ASSIGNMENT 

Except for the contracting or subcontracting of installation, the Advertiser shall not sell, assign, 
transfer, or convey this Agreement or any part thereof, or sell, assign, transfer, convey, share or 
sublet its use of the Licensed Space or any part thereof. Any attempt to sell, assign, transfer, 
convey, share or sublet this Agreement or the Licensed Space or any portion thereof in violation 
of this Paragraph shall constitute a breach of this Agreement.  

SECTION 9 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Advertiser represents and warrants to DAA that: 

A. Advertiser owns or validly possesses the right to make, use, perform, sell and display any
patented products, copyrighted works, trademarks, service marks and trade names, as
the case may be, used by Advertiser in its advertisement;

B. Advertiser has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to
perform all of its obligations hereunder;

C. this Agreement has been duly authorized and approved by all necessary and proper
corporate action on the part of Advertiser and is the valid, legally binding and enforceable
obligation of Advertiser in accordance with its terms; and

D. the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Advertiser does not conflict
with, violate or constitute a default under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any
contract or other instrument to which Advertiser is a party or by which Advertiser is or may
be bound.



Page 4 of 7 

SECTION 10 
INDEMNIFICATION 

The Advertiser agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless DAA and the City of Duluth (the 
“City”) and their respective officers, agents, servants and employees from and against any and 
all losses, claims, actions, demands, liabilities, judgments, penalties, injunctive relief, injury to 
person(s) or property or the Licensed Space, costs, damages and expenses, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees, by reason of any actual or alleged act or omission of Advertiser or Advertiser’s 
officers, employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors or invitees in connection with or relating 
to (a) Advertiser’s use or occupancy of the Licensed Space or the Terminal pursuant to this 
Agreement, (b) the display of Advertiser’s advertising including any allegation that the use of any 
name, visual presentation or other material is illegal, unauthorized or damaging in any way to a 
person or entity, or (b) Advertiser’s infringement of any intellectual property, including without 
limitation copyright, patent, or the unauthorized use of a registered trademark or service mark or 
other violations of property or proprietary rights, or the rights of privacy or publicity of any third 
party arising from, related to or in connection with this Agreement. Upon ten (10) days’ written, 
notice Advertiser shall appear and defend all claims and lawsuits against DAA and/or the City 
growing out of any such injuries or damages. Neither DAA nor the City waives their respective 
immunities under state or federal law.  

SECTION 11 
EXPIRATION 

Upon the expiration of this Agreement, the Advertiser’s rights to use the Licensed Space shall 
cease and Advertiser shall, promptly and in good condition surrender the same to DAA. In the 
event that the Advertiser has in any way changed, altered or modified the Licensed Space, 
Advertiser agrees to return the same to the condition it was in at the time of the signing of this 
Agreement. In such event, an authorized representative of the Advertiser shall be available at all 
reasonable times to coordinate the advertisement removal and Licensed Space restoration. 
Alternatively, if agreed to by the Executive Director, the Advertiser shall pay DAA for the cost of 
returning the Licensed Space to said condition unless waived by the Executive Director in writing 
in which event any improvements or property which have become part of the realty shall become 
the property of DAA. Any improvements or property not part of the realty shall be removed within 
ten (10) days of expiration. Such improvements or property not removed may be removed by 
DAA, and Advertiser shall, immediately upon receipt of invoice, pay for the costs incurred therefor. 
In such event, all property shall be deemed to have been abandoned to the DAA and the 
Advertiser’s right to possession shall cease.  

SECTION 12 
TERMINATION 

DAA shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon breach by Advertiser of any of its 
representations, warranties, covenants or obligations under this Agreement, which breach has 
not been cured within ten (10) business days after receipt of notice specifying such breach. In the 
event of a termination by DAA pursuant to this Paragraph, Advertiser shall forfeit all Fees paid 
and shall further be responsible for payment of the remaining portion of the Fees due under this 
Agreement. Additionally, DAA shall have the immediate right to take possession of the Licensed 
Space. Upon five (5) day’s written notice to the Advertiser, DAA may remove all property from the 
Licensed Space, and Advertiser shall, immediately upon receipt of invoice, pay for the costs 
incurred therefor. In such event, all property shall be deemed to have been abandoned to the 



Page 5 of 7 

DAA and the Advertiser’s right to possession shall cease. In addition, DAA shall have the right to 
pursue all other rights and remedies at law or in equity.  

SECTION 13 
NO THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS 

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto and no 
other person shall acquire or have any rights created hereunder.  

SECTION 14  
APPLICABLE LAW 

This Agreement, together with all of its articles, terms and provision, is made in the State of 
Minnesota and shall be construed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of 
Minnesota. The appropriate venue and jurisdiction for litigation hereunder shall be in a court 
located in St. Louis County, Minnesota. However, litigation in the federal courts involving the 
parties shall be in the appropriate federal court within the State of Minnesota. The parties to this 
Agreement waive any objections to the jurisdiction of these courts, whether based on 
convenience or otherwise. 

SECTION 15 
NOTICES 

All written notices and/or communications hereunder shall be sent by U.S. mail postage prepaid 
or personal delivery to the addresses indicated and shall be deemed delivered on the date 
received or refusal thereof. 

Any notice provided for in this Agreement or otherwise to the Authority shall be sent to: 

Duluth Airport Authority  
Attn: Director of Marketing & 
Communications  
4701 Grinden Drive  
Duluth, MN 55811  

Any notice to the Lessee hereunder shall be sent to: 

BKR Investments DBA Duluth Pack 
Attn: Andrea Johnson  
1610 West Superior Street  
Duluth, MN 55806 

SECTION 16 
SEVERABILITY 

In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid, unenforceable, or violate any applicable law, the remaining provisions shall continue in 
full force and effect and shall be binding upon the parties to this Agreement.  



Page 6 of 7 
 

 
 

SECTION 17 
WAIVER 

 
Any waiver by either party of any provision of this Agreement shall not imply a subsequent waiver 
of that or any other provision. In order to be effective, a waiver must be in writing.  
 

SECTION 18 
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

 
Liability of the DAA and the City shall be governed by the provisions of the Minnesota Municipal 
Limitation of Liability Statute, Minnesota Statute Section 466 et seq.  
 

SECTION 19 
AMENDMENTS 

 
Any amendment to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be executed by the same parties 
who executed the original agreement or their successors in office.  
 

SECTION 20 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

 
This Agreement, including exhibits, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and 
supersedes all prior written and oral agreements and negotiations between the parties relating 
to the subject matter hereto. No waiver consent, modification or change of terms of this 
Agreement shall bind either party unless in writing and signed by both parties. Such waiver, 
consent, modification or change, if made, shall be effective only in the specific instance and for 
the specific purpose given. There are no understandings, agreements or representations, oral or 
written, not specified herein regarding this Agreement. The Advertiser, by the signature below of 
its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges that the Advertiser has read this 
Agreement, understands it and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands the day and date shown 

below.  

DATED: ____________________  

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY     BKR Investments DBA Duluth Pack  

By: __________________________   By:_____________________________ 

President  

Printed Name: ____________________  

By: __________________________      

Secretary       Title: ____________________________  

        Authorized Representative 



Page 7 of 7 
 

EXHIBIT A 

LICENSED SPACE 

 

 



Duluth Airport Authority 
Cirrus Aircraft 

Estopple Certificate 

Background: 
• Original Cirrus Airport Ground Lease signed in 1993.

• Cirrus has/will purchase the “Incubator” building from City of Duluth.

• City of Duluth & Cirrus have/will enter into a sublease agreement for certain
portions of the property.

Estopple Overview: 
• Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the Ground Lease, DAA, to the

extent that DAA’s consent is required under the Ground Lease, hereby consents
to the 2023 Sublease Agreement and affirms that from and after the date of
commencement of the term of the 2023 Sublease Agreement,  Sublessee shall
enjoy all of the rights and benefits of a tenant under the 2023 Sublease
Agreement; provided that  Sublessee, and its successors and assigns, shall use
the Premises for aeronautical purposes or uses, which permitted uses include
but shall not be limited to aircraft manufacturing, testing, servicing, sales and
training.

• To DAA’s knowledge, there are no present defaults under the terms and conditions
of the Ground Lease as they effect the Premises, and no event has occurred which,
with the giving of notice or passage of time, or both, could result in such a default.

Why were the changes in key terms needed/wanted? 
• The Estopple is an exhibit to the sale of the Incubator facility between the City of

Duluth and Cirrus.

VII - H



US.355875368.04 

C-1

 

EXHIBIT F 

ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned, on behalf of the DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY (“DAA”), a 

governmental authority organized and existing under the laws of the State of Minnesota, 1969, 

Chapter 577, hereby certifies and confirms to and agrees with CIRRUS DESIGN 

CORPORATION, a Wisconsin corporation (“Sublessee”) as follows:   

1. DAA as Landlord and DULUTH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY,

a public body, corporate and politic and political subdivision under Minnesota Statutes Chapter 

469 (“Previous Tenant”) are the original parties to that certain Airport Ground Lease dated as of 

August 12, 1993 (the “Ground Lease”), a correct and complete copy of the Ground Lease and all 

amendments thereto are attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

2. Pursuant to an Assignment of Rights and Ground Lease and Consents dated

February 5, 2002, a correct and complete copy of which is attached as Exhibit C (the “2002 

Assignment”), City is the current tenant under the Ground Lease as to that portion of the leasehold 

property described on the attached Exhibit A (the “Premises”).  Note that the Ground Lease also 

includes property that is not subject to the 2002 Assignment and is not addressed in this Estoppel 

Certificate.   

3. DAA understands that City intends to sublease the Premises to Sublessee

pursuant to a sublease agreement (the “2023 Sublease Agreement”).  On the date of 

commencement of the term of the 2023 Sublease Agreement, Sublessee shall become the tenant 

of the Premises under the 2023 Sublease Agreement. Notwithstanding any provision to the 

contrary in the Ground Lease, DAA, to the extent that DAA’s consent is required under the 

Ground Lease, hereby consents to the 2023 Sublease Agreement and affirms that from and after 

the date of commencement of the term of the 2023 Sublease Agreement,  Sublessee shall enjoy 

all of the rights and benefits of a tenant under the 2023 Sublease Agreement; provided that  

Sublessee, and its successors and assigns, shall use the Premises for aeronautical purposes or 

uses, which permitted uses include but shall not be limited to aircraft manufacturing, testing, 

servicing, sales and training.  

4. As to the Premises, the Ground Lease is in full force and effect in accordance with

its terms and, as to the Premises, the leasehold interest has been assigned to City, but has not been 

supplemented, modified or otherwise amended other than to renew the initial term.   

5. To DAA’s knowledge, there are no present defaults under the terms and conditions

of the Ground Lease as they effect the Premises, and no event has occurred which, with the giving 

of notice or passage of time, or both, could result in such a default. 

6. The current expiration date of the Ground Lease is December 31, 2043 with an

option to renew for an additional twenty-five (25) year term.   Subject to and upon the terms of the 



2023 Sublease Agreement, Sublessee shall be permitted to exercise the renewal option under the 

Ground Lease.  

7. The rent and other charges due under the Ground Lease are currently paid in full

through June 20, 2023.  

8. DAA currently holds a Security Deposit (as defined in the Lease) from Current

Tenant equal to $0.00.  

This Estoppel Certificate and the representations made herein are given by Landlord with 

the knowledge that Sublessee and other third parties, including any party providing financing to 

Sublessee in connection with the 2023 Sublease Agreement (any such party, a “Lender”), may rely 

upon the truth, accuracy and completeness of this certification.  This Estoppel Certificate shall be 

binding upon the Landlord and its successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of 

Sublessee, its respective successors and assigns, and any Lender.  

Executed this 20th day of June, 2023. 

LANDLORD: 

Duluth Airport Authority 

By: 

Kimberly J. Maki, President 

By: 

Jeffery D. Anderson, Secretary 

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

)  SS 

ST LOUIS COUNTY ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

_________________, 2023, by Board President Kimberly J. Maki of the Duluth Airport Authority, 

a governmental authority organized and existing under the laws of the State of Minnesota, 1969, 

Chapter 577, on behalf of the governmental authority. 

_________________________________ 

Name:____________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Minnesota 



STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

)  SS 

ST LOUIS COUNTY ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

_________________, 2023, by Jeffery D. Anderson, as Board Secretary of the Duluth Airport 

Authority, a governmental authority organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Minnesota, 1969, Chapter 577, on behalf of the governmental authority. 

_________________________________ 

Name:____________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Minnesota 



EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Land 



 



DEDA Cd 1),<LL<--C' - D 'ft 
CONTRACT # t.f 3 · S' ~, S- {: 1-f 7 

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

AIRPORT GROUND LEASE AND AGREEMENT 

DULUTH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

AUGUST, 1993 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PAGE NUMBER 

Article 1. - Definitions 1 

Article 2. - Lease 3 

Article 3. - Plans and Construction 5 

Article 4. - Tenn 6 

Article 5. - Payments 7 

Article 6. - Future Construction and Leasehold 10 
Improvements 

Article 7. - Provision Against Liens 11 

Article 8. - Maintenance of Premises 12 

Article 9. - Quiet Enjoyment/Power of Attorney for 12 
Site Work 

Article 10. - Indemnification and Insurance By Lessee 12 

Article 11. - Environmental Indemnification 16 

Article 12. - Default and Tennination 17 

Article 13. - Attorney's Fees and Costs 19 

Article 14. - Surrender of Possession - Rights to Property 20 

Article 15. - Laws, Rules and Regulations 20 

Article 16. - Civil Rights Assurances 21 

Article 17. - Subordination - Government Commitments 21 

Article 18. - Amendment or Modification 22 

Article 19. - Force Majeure 22 

Article 20. - Notices 22 

Article 21. - Applicable Law 23 

Article 22. - Drugs and Alcohol 23 

Article 23. - Duty to be Reasonable 23 



DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

AIRPORT GROUND LEASE AND AGREEMENT 

DULUTH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

THIS GROUND LEASE AND AGREEMENT is entered into this __ day of August, 1993. 

The Parties to this Agreement are the DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY, a governmental authority 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Minnesota, 1969, Chapter 577 (hereinafter 

referred to as "Authority"), and DULUTH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a public 

body, corporate and politic, existing under the laws of the State of Minnesota (hereinafter referred 

to as "Lessee"). 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

WHEREAS, Authority is the operator and leasing agent for properties located at Duluth 

International Airport in Duluth, Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, Lessee is desirous of leasing a portion of said property for the purpose of 

releasing and development; and 

WHEREAS, Authority is desirous of leasing property to Lessee for that purpose. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions 

hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1. 

DEFINITIONS 

A. Agreement: shall mean this Agreement, as originally executed or as it may from time 

to time be modified, amended or supplemented pursuant to the provisions hereof. 

B. Airport: shall mean the Duluth International Airport located in and adjacent to the City 

of Duluth, County of St. Louis, State of Minnesota. 



( 

/ 

C. Consent or Approval of Authority and of Executive Director: Where this Agreement 

shall call for the consent or approval of Authority, the same shall be in the form of a 

resolution approved by Authority as provided for by law; where the consent or approval 

of the Executive Director is required, the same shall be evidenced by a written 

document signed by him or by a person designated by him to sign such document 

unless the Agreement otherwise specifically provides. 

D. C.P.I.: shall mean the annual Consumer Price Index as produced by the Department 

of Commerce of the Government of the United States of America . In the event that the 

foregoing index shall no longer be produced, the term, "C.P.I.", shall be that index 

determined by Authority to most accurately reflect the changes in economic values 

represented by the C.P.I. at the time of the signing of this Agreement; in said event 

Authority shall notify Lessee of the index to be used under the terms of this 

E. 

F. 

G. 

Agreement. (Alternate - see Attachment 1). 

Leased Premises: shall mean that property located at the Airport in the City of Duluth, 

County of St. Louis, State of Minnesota, described as Lots 18 and 19, Block 4 Airport 

Division , according to the recorded plat thereof and as is identified in Exhibit A 

attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

Leasehold Improvements: shall mean any improvements constructed by Lessee or 

any of its sub-Lessees, and the other improvements constructed , purchased or 

installed on the Leased Premises, including such items as buildings, structures, 

decorations, partitions, wiring, lighting and plumbing fixtures , piping, finished ceilings , 

ventilation duct work , grills, floor and wall coverings, heaters, cabinets, lockers, sinks, 

counters, chairs and other furniture , and signs. 

Expansion Premises: shall mean that property located at the Airport in the City of 

Duluth , County of St. Louis, State of Minnesota, described as Lots 17 and 21 Block 4 

and Lot 1, Block 5 Airport Division , according to the recorded plat thereof together 

with that land extending westerly from Lot 21 , Block 4 approximately Three Hundred 

2 



( 

( 

H. 

Twenty-Five (325) feet to the Airport access road and as is identified in Exhibit B 

attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

Pennitted Encumbrances: shall mean this Agreement or the lease with Industrial 

Resources Corporation and its subtenants and any mortgage or mortgages and 

contract or contracts, deed of trust.or other proper instrument, made in connection with 

the construction or operation of facilities on the Leased Premises by Lessee or its sub

Lessees, or, any other encumbrances expressly permitted in writing by Authority which 

approval shall not be unreasonably withheld . 

ARTICLE 2. 

LEASE 

A. Effective Date: 

B. 

This Agreement is effective and enforceable upon full and complete execution by all 

Parties hereto. 

Leased Premises: 

Authority does hereby agree to lease and demise to Lessee, and Lessee agrees to 

take and lease from Authority, the Leased Premises upon the terms and conditions set 

forth in this Agreement. 

C. Pennitted Use: 

The Leased Premises shall be used only for the those purposes permitted under 

existing Airport Master Plan , local zoning and Fixed Base Operator Rules as approved 

by the Authority and as may be reasonably amended; .the Authority herewith 

recognizes that the Lessee and any of its sub-Lessees, as an initial use, will construct 

a facility which shall be used for designing, manufacturing and fabricating aircraft for 

sale to the general public, and for selling the same, and providing training and 

warranty-related service for the same, including all ancillary, associated or necessary 

additional uses and activities for successful business operation, during the term of this 

Agreement . 

3 



D. 

( 

Expansion Premises: 

The Authority agrees to exercise all deliberate speed and good faith to clean all soils 

(provided the funds are supplied by Lessees or others) on Lot 20, Block 4 within twelve 

(12) calendar months; and if and when said parcel is environmentally clean without 

encumbrances, said parcel will be added to and become part of the Expansion 

Premises. In consideration of Lessee advancing to or expending, on behalf of the 

Authority, public street and public utility improvements, the Authority does hereby 

agree that, if Lessee is in compliance with this Agreement, then, during the first five (5) 

year term of this Agreement, Lessee shall have the right to lease, under similar terms 

and unit rent charges, all or any portion of the Expansion Premises provided sub

Lessee has met the provisions of the Development Agreement Between Duluth 

Economic Development Authority And Industrial Resources Corporation, A Minnesota 

Corporation (herein after referred to as "Development Agreement") . In the event 

Lessee desires to lease less than the full Premises, Lessee shall be permitted to lease 

a portion Expansion Premises which shall be contiguous to Lessee's then current 

Leased Premises . Upon exercise of right to lease any portion including less than all 

of the Expansion Premises, the right to lease the remaining Expansion Premises shall 

be renewed for an additional five (5) year term if Lessee, or any sub-Les~ee of Lessee, 

shall within six (6) months of the lease of said additional property, begin construction of 

a project on said additional property having a minimum cost of One Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($100,000) and a minimum size of six thousand (6,000) square feet; each time 

Lessee expands as hereinbefore provided, the right to lease the remaining portion 

unleased portion of the Expansion Premises shall be renewed for an additional Five (5) 

year period until such time as Lessee fails to timely exercise the Lease right. If 

Lessee fails to timely exercise the Lease right or fails to construct the minimum cost 

project within the time described, this right shall lapse. If Lessee desires to exercise 

this right, it shall give Authority ninety (90) days written notice thereof, and shall, within 

thirty (30) days, receive Authority's written approval or disapproval of plans as provided 

in this Ground Lease. In the event Lessee shall exercise its right, Lessee and 

Authority shall add that portion of the Expansion Premises described in the Notice to 

this Agreement. Any Expansion Premises currently under lease to a third party shall 

only become subject to this right at such time as said portion of the Expansion 

4 



( 

( 

{ 

Premises becomes available from said third-party lessee; Authority will not extend or 

renew any existing third party lessee which is part of the Expansion Premises . 

E. Common Premises: 

A. 

In addition to the foregoing, Authority does grant to Lessee and its sub-Lessee and 

their employees, customers and contractors access in common with the access 

granted to members of the general public, to all public portions of the Airport. Authority 

further agrees that its Executive Director will grant Lessee and its sub-Lessees access 

to runways, taxiways and ramps; provided, however, that the use .of all such Airport 

facilities shall be subject to such terms and under such rules and regulations as may 

now exist or may, from time to time, be approved by Authority and shall further be 

subject to such reasonable charges as may be established from time to time among 

various classes of users at the Airport by A1,1thority without discrimination . 

ARTICLE 3. 

PLANS AND CONSTRUCTION 

Drawings and Specifications: 

At the time Lessee receives them and prior to the commencement of construction of 

any Improvements on the Leased Premises, Lessee shall submit working drawings and 

specifications of the Improvements to be constructed, together with detailed site, 

grading, utility and landscaping plans and elevations to the Executive Director for his 

rejection or approval , as existing within or in violation of an existing Authority rule or 

regulation ; such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. All such plans, 

specifications and elevations shall be in conformity with this Agreement and with all 

applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and requirements of the Authority, City 

of Duluth, County of St. Louis, State of Minnesota, and United States of America 

Authorities . Failure of the Executive Director to object with in ten ( 10) days of receipt, 

shall constftute approval. If the Executive Director rejects such plans , specifications 

and elevations in whole or in part.and within the permitted time , Authority agrees to 

notify Lessee of such rejection, together with a specific reason or reasons stated 

therefore, and the Lessee shall be permitted to resubmit the plans in the same manner 

5 



B. 

A. 

B. 

( 

as outlined above. No construction of the development referred to herein or of any 

Leasehold Improvements related thereto shall commence prior to the submission for 

approval of said plans, specifications and elevations. Authority acceptance of Lessee's 

plans, specifications and elevations shall not constitute a waiver by Authority or the·· 

City of Duluth of the building codes or ordinances or other developmental duties to be 

imposed in the future upon Lessee by law. Lessee expressly agrees to be solely 

responsible for all costs, including architectural fees, connected with the plans, 

specifications and elevations described herein . 

Changes After Initial Approval: 

Any material changes made to the plans by Lessee after the initial approval of the 

Executive Director shall be submitted to him for acceptance in the same manner as 

provided for in Paragraph A above. 

ARTICLE 4. 

TERM 

Initial tenn: 

The initial term of this Agreement shall commence on the date stated in Article 2, 

Paragraph A , and shall run until December 31 , 2018 (the "Initial Term") , unless sooner 

terminated as hereinafter provided. 

Option Tenn: 

At the end of this initial term this Agreement may, at the option of Lessee, be renewed 

for a second term of twenty-five (25) years . In this event the rent for the second term 

shall be determined by a continuation of the rate setting calculation set out in this 

Agreement . The rental rate charged shall be for unimproved ground only, and shall 

not take into consideration any of the Leasehold lrnprovements. At the end of the first 

(1st) renewal term, Lessee may renew for a second (2nd) renewal term of twenty-five 

(25) years under the same conditions as the first (1st) renewal. 

6 



( 

ARTICLE 5. 

PAYMENTS 

A. Rent: 

B. 

Upon the signing of this Agreement . Lessee hereby agrees to pay Authority the sum of 

Ten Cents (S.1 O) per square foot of Leased Premises tor a totaJ of Thirteen Thousand 

Four Hun-drcd Ninoty Dollar3 ($13,490) por y0ar Q3 rental for Leased Premises, said 

sum being due and payable as provided for herein. Addi1ionally, upon the exercise of 

Lessee·s option to rent any of the Expansion Premises, Lessee shall be oblfgated to 

pay Authority the same per square foot rate of rental as Lessee is then paying for the 

Leased Premises. The amount of rental shall be adjusted as provided for in Paragraph 

C of this Article. Notwithstanding the Rent Abatement, the minimum rent payable 

hereunder shall not be less than Four Cents ($.04) per square foot which equates to a 

rn1 ri1mum tota l rent of Five Thousand Three Hundred Ninety-srx Dollars ($5396) as 

rental for the Leased Premises; the minimum per square foot will also apply to the 

Expansion Property 

Rent Parity; 

Authority agrees to charge not less than Ten Cents ($ .1 O) per square foot for future 

leases of land with access to the air operations portion of the Airport . The Authorrty 

will grant Le-sse-e a reduction in rent should future tenants pay less than Ten Cents 

($.1 O} per square foot on a net comparable basis . Authority will, at lease renewals of 

other tenar.ts (with access to the air operations portion of the Airport) at current lower 

rates , bring such tenants up to parity with the rates paid by Lessee. 

C. Rent Abatement: 

In consideration of Lessee's performance of all of its obligations under this Agreement, 

and Lessee 's agreement to Authority to remove or dean unstable or environmentally 

contaminated soil and to Indemnity the ALJ1honty tram the environmental cleanup costs on 

the Leased Premises, Authority hereby agrees to provide Lessee a rental abate-

ment of Sixty Percent (60%) of the annual ground rent until Lessee has recovered all 

unreimbursed costs of site correction and/or cleanup and utility and road improvements: 

7 



\ 

D. 

( 

E. 

provided , Lessee has not received reimbursement from a third party and provided that 

if Lessw shall be in default in any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at 

the discretion of Authority, all such abated rental payments not then made shall 

immediately become due and payable to Authority and shall be deemed to have borne 

interest at the rate of five percent (5%) per annum from thg datg that they would have 

been due had said payments not been abated pursuant to the terms and conditions of 

this Paragraph . 

Rental Adjustment: 

The annual rent for the term of this Agreement and any renewals thereof and/or 

exercise of Expansion for Expansion Premises in Article 2 D shall be adjusted in 

accordance with the increase or decrease in tt'le C.P.I. over the period from the 

beginning of this Agreement or the last date of rental adjustment. The initial adjustment 

shall be made and effective January 1, 1998, and shall be increased or decreased by 

the C.P.I. increase or decrease factor from the Effective Date ot this Agreement. This 

adjusted rent shall be the eHective rate for a period of five (5) years and shall 

thereafter be similarly adjusted every five (5) years during the term of this Agreement 

and any extensions thereof. Under no circumstances shall the adjusted annual rent be 

greater than the ground rent charged under leases executed or amendments executed 

subsequent to th is Agreement, nor shaJI th e annual increase be greater than three 

percent (3%) (Alternative - see Attachment 1 ). Authority shaJI have the exdusive 

option to use the Alternative Rental Adjustment attached as Attachment 1 and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

Mt5cellanoous Payments and Services: 

1. Airport User Charges 

Lessee shaJI, in addition, pay all Airport usual and customary user charges for common 

areas. such as landing fees, tiedown lees, lu81 flowage fees and any other fees 

associated with use of Airport facilities commonly charged to other users of the Airport 

without discrimination. 

8 

l 



2. Refuse and Garbage 

Lessee assumes all responsibility for the disposal of refuse and garbage generated by 

its operations at the Airport and agrees to absorb all costs related thereto. 

3. Utilities - Right of Entry 

Lessee agrees to provide such heat, air conditioning, electricity, sewer, gas and water 

as are reasonably necessary for Lessee's operations at no cost to Authority. Authority 

and its agents, assigns, or licensees, reserves an easement and license to go upon 

the Leased Premises to install, maintain, construct or repair any water, gas, sewer, 

electrical or other utilities as needed to maintain or improve utilities on the Airport; 

provided, however, that this right must be exercised in a reasonable manner and 

without cost to Lessee or damage to Lessee's property. If entry is required hereunder 

into any building, the appropriate confidential agreements of Lessee or sub-Lessees. 

4. Licenses, Fees and Taxes 

Lessee hereby agrees to pay all license, fees, taxes and assessments of any kind 

whatsoever which are assessed by government taxing authorities and arise because 

of, out of, or in the course of any operations covered by this Agreement during the 

term hereof. Should Lessee fail to pay such amounts, it is expressly agreed that 

Authority may pay the same on behalf of Lessee and immediately collect the same 

from Lessee. 

5. Right to Contest 

Lessee shall have the right to contest the validity or amount of any tax, assessment or 

charge, lien, or claim of any kind in respect to the Leased Premises. Lessee shall, if 

Authority requires the same in writing and if the taxes or other assessments have not 

been paid under protest or otherwise escrowed or provided for, furnish reasonable 

security for the payment of all liability, costs and expenses at the end of the litigation, 

and Lessee, so long as the matter shall remain undetermined by final judgment, shall 

not be considered in default hereunder by the nonpayment thereof; provided, however, 

that Lessee shall not, under these provisions, permit the Premises or any buildings or 

improvements situated thereon, to be sold or forfeited, and failure by Lessee to do 

9 



F. 

what is necessary to prevent any such sale or forfeiture within ten (10) days from the 

publication or receipt of notice for sale or forfeiture, shall be deemed to be a default 

hereunder, and Authority may, at its option, pay any such sum as may be required to 

avoid the sale or forfeiture and seek reimbursement for its cost from Lessee. 

Time for Payment and Manner of Payment 

1. Rental 

All annual payments for rental, as provided for in Paragraph A above, shall be due and 

payable on the first (1st) day of the month of each Agreement year of Lessee's 

occupancy of the Leased Premises. 

2. Airport User Fees 

Lessee shall pay all Airport normal and customary user fees when Airport rules and 

regulations provide that such fees shall be paid, whether at the time that said user fees 

are incurred or when billed by the Authority, as provided for by Authority procedures 

and regulations. 

3. Reimbursements 

All reimbursements to Authority called for by this Agreement shall be due and payable 

promptly upon being billed by Authority to Lessee. 

ARTICLE 6. 

FUTURE CONSTRUCTION AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS 

A. Construction Standards and Approvals: 

Any construction or Leasehold Improvements done by Lessee, or under his direction, 

over and above that contemplated by the Development Agreement above, shall 

conform to all applicable regulations, building codes, and health standards and: 

1. Construction Aoproval 

Complete contract drawings and specifications on all work, including alterations, 

10 



additions or replacements, must be submitted for and receive approval according to 

Article 3 Paragraph A hereof. 

2. Construction 

All work must be done by competent contractors or by Lessee itself. Lessee shall 

comply with the indemnity and insurance and bond requirements of this Agreement. 

3. Construction Representative 

An authorized representative of Lessee or sub-Lessee shall be available at all 

reasonable time at the site to coordinate the work of the Leasehold Improvements. 

B. Construction Bonds and Insurance. 

1. Bonds 

During the term of this Agreement, when any Leasehold Improvements are 

constructed, installed or renovated, Lessee shall, or shall cause sub-Lessee, to secure 

bond or bonds to be conditioned for payment of claims as required and in full 

compliance with Minnesota Statutes Section 574.26, or such other security necessary 

to protect against mechanics or materialmen liens. 

2. Contractor's Insurance 

Lessee will provide or require its contractor or contractors to provide insurance 

complying with the requirements of Lessee. 

ARTICLE 7. 

PROVISION AGAINST LIENS 

Only Permitted Encumbrances shall be allowed. 

11 



ARTICLE 8. 

MAINTENANCE OF PREMISES 

Lessee agrees to maintain the Leased Premises in a clean, neat and orderly condition and in 

compliance with all codes for such facilities. 

ARTICLE 9. 

QUIET ENJOYMENT 

POWER OF ATTORNEY FOR SITE WORK 

Authority covenants that Lessee, upon payment of the rentals reserved herein and the 

performance of each and every one of the covenants, agreements, and conditions on the part 

of Lessee to be observed and performed, shall and, may, peaceable and quietly, have, hold 

and enjoy the Leased Premises for the term of aforesaid, free from molestation, eviction or 

disturbance. Without cost to the Authority and only after written request, the Authority grants 

right of entry to Lessee and a power of attorney to collect, give all notices and take all acts in 

the name of the Authority that Lessee deems necessary to clean the Premises, the Expansion 

Premises or any adjoining land where migration may be a problem. 

ARTICLE 10. 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE BY LESSEE 

A. . Indemnity By Lessee: 

Lessee will defend, indemnify and hold Authority and City (hereinafter referred to as 

"City") of Duluth harmless from any loss, cost or expense in any way arising out of or 

resulting from any acts, omissions, negligence, or based upon the violation of any 

federal, state, or municipal laws, statutes, ordinances or regulations by Lessee, its 

agents, employees, sublessees or those under its control; in, on or about the Leased 

Premises; and on ten (10) days' written notice from Authority, Lessee will appear and 

defend all claims and lawsuits against Authority growing out of any such injury or 

damage. Lessee's liability hereunder shall not be limited to the extent of insurance 

carried by or provided by Lessee or subject to any exclusions from coverage in any 

12 



B. 

C. 

insurance policy. Lessee shall not be liable for any injury, damage, or loss occasioned 

by the negligence or wilful misconduct of Authority, its agents, employees or other 

lessees of Authority. 

Indemnity By Authority: 

Authority will defend, indemnify and hold Lessee harmless from any loss, cost or 

expense in any way arising out of or resulting from any acts, omissions, negligence, or 

based upon the violation of any federal, state, or municipal laws, statutes, ordinances 

or regulations by Authority, its agents, employees, licensees, successors and assigns, 

or those under its control, in, on or about the Leased Premises; or in connection with 

its use provided; and on ten (10) days' written notice from Lessee, Authority will appear 

and defend all claims and lawsuits against Lessee growing out of any such injury or 

damage. Authorities' liability hereunder shall not be limited to the extent of insurance 

carried by or provided by Authority or subject to any exclusions from coverage in any 

insurance policy. Authority shall not be liable for any injury, damage, or loss 

occasioned by the negligence or wilful misconduct of Lessee, its agents, employees or 

other lessees of Lessee. 

Insurance: 

Lessee shall cause any sublessees to provide for purchase and maintenance of such 

insurance as will protect Lessee, Authority and City against risk of loss or damage to 

the project and any other property permanently located or exclusively used at the 

Leased Premises and Expansion Premises and against claims which may arise or 

result from the maintenance and use of the premises, including operations conducted 

in connection with construction of improvements thereupon, including: 

1. Property Insurance 

Lessee will require any sub-Lessee to name the Authority as a loss payee for the 

limited purpose of site cleanup in any property insurance policy. 

2. Liability Insurance 

During the construction period (unless covered under the policies required previously) 

and permanently thereafter for the balance of the term of this Agreement, as extended, 

13 



Lessee shall require any sub-Lessee to procure and maintain continuously in force 

Public Liability Insurance written on an "occurrence" basis under a Comprehensive 

General Liability Form in limits of not less than Five Million Dollars' ($5,000,000) 

aggregate per occurrence for personal bodily injury and death, and limits of Five Million 

Dollars ($5,000,000) for property damage liability. If per person limits are specified, 

they shall be for not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per person and be for 

the same coverage. Authority and City shalf be named as an additional insured 

therein. Insurance shall cover: 

(1) Public liability,including premises and operations coverage; 

(2) Independent Contractors - protective contingent liability; 

(3) Personal injury; 

(4) Owned, non-owned and hired vehicles; 

(5) Contractual liability covering the indemnity obligations set forth 

herein; and 

(6) lnventory--completed operations. 

3. Workers' Compensation 

Workers' Compensation Coverage in statutory amounts with "all states" endorsement 

unless qualified as a self-insurer under Minnesota Law, and evidence of such 

qualification is to be furnished to Authority by any sub-Lessee. Employees liability 

insurance shall be carried in limits of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) per 

employee. 

4. Requirements for All Insurance 

All insurance required in this Article shall be taken out and maintained in responsible 

insurance companies organized under the laws of the states of the United States and 

licensed to do business in Minnesota. 

5. Certifications 

Lessee shall be required to supply to Authority written certifications of insurance as 

requested by Authority requiring the insurer to give Authority thirty (30) days' written 

notice prior to cancellation or modification of said insurance. In the event that the 

14 



D. 

"Accord" form of certificate is used, the words "endeavor to" shall be stricken from the 

notice provisions thereof. 

6. Destruction or Damage 

In the event that the Leasehold Improvements are destroyed or substantially damaged 

by fire or other casualty, Lessee shall have the option of repairing or rebuilding said 

improvements and the previously approved plans and specifications or constructing 

new improvements in conformance with the terms of this Agreement and the plans and 

specifications for which shall be developed and approved in conformance with this 

Agreement. All such work shall be performed and completed within one hundred 

eighty (180) days of the time of the occurrence of the aforesaid fire or other casualty 

and Lessee shall thereafter continue to be obligated to pay Authority rental and other 

charges as provided for in the Agreement until its termination in accordance with the 

terms thereof. 

7. Modifications of Insurance 

Because of the duration of this Agreement and the uncertainty as to future property 

values and financial risks related to death, personal injury and property damage, the 

parties hereto agree that Authority shall have the right to increase the levels of 

insurance required by this Article or to modify the form of insurance required at such 

times and in such a manner as is reasonably necessary to provide Authority with the 

level of protection provided for in this Agreement on the date of its signing. 

Hazardous Waste: 

Nothing to the contrary of the generality of the foregoing withstanding, except as 

provided for below, it is specifically agreed between the Parties that Lessee shall 

require any sub-Lessee to be responsible in all respects for the use of or generation of 

any substance classified as "hazardous waste" or a "pollutant" by either the 

Environmental Protection Agency of the Government of the United States or the 

Minnesota Pollution Control Agency or any other government agency that may in the 

future be responsible for environmental policy or enforcement. Lessee shall 

specifically be responsible for the disposition of all such substances and for the 

15 



cleanup of environmental condition deemed by any of those agencies to require 

environmental cleanup activities of any kind, which need arises. directly or indirectly, 

out of Lessee's operations at the Airport. regardless of where the cleanup occurs. and 

Lessee specifically agrees that the obligations of Paragraph A above shall apply 

s~cifically to any costs or obligations of Authority arising out of any such disposition 

or cleanup. Provided, however, that the Parties hereto acknowledge the probability of 

the existence of preexisting contamination on the Leased Premises and Option 

Premises. It is agreed by the Parties that it shall be the obligation of Lessee, to 

remediate the site conditions as otherwise provided in this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 11 

ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNIFICATION 

A. .4'.~-~~sJ;n_'f'.lr.o_om_e_n_tal_ Ql_eanup: 

8. 

Lessee will exercise all deliberate speed and best efforts to clean any soil 

contaminated with Environmentally Regulated Substan~s. as defined in the Lease. on 

the Leased Premises and Expansion Premises to bring the soil into compliance with 

state, federal and local standards described in Lease and Development Agreement for 

soil contamination as evidenced by a site closure letter or other form of release issued 

from EPA or MPCA or other site control or a governmental agency. For all site and 

cleanup_ work after work on the Leased Premises. Lessee will give the Authority notice 

of the plan and expected costs. Lessee will have no responsibility to indemnify or hold 

Authority harmless if Authority brings any environmentally regulated substances onto 

the Leased Premises or causes further contamination after cleanup. Lessee will be 

reimbursed through rent abatement by Authority for thg unreimbursed statoo cleanup_ 

Authority's Obligations: 

Authority agrees to grant the power of attorney herein and to aid Lessee in its cleanup 

or the Leased Premises in applications with any and all governmental authorities which 

govern the cleanup activities, in all reimbursement applications related to the cleanup 

and any legal assignment of rights necessary to obtain contribution by responsible 

parties other than Authority or the. 

16 



ARTICLE 12. 

DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 

A. General: 

In the event that any one or more of the following events shall occur, then in its discretion, 

Authority shall have the right to terminate this Lease, or to bring action against Lessee 

thereafter for damages as the same may from time to time accrue. 

1. Filing of Lien 

Any lien shall be filed against the demised premises because of an action or omission 

of Lessee and shall not be discharged or contested by Lessee in good faith by proper 

legal proceedings within sixty (60) days after receipt of notice thereof by Lessee; or 

2. Failure to Observe Lease Terms 

Lessee shall fail to keep, perform and observe each and every promise, covenant and 

agreement set forth in this Agreement or on its part to be kept, performed or observed, 

and such failure shall continue for a period of more than thirty (30) days after 

transmission to Lessee by Executive Director of a written notice of such breach or 

default. Or in the event that cure cannot be completed within said thirty (30) day 

period, Lessee fails to commence cure promptly upon receipt of notice of such breach 

or default and to complete the cure thereof within the period that the Executive 

Director, in his sole discretion, has granted to Lessee, in writing, for the purpose of 

. curing the breach. 

B. Nonwaiver. 

C. 

Any waiver of any breach of covenants herein contained to be kept and performed by 

Lessee, shall not be deemed or considered as a continuing waiver and shall not 

operate to bar or prevent Authority from declaring a forfeiture for any succeeding 

breach either of the same condition or covenant or otherwise. 

Mortgage of Leasehold Interest: 

Lessee shall have the right to place priority mortgage liens, (which may take the form 

17 



of a financing lease), (hereinafter referred to as "the mortgage"), upon improvements to 

the Leased Premises. All of the Lessee rights and obligations under this Lease shall 

inure to the benefit of such Lender named in said mortgage (hereinafter referred to as 

the "Lender") and its assignees. The Lender named in such a mortgage shall have the 

following rights and shall be subject to the following duties: 

1. Lender Continuation 

In the case of a default by the Lessee under the terms of the mortgage, a Lender shall 

have the right to assume the rights, benefits, duties, and obligations granted and 

imposed upon the Lessee under the terms of this Lease, with the right to assign the 

Lender's interest acquired from the Lessee under this Lease to a third party. In the 

event that the Lender assumes the responsibilities of the Lessee under the terms of 

this Lease, the aggregate and total financial. obligations of the Lender assumed under 

the terms of this Lease shall not exceed the fair market value of the Lessee's 

continuing interest in the Leased Premises as if the Lessee were not in default. 

2. Assignment 

In the event the Lender chooses to assign its rights under this Lease to a third party, 

the Lender shall allow the Authority written notice and a thirty (30) day period for the 

Authority to pay the Lender in full the amount of indebtedness secured by Lessee or 

sublessees assignment to lender and receive an assignment of Lender's interest. In 

the event of Lender's assignment, the Lender's obligations as a substituted Lessee 

. shall cease upon the assignment of the Lender's rights as a substitute Lessee to a 

third party. 

3. Notice Rights Of Authority 

As a condition precedent to the exercise of the right granted to Lender by this 

paragraph, Lender shall notify Authority of all action taken by it in the event of a default 

by Lessee on the mortgage. Lender shall also notify Authority, in writing, of any 

change in the identify or address of the Lender. 

18 



4. Notice Rights of Lender 

All notices required by to be given by Authority to Lessee with regard to default or any 

other failure by Lessee under this Lease shall also be given to Lender at the same 

time and in the same manner but only after Lender has notified Authority of the request 

of duplicate notice. Upon receipt of such notice, Lender shall have the same rights as 

Lessee to correct any default. 

5. Estoppel Certificate 

Within ten (10) days after Lessee's request, Authority shall deliver an Estoppel 

Certificate, a declaration to any person designated by Lessee, (1) ratifying this Lease; 

(2) stating the commencement and termination dated and the rent commencement 

date; and (3) certifying (i) that this Lease is in full force and effect and has not been, to 

the knowledge of the Authority, assigned, modified, supplemented or amended (except 

by such writings as shall be stated); (ii) that all conditions under this Lease to be 

performed by Lessee have been satisfied (stating exceptions, if any) (iii) no defenses 

or offsets against the enforcement of this Lease by Lessee exist (or stating those 

claimed); (iv) the date to which rent has been paid, and such other information as 

Lessee reasonably requires. 

ARTICLE 13. 

ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS 

In the event Authority shall prevail in any action or suit or proceeding brought by Authority to 

collect the rent due or to become due hereunder or any portion thereof, or to take possession 

of the demised premises, or to enforce compliance with this Agreement or for failure to 

observe any of the covenants of this Agreement, Lessee agrees to pay Authority such sums 

as the court may adjudge reasonable as attorney's fees and costs to be allowed in such 

action, suit or proceeding. In the event Lessee shall prevail in any action or suit or 

proceeding brought by Lessee to enforce compliance with this Agreement or for failure to 

19 



( 

( 

{ 

observe any of the covenants of this Agreement, Authority agrees to pay Lessee all 

reasonable attorney's fees and costs for enforcing such terms of the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 14. 

SURRENDER OF POSSESSION - RIGHTS TO PROPERTY 

Upon the expiration or other termination of this Agreement, Lessee's authority to use the 

Leased Premises, rights, facilities and equipment herein granted shall cease and Lessee shall, 

upon termination or expiration, promptly and in good condition surrender the same to Authority 

except as set forth below. Upon termination, any Leasehold Improvements which have 

become a part of the realty , including buildings and structures, and which improvements 

Lessee has not removed and thereafter restored the Lease Premises, shall become the 

property of Authority , and the same, together with t,he Leased Premises, shall be immediately 

returned to the control of Authority . Any Leasehold Improvements not a part of the realty shall 

be removed therefrom within sixty (60) days after the termination of this Agreement or the 

same shall be deemed to have been abandoned to Authority and the right of the Lessee to 

possession thereof shall cease. 

ARTICLE 15. 

LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS 

Lessee agrees to observe and comply with all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of the 

Untied States of America, the State of Minnesota, the City of Duluth, th.e Duluth Airport 

Authority, and their respective agencies which are applicable to its business at the Airport, 

including, but not limited to, all environmental laws and regulations, and further agrees to 

observe and comply with all reasonable Airport rules and regulations in existence at the 

execution of this Agreement and which may, from time to time , be promulgated by Authority 

governing conduct on and operations at the Airport and the use of its facilities, as 

administered by the Executive Director. Further, Lessee agrees to fulfill its responsibilities 

pursuant to the Airport Security Plan approved by the Federal Aviation Administration and any 

amendments thereto. 

20 



ARTICLE 16. 

CIVIL RIGHTS ASSURANCES 

Lessee for himself, his personal representatives, successors and interests and assigns, as a 

part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a covenant running with 

the land that: 

1. No person on the grounds of race, color or national origin shall be excluded 

from participation in, denied the benefits of or be otherwise subjected to 

discrimination in the use of said facilities. 

2. That in the construction of any improvements on, over or under such land in the 

furnishing of services thereon, no person on the grounds of race, color or 

national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of or 

otherwise be subjected to discrimination. 

3. That Lessee shall use the premises in compliance with all of the requirements 

imposed by or pursuant to Title 49 Code of Federal Regulations, Department of 

Transportation Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Non-discrimination in 

Federally-assisted programs of the Department of Transportation 

- Effectuation Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and as said 

Regulations may be amended. 

ARTICLE 17. 

SUBORDINATION - GOVERNMENT COMMITMENTS 

Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent Authority from making such commitments as it 

desires to the Government of the United States or to the State of Minnesota in order to qualify 

for the expenditure of Federal or State funds at the Airport or related in any manner to the 

operation thereof, and this Agreement shall be subordinate to the provisions of any existing or 

future agreement between Authority and the Government of the United States or of the State 

of Minnesota relative to the operation or maintenance of the Airport. Nothing shall hereby be 

interrupted to permit Authority to breach the basic intent of this Agreement to provide 

commercial aircraft development facilities. 

21 



ARTICLE 18. 

AMENDMENT OR MODIFICATION 

This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument, dated, and duly 

executed by the authorized representatives of each of the respective Parties. This Agreement 

constitutes the entire agreement of Authority and Lessee on the subject matter thereof. 

ARTICLE 19. 

FORCE MAJEURE 

Under the terms of this Agreement, neither Authority nor Lessee shall be considered in default 

or in breach of any of its terms with respect to the timing of the commencement or completion 

of the construction or the availability of the Leased .Premises for construction in the event of 

enforced delay in the performance of its obligations due to unforeseeable causes beyond its 

control and without its fault and negligence including, but not limited to, acts of God, acts of a 

public enemy, acts of the federal government, fires, floods, epidemics, strikes or embargoes, 

or for delays of subcontractors due to such causes. In the event of any such delay, any time 

for completion or delivery under this Agreement shall be extended for a reasonable period 

upon written notice from the parties seeking the extension to the other party. 

ARTICLE 20. 

NOTICES 

Notices to be provided for herein shall be sufficient if delivered in person or sent by registered 

mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

To the Duluth Airport Authority: 

4701 Airport Drive, 

Duluth International Airport, 

Duluth, Minnesota, 55811; 

22 



To Duluth Economic Development Authority: 

Room 402, City Hall 

Duluth, Minnesota, 55802 

or to such other respective persons or addresses as the parties may designate to each other 

in writing from time to time. 

ARTICLE 21. 

APPLICABLE LAW 

This Agreement, together with all of its articles, terms and provisions, is made in the State of 

Minnesota and shall be construed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of 

Minnesota. 

ARTICLE 22. 

DRUGS AND ALCOHOL 

Lessee's operations and use of the premises shall be in conformance with all federal, state, 

and local laws, regulations or valid orders and policies controlling drug or alcohol use or 

possession on the Airport. 

ARTICLE 23. 

DUTY TO BE REASONABLE 

Wherever in this Agreement the Authority is to give its consent, approval or otherwise exercise 

discretion in judgment, such consent, approval or judgment shall not be unreasonably 

exercised or unreasonably withheld. 

23 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals this 

__ day of August, 1993. 

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY DULUTH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

By _____________ _ ~~~ 
Approved as to Form: 

Deputy City Attorney 

Countersigned: 

City Attorney 

CITY OF DULUTH ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF ST. LOUIS ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __ day of August, 
1993, by _____________ of the Duluth Airport Authority, a governmental 
authority, on behalf of the Authority. 

Notary Public 

24 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals this 
';J('r-
~ day of August. 1993. 

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

Approved as to Form: 

Assistant City Attorney 

CITY OF DULUTH ) 
) SS. 

COUNTY OF ST. LOUIS ) 

The fore9oing instrur:1ent was acknowledged before me this , :Z:.Tl-1 day of August. 
1993, by J!!I-M 'J.-{nvJ -a-nd---------------
President and S.ecretary, of tne Duluth Airport Authority. a governmental autnority, on behalf of 
the Authority. 

Notary Public 

24 



Cl fY OF OULU fH ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ST LOUIS ) 

The tor~oicc ins~s acknowledged OO!ore me this. f{ltli~day of August .. 
1993. by /;(WA.x ... / of the Duluth Econom,c Development Authority. 

e MAR1LYN D. POUOCK 
NOTARY PVIIIJO-MlNNESOA 

ST. LOUIS COUNTY 
MY COMMJSSION EXPIRES w-ol . 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 12th day of August 
1993, by Joseph Lasky President of the Duluth Airport Authority, on behalf of the 
Authority. 

25 



ATTACHMENT 1 

ALTERNATIVE RENTAL ADJUSTMENT 

Authority shall have the exclusive option to use the following rental adjustment criteria: 

At each five (5) years hereunder, the annual rent shall be adjusted to equal seven parcent 
(7%) of the fair market value or the land, exclusive or buildings, Improvements and as though 
unencumbered by any lease, based upon agreement of the Parties or if the Parties can not 
agree. by an appraisal of such fair market value as ot said date and such adjusted annual rent 
shall be applicable until the end of said five (5) year renewal term. 

In making appraisals. each party shall designate an appraiser and shall notify the other party 
in writing of the names and address of the appraiser so designated. The Lessor shall initiate 
the proceeding by notifying the Lessee of the appointment of an appraiser, and within fifteen 
( 15) days thereafter, the LeS3ee shaJI notify the Lessor of the appointment of a second 
appraiser. The two appraisers shall select a third appraiser. All appraisers shall be qualified 
as members of a nationally recognized appraisal accreditation group. Should either party fail 
ro appoint an appraiser wirhin fifteen ( 1 ~) days from rhe time when such appoinrment should 
have been made. the other party may have the appointment made by the then President of 
the Duluth Board of Realtors (or comparable orqanization). Should the two a.c:9raisers fail to 
agree on the appointment of a third appraiser within thirty (30) days of the appointment of the 
last of such two appraisers to be appointed, the third appraiser shall be appointed also by the 
then President of said Board (or comparable organization) upon application made by the 
Lessor within forty-five (45) days after the three appraisers. or a majorrty thereof, of the fair 
market value of the land, the appraisers shall notify both the Lessor and the Lessee in writing 
and such appraisal shall be binding upon both parties in determining the rent to be paid for 
the particular period involved. The cost of each such appraisal shall bB shared equally by the 
Lessor and the Lessee. ' 

Under no circumstances shall the adjusted annual rent be greater than the ground rent 
charged under leases executed or amendments exec.uted subsequent to this Agreement. 

26 

































































Duluth Airport Authority 
Cirrus Aircraft 

Non-Disturbance, Recognition and Attornment Agreement 

Background: 
• Original Cirrus Airport Ground Lease signed in 1993.

• Cirrus has/will purchase the “Incubator” building from City of Duluth.

• City of Duluth & Cirrus have entered into a sublease agreement for certain
portions of the property.

Agreement Overview: 
• In the event Ground Lease is terminated, DAA has agreed to grant non-

disturbance to Cirrus under the sublease on the terms contained in agreement.

Why were the changes in key terms needed/wanted? 
• Cirrus requested the agreement to protect the sublease in case the Ground

Lease was terminated.

VII - I



US.357122197.01  

NON-DISTURBANCE, RECOGNITION, 

AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS NON-DISTURBANCE, RECOGNITION, AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT 

(the “Agreement”) is made as of the ____ day of _________, 2023, by and among Duluth Airport 

Authority (“Ground Lessor”), City of Duluth (“Landlord”) and Cirrus Design Corporation d/b/a 

Cirrus Aircraft, a Wisconsin corporation (“Tenant”)  

RECITALS: 

A. Ground Lessor and Landlord are the current parties to that certain Airport Ground

Lease and Agreement dated August 12, 1993 (the “Ground Lease”), said Ground Lease which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit B, for certain real property located at the Duluth Airport, Duluth, 

Minnesota which is more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”).  

B. Landlord and Tenant have entered into a Ground Sublease dated _________, 2023,

(the “Sublease”), said sublease which is attached hereto as Exhibit C, for the use of certain portions 

of the Property more particularly described in the Sublease (the “Premises”); and 

C. In the event the Ground Lease is terminated, Ground Lessor has agreed to grant

non-disturbance to Tenant under the Sublease on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. 

AGREEMENT: 

For good and valuable consideration, Landlord, Tenant and Ground Lessor agree as 

follows: 

1. NON-DISTURBANCE.  If the Ground Lease is terminated for any reason, such

termination shall not (i) result in the termination of the Sublease, except for such cause as would 

entitle Landlord to terminate the Sublease in accordance with the terms and conditions contained 

therein, or (ii) disturb the Tenant’s possession or use of the Premises and Property pursuant to the 

terms of the Sublease, provided that at the time of such termination Tenant shall not be in default 

under any of the terms, covenants or conditions of the Sublease or of this Agreement on Tenant’s 

part to be observed or performed beyond any applicable notice or grace period. 

2. RECOGNITION AND ATTORNMENT; NEW LEASE.  If the Ground Lease

terminates for any reason, and the conditions set forth in Section 1 above have been met, at the 

time the Ground Lease terminates, then the Sublease shall not be terminated or affected thereby 

but shall continue in full force as a direct lease between Tenant and Ground Lessor on the same 

terms and conditions as are in effect under the Lease immediately preceding the termination of the 

Ground Lease, including without limitation, all rights of renewal, or, upon the request of Ground 

Lessor or Tenant, Ground Lessor and Tenant shall enter into a new lease on the same terms 

provided for in the Sublease.  In the event that the Sublease becomes a direct lease with Ground 

Lessor, Tenant agrees to attorn to Ground Lessor, and Ground Lessor shall be deemed to have 

agreed to accept such attornment, whereupon, subject to the observance and performance by 

Tenant of all the terms, covenants and conditions of the Sublease on the part of Tenant to be 

observed and performed, Ground Lessor shall recognize the leasehold estate of Tenant under all 



US.357122197.01 

2 

 

of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Sublease for the remaining balance of the term of the 

Sublease (as may be extended pursuant to the terms therein) with the same force and effect as if 

Ground Lessor were the lessor under the Sublease. 

3. PRIVITY.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Ground Lease or the

Sublease, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, Subtenant (i) is not in 

privity of contract with Ground Lessor with respect to either the Ground Lease or Sublease, and 

(ii) does not owe any obligation or duty to Ground Lessor under the Ground Lease, Sublease or

otherwise.

4. NOTICES.  Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, any notice or other

communication required or given shall be in writing and shall be effective for any purpose if 

served, with delivery or postage costs prepaid, by nationally recognized commercial overnight 

delivery service or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the following 

addresses, or such other addresses as may be provided in writing by the Parties from time to time: 

To Ground Lessor: Duluth Airport Authority 

Duluth International Airport 

4701 Grinden Drive 

Duluth, MN 55811 

Attn: Executive Director 

To Landlord:  City of Duluth 

411 W First Street 

City Hall Room 401 

Duluth MN 55802  

Attn: Director of Property, Parks, and Libraries 

To Tenant: Cirrus Design Corp.  

4515 Taylor Circle 

Duluth, MN 55811 

Attn: Legal Department 

5. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure

to the benefit of Ground Lessor, Landlord and Tenant, and their respective successors and assigns. 

6. GOVERNING LAW.  This Agreement shall be deemed to be a contract entered

into pursuant to the laws of Minnesota and shall in all respects be governed, construed, applied 

and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Minnesota. 

7. MISCELLANEOUS.  This Agreement may not be modified in any manner or

terminated except by an instrument in writing executed by the parties hereto.  If any term, covenant 

or condition of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, this 

Agreement shall be construed without such provision.  This Agreement may be executed in any 

number of duplicate originals and each duplicate original shall be deemed to be an original.  This 

Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which counterparts shall be deemed 

an original instrument and all of which together shall constitute a single Agreement.  The failure 



US.357122197.01 
 

 

 3 

 

of any party hereto to execute this Agreement, or any counterpart hereof, shall not relieve the other 

signatories from their obligations hereunder.  Whenever the context may require, any pronouns 

used herein shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the singular 

form of nouns and pronouns shall include the plural and vice versa. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 

  



US.357122197.01 
 

 

 4 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 1 OF 3 TO SUBTENANT NON-DISTURBANCE, RECOGNITION, 

AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date 

first above written. 

 

GROUND LESSOR: 

Duluth Airport Authority, a governmental authority 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Minnesota, 1969, Chapter 577 

 

By:         

Kimberly J. Maki, President 

 

 

By:         

Jeffery D. Anderson, Secretary 

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

    )  SS 

ST LOUIS COUNTY ) 

  

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

_________________, 2023, by Kimberly J. Maki and Jeffery D. Anderson, as President and 

Secretary of the Duluth Airport Authority, a governmental authority organized and existing under 

the laws of the State of Minnesota, 1969, Chapter 577, on behalf of the governmental authority. 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

        

Name: ____________________________ 

       Notary Public, State of Minnesota 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



US.357122197.01 

5 

 

TENANT: 

Cirrus Design Corporation d/b/a Cirrus Aircraft, a 

Wisconsin corporation 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

)  SS 

ST LOUIS COUNTY  ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

_________________, 2023, by _____________, as ________________ of the Cirrus Design 

Corporation d/b/a Cirrus Aircraft, a Wisconsin corporation, on behalf of the corporation. 

_________________________________ 

Name: ____________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Minnesota 



US.357122197.01 

6 

 

LANDLORD: 

City of Duluth, a Municipal corporation 

By:  

__________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

__________________________________ 

City Clerk 

Date Attested: _____________________   

Countersigned: 

_________________________________ 

City Auditor  

Approved as to form: 

_________________________________ 

City Attorney 

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

)  SS 

ST LOUIS ____________ ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

_________________, 2023, by _____________, as Mayor and _______________, as City Clerk, 

of the City of Duluth, a municipal corporation, on behalf of the corporation. 

_________________________________ 

Name: ____________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Minnesota 



US.357122197.01 

7 

 

EXHIBIT A 

TO SUBTENANT NON-DISTURBANCE, RECOGNITION, 

AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT 

Legal Description of the Property 

Lots 18 and 19, Block 4 Airport Division, according to the recorded plat thereof, in the City of 

Duluth, County of St. Louis and State of Minnesota. 



Duluth Airport Authority 
Decomm Aviation Consulting 

Master Services Agreement &Task Order 1 

Terms:  
• June 20, 2023-December 31, 2024

Background: 
• Decomm will provide professional services as the DAA negotiates new Airline

Use & Lease Agreements.

Agreement Overview: 
• Task Order includes scope of work.

• Professional services budget of $50,400 to be paid based on time and materials.

• Travel-related expenses to be billed separately with no cost mark-up.

VII - J



Page 1 of 4 

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY
AND

DECOMM AVIATION CONSULTING
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

THIS MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN CONSULTANT AND CLIENT (hereinafter

THIS MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN CONSULTANT AND CLIENT (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Decomm Aviation Consulting (“Consultant”) 
having a place of business at 1118 Station Trail, Eagan, MN 55123 and the Duluth Airport Authority (“Client”), 
and has an Effective Date based upon the full execution of this Agreement. Consultant and Client are each 
individually referred to as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”. 

In consideration of the mutual promises or covenants contained in this Agreement, the Parties agree 
as follows: 

A. Services: This Agreement establishes the terms and conditions under which Consultant agrees to provide
services to Client on specific projects required to support the Airport (hereinafter referred to as the "Project").

For each Project, Client and Consultant will enter into a mutually agreed upon Task Order, executed by both
parties, which will be appended hereto (each a “Task Order”) in numerical order based on the date of
commencement of the services of that Task Order. Each Task Order will describe the services to be
performed (“Services”), pricing, commencement date of the project and estimated performance period all of
which shall be negotiated independently for each Task Order. The results and proceeds performed under
this agreement will be summarized as Deliverables (the “Deliverables”). In the event of a conflict in terms
between this Agreement and any Task Order, the Agreement shall control.

B. Term, Termination, and Survival: Unless otherwise terminated as herein provided, the term of this
Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue through December 31, 2024.  In the
event this Agreement is not terminated thirty (30) days prior to December 31, 2024, pursuant to the terms
hereof, this Agreement shall automatically renew and extend for an additional successive one (1) year term
(January 1 through December 31) unless otherwise terminated as herein provided.  Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Services shall be performed within the term specified in the relevant Task Order. Any terms
of this Agreement which by their nature extend beyond termination of this Agreement shall survive and bind
the parties and their successors and assigns.

In the event that key personnel for the Client included in a Task Order shall no longer be available to perform
the tasks outlined in the Task Order, the Client shall have the right to terminate any Task Order following
thirty (30) days written notice.

C. This Agreement is subject to the Terms and Conditions contained below, and the provisions of the exhibits
attached hereto and made a part hereof:

Exhibit A: Proposal Dated May 4, 2023

Exhibit B: Task Order 1



Page 2 of 4 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Client and Consultant agree that the following provisions shall be part of this Agreement: 

1. Assignment. This Agreement shall not be assigned by either Client or Consultant without the prior written
consent of the other. Neither Client nor Consultant shall assign claims arising from the Agreement without
the prior written consent of the other.

2. Non-Waiver. Consultant’s or Client’s waiver of any term, condition or covenant shall not constitute the
waiver of any other term, condition or covenant. Consultant’s or Client’s waiver of any breach of this
Agreement shall not constitute the waiver of any other breach of the Agreement.

3. Unenforceable Terms; Effect. If any term, condition or covenant of this Agreement is held by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall
be valid and binding on both the Client and Consultant.

4. Confidentiality. Both parties shall adhere to the obligations and requirements of the state’s open records
as may be applicable and the confidentiality provisions set forth hereafter are subject to those requirements.
Consultant agrees to regard and preserve as confidential all information related to the business and
activities of Client that may be obtained by Consultant as a result of performing Services under this
Agreement. Client agrees to regard and preserve as confidential all information related to the business and
activities of Consultant that may be obtained by Client as a result of this Agreement and the performance
of Services contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, all information regarding pricing of Services.
Both parties agree to hold such information in trust and confidence for the other party and not to disclose
such information to any person, firm, or enterprise, or use any such information to its own benefit, or to the
benefit of any third party, unless authorized in writing by the party in interest.  Information shall not be
considered confidential to the extent that such information is: (i) already known free of any restriction at the
time it is obtained; (ii) subsequently learned from an independent third party free of any restriction; or (iii)
generally available to the public.

5. Intellectual Property. In the course of performance under this Agreement, Consultant may use products,
materials, tools, and methodologies that are proprietary to Consultant or to third parties (collectively,
"Proprietary Items"). Client will not have or obtain any rights in such Proprietary Items other than (i) to use
them as authorized by Consultant in writing from time to time solely for purposes of performing its
responsibilities under this Agreement. If Proprietary Items are made available to the Client, they will be
made available "AS IS" and without express or implied warranties of any kind. Nothing in this Agreement
will preclude Consultant from marketing, developing, or using for itself or others, services or products that
are the same as or similar to those provided to Client by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement.
Furthermore, the Consultant will continue to be free to use its general knowledge, skills, and experience
and any ideas, concepts, knowledge, and techniques related to the scope of this Agreement and used in
the course of performing its obligations hereunder.

6. Limited License. Client agrees not to use or permit any other person to use plans, specifications, drawings,
cost estimates, reports or other documents (hereafter “work product”) prepared by Consultant which are not
final and/or not signed by Consultant. Client further agrees that final plans, specifications, drawings, cost
estimates, reports or other documents are for the exclusive use of Client and may be used by Client only
for the Project described on page 1 of this Agreement and/or project specified in appended Task Order and
such use is subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Such final plans, specifications, drawings,
cost estimates, reports or other documents may not be changed or used on a different project without written
authorization or approval by the Consultant.

7. Scope of Services: Client acknowledges that Consultant will be providing services specified in individual
Task Orders. The Parties acknowledge and agree that work items not expressly listed in a Task Order are
excluded from Consultant’s Services. These “Excluded Services” include, without intent to limit,
construction, engineering, design related skill or service, legal advice, as well as any other item not
expressly listed in an executed Task Order

8. Not a Municipal Advisor. Consultant is not registered with the U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission
as a municipal advisor, is not acting as a municipal advisor, and does not assume any fiduciary duties or



Page 3 of 4 

provide advisory services as described in Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise. 
Consultant does not make recommendations or advice regarding any action to be taken by our clients with 
respect to any prospective, new, or existing municipal financial products or issuance of municipal securities 
including with respect to the structure, timing, terms or other similar matters concerning municipal financial 
products or the issuance of municipal securities. 

9. Payment Terms. Client agrees to pay the Consultant for Services rendered under any Task Order pursuant
to the pricing information contained in such Task Order. In addition to the Consultant’s fees for Services,
Client agrees to reimburse Consultant for all actual expenses incurred in the course of providing Services
to Client including, but not limited to, travel and ordinary business expenses. Travel expenses will be
reimbursed separately at cost and without markup. On hourly assignments, fees for travel time will be billed
at one-half of the hourly rate. On hourly assignments, fees charged during travel assignments will have a
minimum fee of one-half day at the hourly rate.

Consultant will bill Client on a monthly basis unless agreed otherwise in a Task Order.  Client shall make
payment to Consultant within thirty (30) days of the date of Consultant’s invoice. It is agreed that late
payments will be subject to an interest charge of one (1) percent per month. Payment shall be made to the
address set forth in such invoice.

10. Revisions Required by Authority Having Jurisdiction. If Consultant, pursuant to this Agreement,
produces plans, specifications, or other documents and/or performs field services, and such plans,
specifications, or other documents and/or field services are required by any governmental agency, and such
governmental agency changes its ordinances, codes, policies, procedures or requirements after the date of
this Agreement, any additional services thereby required shall be paid for by Client as Additional Services.

11. Additional Services (Variations). Client agrees that if Client requests services not specified in the scope of
services for a Task Order, Client will authorize and execute an amended or new Task Order for all such
additional services requested. Amended Task Orders shall specify all changes or additions. Any new or
Amended Task Order must be executed by both parties prior to commencement of the additional services.
The Consultant is not obligated to perform additional services without an executed Task Order specific to the
change.

12. Delays. Consultant is not responsible for delay caused by activities or factors beyond Consultant’s
reasonable control, including but not limited to, force majeure, accidents or equipment malfunctions, acts of
God, failure of Client to furnish timely information or approve/disapprove of Consultant’s services or
instruments of service promptly, faulty performance by Client or other third parties. When such delays are
beyond Consultant’s reasonable control occur, Client agrees Consultant shall not be responsible for
damages nor shall Consultant be deemed to be in default of this Agreement.

13. Indemnification. The parties shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless one another from and against any
and all suits, proceedings at law or in equity, claims, liabilities, costs, payments, and expenses (including
reasonable attorney fees) asserted against or incurred by such indemnitee, arising out of or in connection
with any claim by any party with respect to the indemnifying party’s negligence in the performance of this
Agreement; provided, however, the indemnifying party shall have no obligation to indemnify, defend or hold
harmless the indemnitee for the indemnitee’s willful misconduct or gross negligence in the performance of
this Agreement.

14. Limitation of Liability. Client agrees to limit the liability of Consultant, its principals, employees and
subconsultants, to Client for actual damages to an amount equal to the amounts paid by Client to Consultant
under the relevant Task Order under which the claim or claims arose. This limitation will apply regardless of
the form of action, whether in contract or in tort, including negligence. In no event will either party be liable
for any lost revenues, lost profits, incidental damages, consequential damages, or other economic damages,
even if advised of the possibility of such damages. In addition, except to the extent a specific obligation of
indemnification is provided under this Agreement, neither party will be liable for any damages claimed by the
other based on any third-party claims.

15. Disclaimer of Individual Professional Liability.  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
Consultant’s individual professional employees and officers shall not be liable for negligence, and any claims
arising in relation to the Services provided under this Agreement shall be brought against Consultant and not
its individual professional employees.

16. Contractors. Client acknowledges that Consultant is not responsible for the performance of work by third
parties including, but not limited to, a construction contractor and its subcontractors.



Page 4 of 4 

17. No Warranty. Consultant makes no warranty, either express or implied, as to its findings, recommendations,
plans, specifications, or professional advice except that the services were performed pursuant to generally
accepted standards of professional practice in effect at the time of performance.

18. Venue. Client agrees that in the event Consultant institutes litigation to enforce or interpret the provisions of
this Agreement, such litigation is to be brought and adjudicated in the appropriate court in the county in which
Consultant’s principal place of business is located, or where the Project is located, and Client waives the
right to bring, try or remove such litigation to any other state, county, territory or judicial district.

19. Notice. All notices which are required or may be given pursuant to this Agreement must be in writing and
sent to the individual listed below or his successor at the address above first written. Notices shall be
delivered by a recognized courier service such as Federal Express, USPS or UPS, with package tracing
capability.

20. Mediation. The Parties agree that all disputes between them arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall
be submitted to mediation, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise.

21. Integration and Merger. This Agreement contains the entire and integrated agreement between Client
and Consultant relating to the Project and the provision of services for the project. Any prior agreements,
promises, proposals, negotiations or representations not expressly set forth in this Agreement are of no
force or effect. Subsequent modifications to this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by the Parties.

       WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

Decomm Ventures LP (DBA Decomm 
Aviation Consulting) 

By: ____________________________ 

Name: John DeCoster 

Title: President 

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY

By:____________________________ 

President  

By:____________________________ 

Secretary   

DATE:_________________________



EXHIBIT A

























































TASK ORDER 

This Task Order No.1 between Decomm Ventures, LP (DBA Decomm Aviation Consulting) (“Consultant”) 
and the Duluth Airport Authority (“Client”) is governed by the Professional Services Agreement (“MSA”) in 
effect between the parties and, upon execution of this Task Order by both parties, is incorporated therein 
pursuant to MSA Section A “Services”.  All terms and conditions of the MSA shall apply to this Task Order 
unless clearly stated to the contrary herein.  

CONTACT INFORMATION 

DECOMM AVIATION CONSULTING  
(CONSULTANT)  

John DeCoster

 DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
(CLIENT)  

Jana Kayser, C.M., Director of Business Development 

TITLE DESCRIPTION 

SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED: Decomm Aviation to provide the services included in the 
Proposal dated May 4, 2023 and attached as Exhibit A.   

PRICING AND PAYMENT: Fee: A professional services budget of $50,400 to be paid 
based on a time and materials basis. Invoices and 
documentation will be monthly. Payment is due within thirty 
(30) calendar days upon receipt of invoice.

Expenses: Travel-related expenses (e.g., airfare, gas, hotel, 
meals, parking) will be reimbursed separately at cost without 
mark-up.  

COMMENCEMENT DATE: June 20, 2023 

DURATION: Twelve months from completion date  

DECOMM VENTURES, LP (DBA 
DECOMM AVIATION)    

By:____________________________ 

Name:_________________________  

Title: __________________________ 

The parties hereto accepted and approved this Task Order as of the latest date written below and this Task 
Order may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all 
of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Any signature delivered electronically shall 
be treated for all purposes as an original.  

DATE:_____________________________

DULUTH AIRPORT AUTHORITY

By:____________________________ 

President  

By:____________________________ 

Secretary   

EXHIBIT B 



Financial Row

Prior Year Actual 

(Jan 2022 - Apr 

2022)

Current Year Actual 

(Jan 2023 - Apr 

2023)

Budget Amount (Jan 

2023 - Apr 2023) % of Budget

Variance from Prior 

Year

Variance From 

Budget

Total Budget (Jan 

2023 - Adjust 2023 )

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Non-Aeronautical Revenue 746,268 1,125,674 930,207 121.01% 379,406 195,467 2,950,799

Non-Passenger Aeronautical Revenue 481,057 581,740 512,564 113.50% 100,682 69,175 1,643,775

Passenger Airline Aeronautical Revenue 404,012 432,911 436,055 99.28% 28,899 (3,144) 1,321,416

Total - Income 1,631,338 2,140,325 1,878,826 113.92% 508,987 261,499 5,915,990

Gross Profit 1,631,338 2,140,325 1,878,826 113.92% 508,987 261,499 5,915,990

Expense

Miscellaneous Expenses 16,475 33,887 26,022 130.23% 17,412 7,866 71,436

Personnel Compensation & Benefits 796,697 882,161 916,581 96.24% 85,463 (34,420) 2,909,323

Services and Charges 724,359 713,207 792,516 89.99% (11,152) (79,309) 2,266,993

Supplies 194,004 346,656 351,044 98.75% 152,652 (4,388) 768,676

Total - Expense 1,731,536 1,975,910 2,086,162 94.72% 244,375 (110,252) 6,016,427

Net Ordinary Income (100,198) 164,414 (207,337) -79.30% 264,613 371,751 (100,437)

Other Income and Expenses

Other Income 329,768 2,706,563 183,767 1,472.82% 2,376,795 2,522,796 496,209

Other Expense 53,478 47,321 73,988 63.96% (6,157) (26,667) 221,964

Net Other Income 276,290 2,659,242 109,779 2,422.36% 2,382,952 2,549,463 274,245

Net Income Exclusive of Project Expenses, Depreciation & Amortization 176,092 2,823,656 (97,558) -2,894.34% 2,647,565 2,921,214 173,808

Projects/Grants (824,374) (1,718,752) 5,979,823 -28.74% (894,379) (7,698,576) 17,939,470

Depreciation & Amortization (3,577,236) 0 (3,327,646) 0.00% 3,577,236 3,327,646 (10,007,639)

Net Income (4,225,518) 1,104,904 2,554,620 43.25% 5,330,422 (1,449,716) 8,105,638

Duluth Airport Authority

DAA Board Packet Budget vs. Actual Summary

From Jan 2023 to Apr 2023

UNAUDITED

• Overall: At the time this report was generated for the above period, the DAA is at an overall favorable variance budget vs actual of over $2.9M. COVID Relief Funds of $2.4M are mainly
responsible for this positive variance.

• Operating Revenue: Non-Aeronautical Revenue is $195k over budget overall due to increased parking revenues of $118k and car rental concessions of $26k. Non-passenger aeronautical revenue
is 69k over budget due to increased concessions, rent, and airshow event income. Passenger Airline Aeronautical revenue is 3k under budget. Operating Revenues are $261k over budget overall.

• Operating Expenses: All expense categories are currently under budget. Personnel Compensation and Benefits are $34k under budget. Supplies are 4k under budget. Services and charges are 79k
under budget. Operating expenses are only $110 under budget overall.

• Non-Operating Revenue: Non-operating revenue is substantially over budget because we requested all remaining COVID relief in January 2023. This totaled $2.4M. Interest income is up $109k
due to our increased cash balance. PFCs came in over budget by $13k.

• Non-Operating Expenses: Non-Operating Expenses are down over $26k, as the line of credit has not been utilized.
• Report Disclaimer: The results of this report are expected to change slightly with delayed revenue and expense postings as well as audit adjustments.
• OPERATING POLICY #28 MINIMUM CASH BALANCE REPORTING AS OF 6/13/23:

o Minimum Cash Balance Goal: $2,437,853
o Current Balance: $8,823,274 (does not include grants receivable)
o Days Cash on Hand: 651 days currently vs 180 day benchmark (471 days over goal)

VII - L



Duluth Airport Authority

Balance Sheet

End of Apr 2023

Financial Row Amount

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank $9,418,102.63

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable - Restricted PFC $87,334.75

Accounts Receivable Billed $476,999.93

Accrued Receivable $22,029.61

Grants Receivable $173,160.40

ST Lease Receivable $77,794.05

Total Accounts Receivable $837,318.74

Other Current Asset $389,777.26

Total Current Assets $10,645,198.63

Fixed Assets

Accumulated Depreciation ($152,234,067.04)

Capital Assets $265,194,140.48

Work in Progress $2,801,752.92

Total Fixed Assets $115,761,826.36

Other Assets

Accumulated Amortization ($2,704,381.64)

Airport Planning Projects - Contributed $5,410,626.72

Airport Planning Projects - Invested $763,452.79

Deferred Outflows - OPEB $293,497.00

Deferred Outflows - Pension $524,632.00

LT Lease Receivable $2,252,032.75

Total Other Assets $6,539,859.62

Total ASSETS $132,946,884.61

Liabilities & Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable $252,482.47

Contracts Payable $505.00

Credit Cards Payable $1,045.91

Lottery Payable $5,960.05

Total Accounts Payable $259,993.43

Credit Card $1,883.51

Other Current Liability

Accrued Expense ($6,100.00)

Accrued Interest $47,321.24

Accrued Sales Taxes Payable - All $14,182.00

Accrued Vacation $126,146.44

Deferred Inflows - Lease Asset $2,300,124.37

Deferred Inflows - OPEB Liabilities $76,820.00

Deferred Inflows - Pension $23,745.00

Loans Payable to City of Duluth $930,000.00

Unearned Revenue - Current $181,474.74

Unearned Revenue - Non Current $113,473.14

Total Other Current Liability $3,807,186.93

Total Current Liabilities $4,069,063.87

Long Term Liabilities

LT Loans Payable to City of Duluth $4,165,000.00

Net Pension Liability $1,647,368.00

Total Other Post Employment Benefit Liability $3,451,083.45

Total Long Term Liabilities $9,263,451.45

Equity $119,614,369.29

Total Liabilities & Equity $132,946,884.61



Duluth Airport Authority

Income Statement

From Jan 2023 to Apr 2023

Financial Row Amount

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Non-Aeronautical Revenue

Advertising Income $4,800.00

Concession Revenue

ATM $92.50

Car Rental Concession $154,850.70

Food & Beverage Concession $29,799.06

Lottery Concessions $398.87

Parking $144,216.03

Per Departure Fee $1,085.00

Per Passenger Fee $12,969.00

Services/Other $200.00

TNC Per Trip Fee $3,279.00

Vending $2,400.84

Total - Concession Revenue $349,291.00

Customer Facility Charges $64,968.00

Miscellaneous Revenues $34,744.95

Parking $477,005.98

Permits $5,143.51

Plowing Services $2,022.96

Reimbursed Expenses $36,774.35

Rent $93,379.85

Sponsorship Income $35,000.00

State Aid $22,543.63

Total - Non-Aeronautical Revenue $1,125,674.23

Non-Passenger Aeronautical Revenue

Aviation Gas $8,557.56

Concession Revenue $51,078.62

Event Income $35,720.00

Landing Fees $11,793.54

Ramp Fees $8,495.48

Rent $429,521.04

Security Reimbursement $33,703.33

Tie Downs $2,870.00

Total - Non-Passenger Aeronautical Revenue $581,739.57

Passenger Airline Aeronautical Revenue

Landing Fees $95,925.74

Per Use Fee $2,958.25

Terminal Office/Space Rental $334,026.98

Total - Passenger Airline Aeronautical Revenue $432,910.97

Total - Income $2,140,324.77

Gross Profit $2,140,324.77

Expense

Miscellaneous Expenses $33,887.36

Personnel Compensation & Benefits

Benefit Administration Fees $153.00

Employer Contributions for Retirement $78,486.42

Employer Paid Insurance $150,944.26

Retiree Benefits $47,013.15

Wages & Salaries $605,563.78

Total - Personnel Compensation & Benefits $882,160.61

Services and Charges

Advertising $582.00

Central Services Fee $24,400.00

Communications & Technology $66,473.27



Financial Row Amount

Employee Development Services $23,310.16

Employee Physicals $353.00

Marketing $55,794.54

Professional Services $128,888.08

Rentals $1,407.52

Repairs and Maintenance - Contractual/Services $159,127.12

Sponsorship Expenses $4,650.00

Transportation $52.53

Utility Services $248,168.35

Total - Services and Charges $713,206.57

Supplies

Merchandise for Resale $9,075.40

Office Supplies $5,209.00

Operating Supplies

Cleaning & Janitorial $7,441.88

Customer Service $898.09

Lubricants & Additives $9,564.03

Meeting Supplies $1,186.52

Motor Fuels $105,715.06

PPE Reimbursement $422.95

Safety & Environmental $131.03

Signs $7,523.66

Wildlife Control $1,507.24

Total - Operating Supplies $134,390.46

Repairs & Maintenance Supplies

Airfield $64,042.80

Building $16,574.45

Fencing & Gates $2,682.09

Fuel System $691.70

Grounds & Landscaping $5,448.80

Heavy Equipment $77,984.09

Heavy Equipment Accessories $16,310.73

Jet Bridge $4,196.27

Light Equipment $6,097.19

Sand/Deicer $39.16

Shop Supplies $2,636.77

Small Tools $1,277.03

Total - Repairs & Maintenance Supplies $197,981.08

Total - Supplies $346,655.94

Total - Expense $1,975,910.48

Net Ordinary Income $164,414.29

Other Income and Expenses

Other Income

Capital Contributions

Grants $681,568.81

Total - Capital Contributions $681,568.81

Non-Operating Revenue

Interest Income $121,993.69

Passenger Facility Charges $184,248.50

Total - Non-Operating Revenue $306,242.19

Total - Other Income $987,811.00

Other Expense

Non-Operating Expense

Interest Expense $47,321.24

Total - Non-Operating Expense $47,321.24

Total - Other Expense $47,321.24

Net Other Income $940,489.76

Net Income $1,104,904.05



����������	�
��� ����������������������

�����	��������
� ������������!�"� ����������������������������#!�$���%���� &$'%(���!�$ ���

)*+*,-�./0120,�.*,-20/,3)*+*,-�.45�.6/76�58120,.9�2:�;*78�<=>�?@?AB/+,809C�D0E79EF,/27�D318�G8H*E+�,2�I7J2/F8>�KE3L87,>�M08N/,�O8L2�PQRS'T�U� '��VS�Q'WTV'X�U '��VS�Q'WTV�'U '��VS�Q'WTVVR�YU� RU�'U �ZUQR��UV'[��[������\���������]��̂ ���[������\[��������]��̂ ����������\���������]��̂ YU_T�U���������]̀��̂ abacd� e187fE+E7F8 e187fE+E7F8 e187fE+E7F8 e187fE+E7F8 e187fE+E7F8 ghijklmljni.op8++>�.*9,/7 � � � � � q���� q�[���� q���� q�[���� q���� q������Y��� "r�Y��� W�s��!� ��[����� ��[�� 
�[����� � q���� q����[[ q���� q���� q���� q����[[ft5I7J89,L87,9�)f.)*+*,-�KEFu � � � � � q���� q��[��� q��[��� q��[��� q��[��� q������Y������&��v !�w W�s��!� �������� ����
 
������� �� q���� q[���� q���� q���� q���� q[����Q���!������S� �W�s��!� �������� ����[ 
������� �� q���� q����[� q���� q���� q���� q����[�M/00*9�)89/67M20120E,/27 � � � � � q���� q��������� ]q�����̂ q���� q��[����� q���
���[�Q��r��x������ W�s��!� �������� ����
 
������� �� q���� q��
���
� q���� q���� q���� q��
���
�M/J/+�./0�KE,02+� � � � � q���� q���� q
����� q���� q������ q��
�����Q�"��&r���yyQ�&w W������� W�s��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� q���� q���[� q���� q���� q���� q���[� ������"�z��&� � r"��� [�������� ��
� [�������� �
 q���� ]q�[����̂ q���� q���� q���� ]q�[����̂)E+�{E7,2>B0E7F89�O � � � � � q���� q����[� q����[� q����[� q���� q������)8+,E�./0+/789 � � � � � q����q����������q���[�
��� q���� q����q��������
��S������������W�s��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� q���� q[���� q���� q���� q���� q[����)/J/78ME00/809 � � � � � q���� q�����
 q�����
 q�����
 q���� q��
���������z �� ��yyQ W�s��!� �������� ���[� 
������� �� q���� q������ q���� q���� q���� q��������|���Q�����������y W�s��!� ���
����� ��
� ��������� �[� q���� q���� q���� q���� q���
���� q���
����U���x����V�!��� � W�s��!� �������� ���[� 
������� �� q���� q����[� q���� q���� q���� q����[�}7,8010/98~8E9/76M2L1E73 � � � � � q����]q����
����̂ q���� q���� q����]q����
����̂Z �&�������!� �� W�s��!� ��[����� ����� 
�[����� � q���� q��[�[� q���� q���� q���� q��[�[�Z���� �S��s�!���&"������ ���� W�s��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� q���� q[�[���[� q���� q���� q���� q[�[���[��20/,F-E7f20/9 � � � � � q���� q���� q���� q���� q��

���� q��

����Z��xx����Us �� W�s��!� ��[����� ��[�� 
�[����� � q���� q����� q���� q���� q���� q�����z �w�������!| W�s��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� q���� q����[� q���� q���� q���� q����[�z ���v��� W�s��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� q���� q��[��
 q���� q���� q���� q��[��
z ������������ W�s��!� [�������� ����
 ���[����� �� q���� q�[���� q���� q���� q���� q�[����z �x���&�� � W�s��!� �������� ���[� 
������� �� q���� q����[� q���� q���� q���� q����[��80LE7,2�7�3N0E*+/F9 � � � � � q���� q
����� q
����� q������ q����
� q��������z���" ��Q���� W�s��!� �������� ���
� 
������� �� q���� q�
[��� q���� q���� q���� q�
[���z������'�"���r � r"��� ���
����� ��[� ���
����� [� q���� q���� ]q�[����̂ q���� q���� ]q�[����̂zr&��S��������Tx��������W�!�W�s��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� q���� q������
[ q���� q���� q���� q������
[W�(����U��! � r"��� ��������� �[�� ��������� ��
 q���� q���� q���� q���� ]q�[����̂ ]q�[����̂v r����� W�s��!� ��������� ����� ��������� ��� q���� q���� q���� q���� q������ q������v�������v��� ��z W�s��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� q���� q�
���� q���� q���� q���� q�
����;2-79,27>KE*+ � � � � � q���� q����[� q
��� q
��� q���
� q����
�t+887�D8F-{80J/F89>�~~M � � � � � q���� q
����� q���� q���� q�������� q����
������"��v����� W�s��!� [�������� ����� ���[����� �� q���� q�[���� q���� q���� q���� q�[�����������'�"���rQ W�s��!� [�������� ����� ��������� �� q���� q�[���� q���� q���� q���� q�[����

VII - M



����������	�
��� ����������������������

�����	��������
� ������������!�"� ����������������������������#!�$���%���� &$'%(���!�$ ���

)*+',�-� '��.+�)'/,.'0�- '��.+�)'/,.�'- '��.+�)'/,..*�1-� *-�'- �2-)*��-.'3��3������4���������5��6 ���3������43��������5��6 ����������4���������5��6 1-7,�-���������58��6 9:9;<� =>?@ABCB@D? =>?@ABCB@D? =>?@ABCB@D? =>?@ABCB@D? =>?@ABCB@D? EFGHIJKJHLGMBN?�OP>?QRSQT?CRDS>U?QV � � � � � W���� W�������� W���� W���� W���� W��������MSX?YQ?BZ?Q[ � � � � � W���� W����� W���� W���� 5W�3���6 5W�3���6�������� ����. ���� ��2� �&/�\��!� ��������� ��3�� 
�������� � W���� W��

���� W���� W���� W���� W��

����]R@@?VSUB?̂>BQUZ?@U�S_Q̀B@V>SQUBURS@ � � � � � W���� W�����3�3�W����3���� W���� W���� W����������.�+� ��a�����b /�\��!� �������� ���
� 
������� �� W���� W��������� W���� W���� W���� W���������]S@BDS�cRQP̂CPUd � � � � � W���� W�������� W��3��� W���� W���� W������������� ������) ��� /�\��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� W���� W�������� W���� W���� W���� W��������=BNe?CCV�YfgMMY � � � � � W���� W�������3 W�������
 W���� W���� W���������,��+���-������������/�!� b"��� ���
����� �
3
 ���
����� �� W���� W���� W���� 5W����6 W���� 5W����6,� !h�� ����(i�� /�\��!� �������� ����
 
������� �� W���� W��
�3� W���� W���� W���� W��
�3�� �"����i��� /�\��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� W���� W��
�3� W���� W���� W���� W��
�3�jBQUd?g�MB@D? � � � � � W���� W�
���� W�
���� W�
���� W������ W������3�� b������k���/�\��!� �������� ���3� 
������� �� W���� W�
���� W���� W���� W���� W�
����� ������aa) � b"��� ��������� ����� ��������� � W���� 5W
�����6 W���� W���� W���� 5W
�����6� ��k���a����b /�\��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� W���� W����3� W���� W���� W���� W����3���� k���� ����)����������/�!� � b"��� ��������� 3��� ��������� ����3 W���� W���� W���� W���� 5W
3���6 5W
3���6�+%l /�\��!� �������� ���3� 
������� �� W���� W��3�3��� W���� W���� W���� W��3�3���+ m����"�i�� /�\��!� 3�������� ����� ���3����� �� W���� W�3���� W���� W���� W���� W�3����+!���!������&��/�\��!� ��3����� ����
 
�3����� � W���� W������ W���� W���� W���� W������OR@?ng�ABQQ[ � � � � � W���� W����� W����� W������ W�3���� W������+��\�������h� /�\��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� W���� W����3� W���� W���� W���� W����3�OP@�YSP@UQ[go@Dp�qrB�OP@YSP@UQ[�cRQCR@?V � � � � � W���� W�������3 W���� W���� W���� W�������3+b&�(� � /�\��!� �������� ���33 
������� �� W���� W�
���� W���� W���� W���� W�
����d̀?�MB@qCR@?YSZ>B@[ � � � � � W���� W3������� W���� W���� W���� W3�������Q̀B@V>SQUBURS@O?DPQRU[cqZR@RVUQBURS@ � � � � � W���� W�������� W��3����
W�
���3��� W���
���� W���3���3�s@RU?qcRQCR@?V � � � � � W���� W�
������� W���� W���� W���� W�
�������*����&�� �!��+��\�!� /�\��!� ��������� ���
� 3�������� 3� W���� W���� W������ W���� W���� W������t���� "������ /�\��!� �������� ����� 
������� �� W���� W����3� W���� W���� W���� W����3�S̀UBC � � � � � uvpvvuwxxgwyzp{yu|}gww|pv|u~xgy{~px|uwxgx{�p}zu�~~gz�|p~{



Month Revenue Non Rev Revenue Non Rev Total Revenue Non Rev Revenue Non Rev Total Revenue Non Rev Revenue Non Rev Total Revenue Non Rev Revenue Non Rev Total Rev Non Rev Total Rev Non Rev Total

JAN 4,890      245         4,344      244         9,723      3,393      118         3,001      79 6,591       117         1 1,265      - 1,383    - - - - - 8,400      364       8,764      8,610      323       8,933      17,697 

FEB 4,521      163         4,217      139         9,040      3,557      77 3,491      72 7,197       1,207      1 2,096      5 3,309    - - 179         - 179         9,285      241       9,526      9,983      216       10,199    19,725 

MAR 6,049      166         1,206      47 7,468      4,232      113         4,274      87 8,706       3,040      13 2,750      4 5,807    183         - 180         - 363         13,504    292       13,796    8,410      138       8,548      22,344 

APR 5,355      169         5,383      172         11,079    3,585      99 3,594      81 7,359       1,399      4 1,635      7 3,045    183         - 183         - 366         10,522    272       10,794    10,795    260       11,055    21,849 

MAY 6,470      192         6,812      188         13,662    3,722      104         4,035      100         7,961       - - - - - 186         - 186         - 372         10,378    296       10,674    11,033    288       11,321    21,995 

JUN - - - - - - - - - - - 

JUL - - - - - - - - - - - 

AUG - - - - - - - - - - - 

SEP - - - - - - - - - - - 

OCT - - - - - - - - - - - 

NOV - - - - - - - - - - - 

DEC - - - - - - - - - - - 

Total 27,285    935         21,962    790         50,972    18,489    511         18,395    419         37,814     5,763      19 7,746      16 13,544  552         - 728         - 1,280      52,089    1,465    53,554    48,831    1,225    50,056    103,610         

2023 Enplanements 2023 Deplanements 2023 Enplanements 2023 Deplanements Total 

Passengers

2023 Enplanements 2023 Deplanements 2023 Enplanements 2023 Deplanements 2023 Enplanements 2023 Deplanements

Total Passenger Data Including ChartersDELTA UNITED SUN COUNTRY CHARTERS - SUN COUNTRY

VII - N



1

Jana Kayser

From: Yaroslavna Alvarez <yaroslavna.alvarez@landlineco.com>
Sent: Tuesday, June 6, 2023 7:00 PM
To: Jana Kayser
Cc: Nicholas Johnson
Subject: Mar-Apr-May 2023 stats

Good a ernoon Jana, 

Please see below, apologies for the delay, we will be more mely going forward. 

Thank you, 
Slava 

Yaroslavna Alvarez | Director of Finance 
yaroslavna.alvarez@landlineco.com | landline.com 

From: Jana Kayser <jkayser@duluthairport.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 1, 2023 1:41 PM 
To: Yaroslavna Alvarez <yaroslavna.alvarez@landlineco.com> 
Cc: Nicholas Johnson <nicholas.johnson@landlineco.com> 
Subject: RE: April Stats 

Sounds great Slava, thank you! 

Jana M. Kayser, C.M. 
Director of Business Development 
Duluth Airport Authority 
(218) 625‐7775 – Direct

From: Yaroslavna Alvarez <yaroslavna.alvarez@landlineco.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 1, 2023 2:35 PM 


	BOARD MEETING NOTICE
	AGENDA
	I. *EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REVIEW
	II - A. Approval of May 16, 2023 Meeting Minutes.
	III. *DAA CASH DISBURSEMENTS
	IV. *CORRESPONDENCE
	IV - A. E-Mail from Monaco Air Foundation with Summary of May 2023 Activities; June 1, 2023.
	IV - C.	Duluth News Tribune Article Dated May 16, 2023: FAA eyes locations for Duluth airport tower.
	IV - D.	Duluthian Article Published May/June 2023: High-Flying Thrills
	IV - E a. DLH Construction Newsletter:  Dated May 19, 2023 

	IV - E b. DLH Construction Newsletter
	IV - E c. DLH Construction Newsletter
	IV - E d. DLH Construction Newsletter
	IV - F.	Tenant and Airfield User Notice of Ranch Hangar Project, Dated June 12, 2023
	IV - G. (a-e) ATCT Funding Update to Area Legislators From Tom Werner
	IV -H.	DLH Notification of Aviation Related Impacts to the Construction of the Proposed New Air Traffic Control Tower at Site 6, Dated June 1, 2023
	IV - I.	FAA Airport Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) Site 6 Concurrence Letter Signed June 2, 2023
	IV - J.	Email from Steve Bulwicz RE: Sky Harbor New Terminal, Dated June 10, 2023
	IV - K.	Letter to Chairman Sam Graves and Ranking Member Rick Larsen Re: Support Raise the Pilot Age, Dated June 12, 2023
	VII - A.	Resolution of Support of the Air Traffic Control Tower Replacement Project.
	VII - B.	Resolution to Accept and Approve Duluth International Airport MnDOT Maintenance and Operations Grant Contract 1053348 and to Authorize the Duluth Airport Authority’s President and Secretary to Execute the Contract and Any Amendments.
	VII - C.	Resolution to Accept and Approve Sky Harbor Airport MnDOT Maintenance and Operations Grant Contract 1053349 and to Authorize the Duluth Airport Authority’s President and Secretary to Execute the Contract and Any Amendments.
	VII - D. Resolution to Approve Incentive Award Payments
	VII - E. Resolution to approve Master Service Agreement between EXP and the Duluth Airport Authority.
	VII - F. Resolution to Approve Sponsorship Agreement Between the Duluth Airport Authority and AMSOIL INC.
	VII - G. Resolution to Approve Sponsorship Agreement Between the Duluth Airport Authority and Duluth Pack.
	VII - H. Resolution to Approve an Estoppel Agreement Between the Duluth Airport Authority and Cirrus Aircraft.
	VII - I. Resolution to Approve Non-Disturbance, Recognition and Attornment Agreement Between the Duluth Airport Authority and Cirrus Aircraft.
	VII - J. Resolution to Approve the Professional Services Master Services Agreement and TaskOrder 1 Between the Duluth Airport Authority and Decomm Aviation Consulting.
	VII - L.*April 2023 Financial Reports
	VII - M.*June 2023 Accounts Receivable
	VII - N.*May 2023 Airline Statistics, Landline Statistics



